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VISION =

To be a dynamic enterprise that
improves people’s livelihood
through infrastructure and
professional services for cities in
Asia and beyond
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MISSION £ ip

e Improve people’s quality of life
RAAMERER

Grow with our employees

HET—®BKK

Create value for shareholders
AR REEEE

Committed to a sustainable future

HNERAUFERRNAK

CORE VALUES % 0MEBE

Commitment

Respect
g8 g

We respect one another

and treat everyone equally commitment

ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁi B BEERERTEE
FEHESEA
Nurture
ZB
We spare no effort
to nurture

the next generation

BT ESRNMIBEFH —K

We build trust through

Innovation Initiative

B TH

We are intelligent We are self-starters and
problem-solvers exceed expectations
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Sustainability
AHERE
We prioritize ESG in
every decision
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below:

EAFERA BXESBMEIN THRAREAEEATRE:

" Audit Committee”

EEE3 k-

"Board”

=350

“Bye-laws”
NGRS N

“"CG Code”
[{dZEEA~FAI]

“Chun Wo"
[ & 70

“Company”
[RAF]]

“Company Secretary”
[RAIMWE ]

“CSR”
[EREERT]

"Director(s)"”

[E%]

"ESG”
[R5 e REE]

"Executive Committee”

(BiITREg ]

"Executive Director(s)”

[$ITEE]

“Group”
[R&EHE

“HK$" and “HK cent(s)”
(7] &[]

the audit committee of the Board

ExREKEZES

the board of Directors
ZER

the Bye-laws of the Company
/N /NS

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

EMRAMEE A (BEEETAD

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
ARFRMBRAREMEREERR QA

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00711)

DM EERIERBRAR —AREBRETMKR I 2ERAT EROABERTER LT
(B&fA 5% : 00711)

the company secretary of the Company

RRBZABIME

corporate social responsibility
TCEMEEME

the director(s) of the Company
RRRIZES

environmental, social and governance
RE-HgRER

the executive committee of the Board

E=RWTERES

the executive Director(s)
WITES

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

KRB RETE 2 B A A

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ABTTRE BRNEEEY
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“Hong Kong”
(&8

“INED(s)"
(B IFRTESE]

“Listing Rules”
[ ErR Al

“Management Committee”
[EREEE

“Model Code”
2T

“NED(s)"
[SERAITEE]

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2ZB g

"PRC”
[

“Remuneration Committee”

i ES S

“RMB”
AR

“SFO"
787 M ' &P

“Share(s)”
[ (n ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R

“Stock Exchange”
[k 32 P

“Year”

[AFE

"o
[% ]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEERRITHE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIAFRTES

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B X P8 2 AR Al
the management committee of the Board

EEREREZEY

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules
FHRRAM SR (LT BEITAEFETEF R FHNRESTA]D

the non-executive Director(s)

FHTESE

the nomination committee of the Board

EXZRREZES

the People’s Republic of China
REE AR

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXRFHEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE  pEEEEER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BEEDESNEE S R ED

the ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
RAFAR FRRE(EO. 108 7T 2 BB

the holder(s) of issued Share(s)
BEITROZFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERSMARRA

for the year ended 31 March 2022
B E2022F3A318IEFE

per cent

Bt

2021/224F %



CORPORATE INFORMATION

EEXEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman)
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chief Executive Officer)
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Li Wai Hang, Christina

Non-executive Directors

Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Independent Non-executive Directors
Wu William Wai Leung

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Yen Gordon

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)

Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Wu William Wai Leung

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Yen Gordon

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Wu William Wai Leung
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
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Corporate Information

EEEH

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman
LC Lawyers LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

C1, 5th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.asiaalliedgroup.com

STOCK CODE
00711
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Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

FERGBFERZRE
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda
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Total Revenue S Profit Attributable to Shareholders

PR i‘ PR 51 PB4 35 R

Hks 7,722,064,000 55 N Hks 121,999,000 5

Dividend per Share Basic Earnings per Share . Gearing Ratio
BRERE BRESRRZR p— EXBELE
Interim A &i: HKO.88 cent Bl \j J ~ 3

Final & &: HK1.10 cents 41 HK 6.78 cents &1L | ‘ //:‘:“Mw,: 0.71

Full year 2 %: HK1.98 cents s#11 e

Total Assets S Equity per Share Net Assets

EEHAE J, gRER EEFE

Hks 8,464,080,000 szx = Hks 1.32 &5 Hks 2,413,697,000 =
Accident Rate Fatality Rate

(per 100,000 man-hours) TR

EHE (SHEIR) :

0.057 “olf 0

Employees Training
] 6,150 s3I

Accumulated
Training Hours

N gy = RET IS

/ U 34,371

hours /B
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
RIGARE

Carbon Emissions
and Intensity

BB R BE

41,212 tonnes COe M—SF{tHEE

5.34 tonnes COe/
HK$ million revenue

WM_StHmEE SEEBTRE

Electricity Consumption
and Intensity

AEEREE
54,928,835 kwh TRE

7,1 13 kwh/ HK$ million revenue
TRE SEEBTWE

Water Consumption
and Intensity

RKEREE
490,056 m* 7%

63.46 m:/ HK$ million revenue
MEXRBREBTWE

Diesel Consumption and Intensity

SomRBRE

6,861,108 Litre #

888.51 Litre/ HK$ million revenue

AV =1-F- %P AL E

Petroleum Consumption and Intensity
AHERE

441,906 Litre # )

57.23 Litre / HKS million revenue
H/sEBEBTRE

Non-hazardous Waste Production

732,188 tonnes

Non-hazardous Waste Reused/Recycled

EEGRNEA, D
Y

71 9,402 tonnes Wi '-H‘

COMMUNITY

&

HERHMBR

Charitable and Other Donations

Hks 1,600,000 55

Volunteer
Service Hours

& LIRS

315.25
Hours /N

AEEIERARRAT 2021/224F
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
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05/2021

The Second “Chun Wo Innovation Student Awards”
Chun Wo successfully held the online award ceremony of
in May
2021. The team “Fog-based Self-powered System” from the
City University of Hong Kong won the Gold Award and Merit
honor in “The Best Engineering Solution Award” category.
The competition themed “Engineers for a Smarter Future”
and the response was overwhelmingly favorable by drawing
applications from over 70 student teams and receiving more
than 30 detailed proposals. Sr Lee Ka Lun, Stephen, Chairman
of Chun Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited,
Mr. Cheung Hau Wai sss, Chairman of the Hong Kong Green
Building Council, Ir Lau Chun Kit, Ricky /7, Permanent Secretary
for Development (Works) and the then Director of Civil
Engineering and Development and Commissioner of Mines,
and Mr. Lo Kwok Wah, Kelvin s, Director of Water Supplies,

the second “Chun Wo Innovation Student Awards”

have delivered congratulatory messages to the winners.

Chun Wo’s Design and Construction of “Kwai
Chung Hospital Day Recovery Centre” Won the
Quality Building Award

Designed and constructed by Chun Wo, the “Kwai Chung
Hospital Day Recovery Centre” was awarded the “Merit
Award” under the “Hong Kong Non-Residential (New
Building — Government, Institution or Community)”
category of the Quality Building Award. In addition to
rehabilitation facilities such as occupational therapy
rooms and conference rooms, a central courtyard was
built to provide better ventilation and light to the centre,
and extensive green areas were adopted in the design to
provide psychological benefits to patients.

BRNZFREEN [XFEREBABETPL] $EEE
£
& ME
BEAE [HAEEEE (HEE

AtREEN [RRERAREETH L] REERE
&) — ﬁW %%&ﬁ
E) | B|hle [BRE]  -BRBRXAFEEREZEZZRE
JIEIN - B IRERE T — (@ R BB %&%@@mhﬁ
FHRBRMRE G ARRFPINARENGZEE
A #E—AEAFEENEERE
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Corporate Event Highlights
ERERBLE

06/2021

Contractor of the Year” category.

_-_ i i
T—‘-—_
1 NEC Awards Ceremony 11:11

L0 ras |-|I_|'.._'J|'I|r ':r-

TYY g

Chun Wo Garnered Two “New Engineering Contract” Awards

Chun Wo has garnered two major awards under the New Engineering Contract Users’ Group of the United Kingdom.
Upgrading of Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1, undertaken by KL-CW JV, was named “Water
Project of the Year” and In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Water Treatment Works
and Ancillary Facilities, undertaken by ATAL-CW-MH JV, received the “Highly Commended Award” under the “NEC

BMREME [HIREH] 28
BNESREFIRZANAPATHMERXN
5 o F PR — (R ANHE ' B ARG Y QSR F K
Rt - ERTIEE —HEEHER [FEKH
TRRIEB ] ¢ M — &AM — B EEE 25 Y
DHEBKBFEMEETE (FR) —IRBKEK
MEBREARE [FEFIREANAZRE] 8
B [=BEEHE] -

111

oooo ]
oooo

“Dalisay”, the specially designed tunnel
boring machine introduced in the Design
and Construction of the Novaliches -
Balara Aqueduct 4, which is Chun Wo's
first contracted project in the Philippines,
successfully completed a breakthrough as its
cutter head reached the exit shaft at the La
Mesa Reservoir, marking partial completion of
the project. The whole project is expected to
be completed in 2022. By then, the reliability
and sustainability of water supply to the most
densely populated areas of Metro Manila will
be improved.

EFPNIFEE B EEKIE B — 5 SLAILIET — Balara 05k 7k B B &5t &
BIETERSIEMNEIRTBBEZH [Dalisay] BUSEBRIEER -

HESBRINEEN ISR KENH O BREZRBCHATT - BfE
HB B HR2022F5ET - @ - BENAIHE ADRERIEEH

IKIGBISEIRE A ©

R R AT 2021/225F
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Corporate Event Highlights
EERKBLE

09/2021

FRAR mY Fmimia) EEE

MmO LA TaEEAL

The Urban Renewal Authority and Chun
Wo Pioneered in Application of Concrete
“Modular Integrated Construction” on
Private Residential Projects

The Urban Renewal Authority approved the tender
award to Chun Wo for the superstructure works
contract of the Proposed Re-development Project
at Nos. 5-13 Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon,
which is the first application of the Concrete
“Modular Integrated Construction” (“MiC")
method developed by Chun Wo and the P&T Group
on private residential projects in Hong Kong.

TEERREAGNEREER RRLAXSRESEE | BEAAGEEEE
TEREZRENEAABREH-13RNEZRANLETRAONRTEN - ZHERE2BEERAHENMEESHZ
SEMEN DRRTARKARESE] ( [HEEAKESEZE] ) EENLAKEEER -

Synergistic Partnership with
Build King Holdings Limited

Build King Holdings Limited, a major
construction contractor in Hong Kong,
has become a strategic shareholder
of Mattex Asia Development Limited
("Mattex Asia”), a subsidiary of the
Group, by investing in Mattex Asia at
the value of approximately HK$6 million.
The parties will cooperate in accelerating
the digitalisation of processes used in
construction material management and
procurement.

RANEZRBRARAKREHERH

EB AR AERE M EZIG R A FIAK6,000,0008 TR ERNEE 2 B
~EMAREMNEREEARAT ( [FARTM] ) - RAMERTMNZ KK
HERR - BT RETEREREMEEMRBNE T(LERE -

10/2021
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Corporate Event Highlights
ERERBLE

11/2021

“Lifewire Run 2021"” Raised over HK$2 Million for Children with Rare Diseases
The “Lifewire Run 2021" charity run jointly organised by Lifewire Foundation Limited and Chun Wo was successfully held
at the Sheung Shui Ho Sheung Heung Village Office. The event has raised over HK$2 million for children with rare diseases.

(20218 - AL | BERFEREEBE
82,000,000 7T
EBNPEREESHERARRENAE RN

[2021Z 0 - A E4F ) 2EZ M Lok 4840
RETEMET - EHAEAFERERNAES
15#8152,000,000/E TTE 5K ©

“SOYO" Kick-Off Sale

“SOYO", a brand-new residential project
jointly developed by Excel Billion (HK)
Limited and Chun Wo, kicked off the sale
of all of its 120 studio flats. Located at No.
63, Soy Street, in the heart of Mongkok,
“SOYO" offers convenient access to a
complete range of transportation and
entertainment facilities.

(&% BHE
RMEBHAERATDRENAFAERNEDHEETHR [E&] CHD
2H120EFAMAEL - [BE ] LR AROHERBOMEE35 - X

BENEREREE R -

01/2022

SHERRARAT 2021/2246 8K
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Corporate Event Highlights
EERKBLE

Lung Mun Three Brothers Won the Silver Award in The
International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva

Lung Mun Three Brothers, silt cleaning robots invented by Chun Wo, won
the Silver Award in The International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva,
one of the world’s most prestigious innovation exhibitions. These robots,
being the first application of silt cleaning robotics in Hong Kong, were
introduced to Chun Wo's “Rehabilitation of Trunk Sewers in Tuen Mun”
project to improve safety.

EM=A5%ERANRBREARRE
HEMBERANEREEMA —EFI=Z A BN EREFRRENEIFRE
BB ERRPRERE - RARN [HFPTKBREETRE] PR
REMA=ZARMEE TR R  TEEEREBERAREBEEMADN
IR -

03/2022

Water Supplies Department Tin Shui Wai
Building Project Garnered the Merit Award
in the Green Building Award 2021

The Relocation of New Territories West Regional
Office and Water Resources Education Centre of
Water Supplies Department to Tin Shui Wai project,
undertaken by Chun Wo, garnered the Merit Award
in the “Green Building Award 2021", in recognition
of Chun Wo's contribution to enhancing sustainable
development and shaping the liveability of the
built environment. The Water Resources Public
Education Centre “H,OPE Centre” enhances the
public’s awareness of water conservation through
exhibitions. Besides, the greywater reuse and
rainwater harvesting systems of the building can
recycle wastewater for non-drinking purposes, save
fresh water and reduce sewage discharge.

04/2022

KBBRKEREEBR202IFRRBEREPREBRE

B EMEARNREKBEERABANFEIKERBEE P LERK
BIHE - KE [2021FRFREBEANE] BRE  URFBEMR
RAAFEZRREETRREFENER - KERHEE L
[TKAE | BRREMBAREEHHRKNER - MAEHTK

ERAFKREERRABTKERBAEIFKBRE  KRTHE

RIK - TREERANTIKBE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

66

Apart from our core competencies, we have
also been looking into other opportunities that
encourage sustainability and help shape a better

future.

BREMOZOREFZNN  BAT-—EESREME

B BRUERRREBEEERF AR

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

B—E

B

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual results of the Group
for the Year. Over the last 12 months, the operating environment has
remained difficult amid Covid-19 and its ongoing impact on the global
economy. Nonetheless, the Group has remained resilient and delivered
reasonable results.

The challenging business conditions have, in part, been induced by
Covid-19 and global logistics disruptions that created obstacles for many
industries. The situation was worsened in early 2022, triggered by a rise
in Covid-19 infections in Hong Kong, coupled with uncertainty in the
macroeconomic environment and anticipated interest rate rises, all of which
contributed to weak investment sentiments. The Group's performance
during the Year was affected by delay in approval of projects in both public
and private sectors and increased raw material costs due to logistics issues,
as well as reduced productivity owing to large-scale Covid-19 infections
across Hong Kong in early 2022 and lock-downs in the PRC. The impact of
these factors, particularly in the second half year, was significant, and led
to a slight downturn in the Group's operating performance for the Year.
However, with the supportive policies from the Hong Kong Government,
including continuous investment in infrastructure, the Group has been able
to maintain an overall reasonable results, and is positive in future prospects.

RABRRESZRREZAEERAFENE
FRE-RBE12EA EHEIHARESH
PHREENFEZET  ERRRDAREE-
A AREDRFEE S LRERENE

4 o
A

& R 2 ERYIR XA B R IR S R
B WRITEEEXRER -R2022F9 &
AR A R ER LT N ERBE R
RN T T ERERNE  SEERRE
FEZERRERREBERT - AKER
REFNRREZ I QNE MALETHE FBHER
1) 7% ) R84 B IR AR A AN £ R A 522022
FONEB KRBT AR N E A
WEREENTROZE RFTEAENTE
(LEETHF)+0BE SRAKERA
FENELEXERB TR -AM EFEK
FOXHERET BESEEZNRHERE
AEEBUARBEEBRENZIE WHRK

AIRFFEBAEE -

SHERRAR AT 2021722458
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Construction segment’s performance had been impacted during the
Year due to the aforementioned reasons. However, various government
policies, such as waivers for penalties that related to construction delays
and compensation for raw material price differences, helped to lessen the
impact. With our industry experience and expertise, the Group was able
to secure new projects requiring advanced technical skills and innovative
construction technologies, which will help generate revenue in long
term. As such, the management is looking forward to capturing more
opportunities for the coming year.

The property development segment sold various residential units at “128
Waterloo” in Ho Man Tin and “SOYO" in Mongkok during the Year.
With so much uncertainty surrounding the macroeconomic impacted by
pandemic and interest rate environments, the management will continue
to adopt a cautious approach.

Our professional services segment, which includes the security, tunnel and
other facility management businesses, recorded a satisfactory performance
for the Year. Such segment continued to provide the Group with solid
and reliable income, highlighting the effectiveness and relevance of the
management's long-term development strategy.

Non-franchised bus services segment also delivered a stable performance
following the Group's strategic decision to switch its focus to scheduled
services, consequently secured sizeable contracts with various prestigious
organisations, property management companies and schools during the
Year. In addition, our new medical technology and healthcare business
performed encouragingly as well, and successfully secured new contracts
and renewed existing ones.

Moving forward, we are confident that Hong Kong is on its way to
recovery as the Covid-19 pandemic gradually subsides. Over the years,
the Group has been focusing on developing advanced construction
technologies, such as the MiC technology, preparing itself for supporting
the city’s large-scale and highly technical infrastructure projects. Apart from
our core competencies, we have also been looking into other opportunities
that encourage sustainability and help shape a better future. The Board
and the management will continue to closely monitor market conditions
and do our best to create long term values for the Shareholders.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the
management team and all staff members for their tireless effort and
dedication over the past Year, which has once again been filled with
tremendous challenges and adversities. | wish to also express my sincere
gratitude to all of our business partners and shareholders for their
unstinting support. We remain committed to bolstering our business
foundation and strengthening our industry leadership in Hong Kong,
all the while progressing towards our goal of becoming Asia’s leading
construction and development group.

Annual Report 2021/22
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The Group performed stably during the Year, with total revenue amounting
to approximately HK$7.72 billion (2021: HK$7.53 billion). Net profit
attributable to Shareholders for the Year was approximately HK$122.0
million (2021: net loss attributable to Shareholders of HK$184.5 million),
under the challenges to numerous industries, a testimony to the Group's
long-term strategy and the management’s agility during such challenging
times.

Over the past 12 months, the operating environment has remained
tough, owing to the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, which included
global logistics disruptions that led to construction project delays, greater
operating expenses and lower productivity. According to the latest Policy
Address, the Chief Executive stated that infrastructure investment will be
a major countercyclical measure for stimulating the economy. The Hong
Kong government, therefore, maintained its commitment to investing in
infrastructure projects, pushed forward on public housing developments
and offered various subsidies to reduce the pandemic-related headwinds
plaguing the construction industry. The Group will pay close attention to
the relevant opportunities going forward.

During the Year, the construction segment, which operates under the
“Chun Wo" brand, contributed HK$6.72 billion (2021: HK$6.57 billion)
in revenue. Though impact of the pandemic and related logistics issues
resulted in high operating costs, the segment still recorded a profit of
HK$41.2 million (2021: HK$58.6 million). The Group possessed contracts
with an aggregate value of HK$30.05 billion at the end of the Year,
HK$15.82 billion of which were ongoing contracts.

Rely on experience in construction industry, the Group secured 30
new projects during the Year, including the Urban Renewal Authority's
residential development project at Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui. This is one of
the first concrete MiC high-rise residential projects in Hong Kong. Other
projects include the construction of a primary school at Anderson Road,
Kwun Tong, and the Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social
Housing at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung, all of which employ MiC
technology. It also won the Main Contract for the Multi-Level Carpark and
Footbridge and the Direct Contract for Alteration and Addition Works at
the Hub Area for the Members’ Main Entrance Redevelopment and Multi-
Level Carpark at Shatin Racecourse for The Hong Kong Jockey Club; and
the In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works)
— Administration Building. Furthermore, the Group has been entrusted with
the Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract
3 — Direct Road Link Phase 2.
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With respect to ongoing projects, the Group is engaged in 70 projects
during the Year, including Construction of San Shek Wan Sewage
Treatment Works, Associated Submarine Outfall and Pui O Sewerage
Works; In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South
Works) — Water Treatment Works and Ancillary Facilities; Site Formation
and Foundation Works for Campus Expansion at Ho Man Tin Slope for The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University; Fanling North New Development Area,
Phase 1: Fanling Bypass Eastern Section (Shek Wu San Tsuen North to Lung
Yeuk Tau); Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Completion
Package; Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street;
and the Central — Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and
Island Eastern Corridor Link.

During the Year, the Group completed several notable projects, including
Main Works Contract for Alterations and Additions Works of New Annex
for Lam Tai Fai College; Foundation for Public Housing Development at
Anderson Road Quarry Site RS-1; Construction of Reprovisioning Facilities
at Hong Ning Road Park and Ngau Tau Kok Fresh Water Services Reservoir.

The construction sector continued to face a number of challenges during
the Year. The supply chain remaining affected by the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic and the resultant border closure, which in turn impacted the
availability of raw materials and caused project delays. The fifth wave of
Covid-19 caused a severe shortage of labour and staff during February and
March 2022, and the materials shortage became a major issue from April
2022 onwards, materials supply from the Mainland China was impacted as
well. Although the government has exempted contractors from liquidated
damages for delays, the overhead costs are borne by contractors. The
prices of raw materials also surged due to both local supply chain issues
and global logistics disruptions. However, given that the Group was
engaged in a large number of public sector projects, the impact could be
offset by the price fluctuation compensation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEwm R

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EOIE =)
Major Projects Completed in the Year REFEERTI 2 EIEE
Contract Sum*
Project Name (I1($ million)
HEEWE
Building Construction Work 2 FEE T ]E
1 + Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phase 11 ; 932

 HHABET - HALAGEEREREARETLR
Civil Englneerlng Works + R T7E

2 - Hong Kong International Airport — Terminal 2 Foundation and Substructure Works ; -
,,,,,,,,, EABERES - —REEAMeER T ERETE
3 - Subcontract for the Engineering, Procurement and Construction of South East New Territories - -

© Landfill Extension
N REREEBRERSE S REREIOHAD
Foundation Works it: & T 72

4 ' Foundation for Public Housing Development at Anderson Road Quarry Site RS—1 ; 230
. RERBABSR-IBMAEFE¥EBAMEIE
5 - Foundation, ELS and Excavation Works for Proposed Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland -

Lot No. 44, Junction of Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau Tong
1 /Hﬂf)ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁy—%lxﬁ&%Wi’@E&L%MﬁE’JE%?&EIEHZi’ﬁg {81 1) 7 HE S IZ R A2

Maintenance Works # & T 72

6 - Construction of Reprovisioning Facilities at Hong Ning Road Park and Ngau Tau Kok Fresh Water - 309
Services Reservoir :

REEABERFEARKEKEEER GEETRE

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

7 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department 272
. (Property Services Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and !
. Outlying Islands (South)) (Contract No. TC F928) :
 BEREE (MESKE) AENNBETREIBNTHAY (AETRE B RS () )
- (BRHRSRTC FI28) ‘

'8 Revamp of Public Toilets at Terminal Buildings at Hong Kong International Airport -
o BRERESEEAEAETEENIE
9 | Main Works Contract for Alterations and Additions Works of New Annex for Lam Tai Fai College -
 MREHRRE —HERSEEENBZIRENESL ‘
* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

* EHLHEREAEAMEMBE BYTRBERESHER.

~ut

-

o . Revamp of Public Toilets at Terminal Buildings at
_,.-""! i Hong Kong International Airport

FHREREEEEARAHLAFERN IR

TMBEERIERER AR 2021/2246 17

Maintenance Work
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10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

*

Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street 1,330
AT AEFEEERCEETIR
Main Contract for the Proposed Composite Development at Nos. 12-30 Hang On Street, Kwun -
Tong, Kowloon
NEEBEERH12-30% K6 ReEERETR
Centfql-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link 4,020
IR 4258 - AL ARBEE MR = 2 BRid 2 % T 72
In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Water Treatment Works 2,999
and Ancillary Facilities
WHBKBRMEE T2 (FARR) — BIKE &M E R
Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for DeveLopment of Anderson Road Quarry Site 2,668
TEERBABESAMERN T TERERERTR
Fanling North New Development Area, Phase 1: Fanling Bypass Eastern Section (Shek Wu San 1,690
Tsuen Ngrth to Lung Yeuk Tau) N ~
MEILFEREE R - HEEBRR (AR EZ8ERE)
Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site — Road Improvement Works and Pedestrian 853
Connectivity Facilities Works Phase 2A
REREABRSAMER — BBRNEIERITAEERELES _HF
Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sewage Treatment 689
Facilities

AOREFKERME — ERTIREE R — 5KEBRENHNEIATRE
Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sludge Treatment 629
Facilities and 132kV Prlmary Substation -

AOREFKERM — ERBTIREFE R — SREBRMERI32kVEE SN T ATRE
Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel — Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works 585
ER — EARE — BERRERRKEETRR
Construction of Lung Tsun Stone Bridge Preservation Corridor at Kai Tak 570
RMiEEEARRERBREETLR
Construction of San Shek Wan Sewage Treatment Works, Associated Submarine Outfall and 482
Pui O Sewerage Works o -
A2 KEIER  MEEEHERE R BRSKKERFEETRER
Kwu Tung North New Development Area, Phase 1 — Roads and Drainage between Kwu Tung 451
North New Development Area and Shek Wu Hui \
R ERES —[BR — SR EREELNENBRIMERTRE
Construction of Government Flying Service Kai Tak Division 237
AT RAT AR TS B RR 1= 0 BB iE T 12
Rehabilitation of Trunk Sewers in Tuen Mun 205

HF5KBREEIRE
Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Completion Package
FEATELEREREER —MERLE TR

Site Formation and Foundation Works For Campus Expansion at Ho Man Tin Slope for the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University

E%@IKHHXE%ﬁ&l%@%ﬁéiﬁﬁmﬁlk

Design and Constuction of the Novallches — Balara Aqueduct 4
7 FLAIY) Hr — Balara PUSR 8 /KBX &8 2 85T B E TR

Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.
AR HEREHEEMEMKE BEYTRMEBEELNER
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19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Electrical Installation for Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tung Chung Area 54

RRFMREPHEFERRABEETRENENRETIZ

Foundation for Public Housing Development at Tung Chung Area 99

RBVRAEFEERERBRMETRR

Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at North West Kowloon Reclamation Site 1
(East)
BILNEESREE —RR (R) A ABEEERR2METR

Foundation for Public Housing Development at Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-5 and Demolition

for Redevelopment of Mei Tung Estate (Older Part)

é $:EEM}E)EEE%R2 SHIAR A *%F%’*F;HrilJE’Jﬂ%lﬁ&%%%ékﬁrgﬂE’J?FFEHI&(%
_EIL 7aN

Hotel Interior Design Works Package 1 (Guestroom) and Package 2 (Public Area) for Park Hyatt
Kuala Lumpur

TEEAUEELE — (FF) REE - (AHRZER) EAR REETRE

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is
Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Wan Chai (South) and Wan Chai (North))
BREZE(MESKER)BENEEY TR EMYEETRE NE - REREBSIED
EHEH (ERETEE EF () REF (db))

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is
Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Tai Po, North District and Outlying Islands (North))
AREE (MESKE)BENREY LB LMY EETIR NE REREETRN
FHEH (AEEE : Ng R E#S (4b))

Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated Works at East Rail Line

D KRB A RS MABTE

Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

AHEHERRAANERKRE BYTRBEEESNEE-
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799
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253

722

719
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10

N

12

13

14

15

In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Administration Building
DHEBKBRMES T2 (M) — TBARZ
Construction of a 30-classroom Primary School at Site KT2¢, Development at Anderson Road,
Kwun Tong N . }
BERERERRE (BKT2c) —FTERA3MRENNE
Main Contract at Multi-Level Carpark and Footbridge and Direct Contract for Alteration and
Addition Works at Hub Area for Members Main Entrance Redevelopment and Multi-Level
Caygark at Shatin Racecourse for the Hong Kong Jockey Club
E;%%@%E%%Z@EIEADE%E%ﬁ%&ﬁA%%i%IE&@%Z&@&&
=T
Main Contract Works for Proposed Composite Development for Project DL-11: YTM at Nos. 5-13
Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon

BEK A NE MRS HT5-135R 4R & 3R IR B (DL-11: YTM)
Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social Housing at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung,
New Territories \
MALBEKES-TRESHEEEER
Main Contract Works for 250-Place Student Hostel at United Campus for The Chinese University
of Hong Kong . )
BEBPXAZ 250 UMAERBABESRETE

Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract 1 Site Formation and
Infrastructure Works inside Lok Ma Chau Loop and Western Connection Road Phase 1
7‘%%ﬂ‘l‘\\ﬂﬁﬁi&lﬁ?é)?&%*ﬁﬂiﬁ%lﬁé\%@*‘}%%;ﬂ‘HﬂEi‘@IEIi‘@$¥5FD%%E§E@IE&E
EERERE —H

Retrofitting of Noise Barriers on Po Lam Road North and Po Ning Road
BEMBRILNEERBEFETLR

Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract 3 — Direct Road Link
Phase 2

ERMNTEMERER  F—HFEIRE — 60 —EREKE_H
Construction of Kwai Chung Park
ZORNEMEETIR

Main Contract Works for Project Harbourfront — Depot Site, Short Term Tenancy Site 5 Development
at Quarry Bay, Hong Kong . B
BRI RIEREE4): BA8RBE AT A T M RERN A

Building Services Installation for the Construction of Columbarium, Garden of Remembrance and
(elated works at On Hing Lane, Shek Mun, Sha Tin (Nominated Sub-Contractor)
DHEAFREEEEERETERN L2t ERENEFEIENEFRELETIE BESEH)

Piling Works for Integrated Basement and Underground Road in Zones 2B & 2C of the West
Kowloon Cultural District

TN RE2B M2C AR A M E K F1TE R 2 T TR

Term Contract for Risk-Based Improvement of Water Mains — New Territories West
MAARRABTKEREETHEH

Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department
(Property Services Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and
Outlying Islands (South)) (Contract No. TC K928)

REXE (MESBR) AENNEETREIRNTHAN (FHETER - BERES () )
(B KHRIRTC K928)

Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.
AR HEREHEEMEMKE BEYTREEBEELNEER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXREm RO h

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development and Assets Leasing

The property development and assets leasing segment accounted for a
segment profit of HK$185.8 million (2021: loss of HK$272.0 million) for
the Year. The result was mainly attributable to the one-off provision for
compensation of approximately HK$272.0 million for legal litigation was
made for the year ended 31 March 2021, but such litigation was settled
and part of provision was reversed during the Year.

Sales activity at “128 Waterloo”, a premium residential property

development located on Waterloo Road, Ho Man Tin, continued
throughout the Year and received an occupation permit in November 2021.
As at the date of this report, a total of 39 units were sold with contracted
sales revenue reaching approximately HK$845.8 million in which 36 units
have been handed over to purchasers. The Group has a 40% interest in
this development project.

REOE#)
NERRREERR

MEBRRNEEREDINAFEAELAEE
#5738 4> B % F1185,800,0005%8 7T (20214F : &
$8272,000,0008 L) - EBEFTEZHRE SR
2021F3A3MALEFEMEZRFAZEEE
2 — KR #9272,000,00058 7T % EF
INERAFEERMBERTIODBEERNAT
[EREED -

URRXEBEITEEN—
I8 B [128 Waterloo ] SEEEB N AT E
REFEETT WHR2021F11 BEBIGRRFA
FBoHEAREHE HEHVEEMCZE
#) 88 & W 2= 4 &845,800,000/8 7T - i E A 36

EEEEEHRE

BEMERXNFER - AKERNULEREAE
B A0% KRR °

The sales of the hybrid residential and retail building located in Soy Street,
Mongkok, “SOYO", has commenced and received favourable market
response in the second half of the fiscal year. As at the date of this report,
the contracted sales of 67 units generated sales revenue of approximately
HK$296.3 million. The Group has a 40% interest in this development
project.

Among the other projects, a joint venture group in which the Group owns
40% equity interest acquired a residential site with retail shops located
at 437-441 Castle Peak Road in Cheung Sha Wan. It has a net site area
of approximately 3,675 square feet and is close to Cheung Sha Wan and
Lai Chi Kok MTR stations. In addition, the land exchange application for
the residential land parcel in Tung Chung was approved in June 2022
during the District Land Conference and the land premium negotiation is
in progress. The disposal of 51% interest in the commercial development
project at Shijiazhuang in Hebei Province, the PRC was completed.

$H7TBZ¢FT¥¢ i 7 HE%&“/EE%IE’J

% , ﬁ%%ﬂtlﬁ B ﬁ%?ﬂ?\'l°%i§$$ﬁz% B
B e7AEMMANHEEEEHEREY
296,300,000 L - NEEB R W ERIEE H %
B40% HORERS ©

REMEBEME NEEHEFL0% KRIED
EEEECWBEBLNRDES L BE437-441
FH R EEEMNEER M -Z T HFEELY
3,675F R - MM RDE R ABE -

AN - BB AE M T AR FR F5 FR20224F
A BB R ME B IZ RIE#E
TRHLERY AEEBETRLEMR TR
A AR T EERRIEE 251% e
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The professional services segment, operated by City Services Group
Limited, provides security, tunnel and other facility management services
for its clients. For the Year, the segment recorded revenue of HK$963.8
million (2021: HK$952.2 million) and profit of HK$53.7 million (2021:
HK$157.0 million). Core segment profit actually increased by 14% year-on-
year if one-off subsidies were excluded.

The security and facility management business secured several prominent
clients during the Year, including The Hong Kong Jockey Club, Hong
Kong Palace Museum and Hong Kong Customs and Excise Department.
The property management division, in particular, has developed a new
income stream during the Year by provision of catering services in the
Customs Headquarters Building. The tunnel management operation,
meanwhile, has continued to make steady contributions to the Group's
overall performance, with the management contracts for six tunnels in
Hong Kong, namely the Cross-Harbour Tunnel, the Shing Mun Tunnels, the
Tseung Kwan O Tunnel, the Kai Tak Tunnel, the Lion Rock Tunnel and the
Central-Wan Chai Bypass Tunnel.

The non-franchised bus services segment, operated by Chun Wo Bus
Services Limited (“Chun Wo Bus Services”), has continued to provide a
stable profit to the Group. For the Year, the operation contributed HK$2.7
million in segment profit (2021: HK$6.0 million).

Despite the ongoing border closures, Chun Wo Bus Services recorded a
steady performance for the Year. It continued to focus on provision of
scheduled services, such as shuttle bus services for employees, residents
and students, and secured and maintained sizeable contracts with various
renowned organisations, institutions and property management companies,
including a new contract with a prestigious international school. Though
the shuttle bus service was affected by school closures in the first quarter
of 2022, it has since resumed operation following their recent reopening.
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Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited (“HKCL") specialises in
the research and development and production of positron emission
tomography (“PET") radiopharmaceuticals and operates one of the largest
PET radiopharmacy distribution networks in Hong Kong. HKCL, which was
acquired in late 2020, has integrated into the Group smoothly and has
performed well during the Year, with a revenue of HK$37.1 million (2021:
HK$13.9 million) and a profit of HK$12.9 million (2021: HK$3.3 million).
In addition to the Hospital Authority, which is an ongoing major client, the
business secured a number of new clients during the Year, including CUHK
Medical Centre and a few private imaging centres.

The online building materials procurement and management platform
continued to progress well. During the Year, a major contractor
collaborated with the Group to enable more comprehensive use of such
procurement platform, effectively accelerating the digitalisation processes
used in construction materials management and procurement. This in turn
has made the construction process more efficient, while also benefitting
industry participants and promoting the industry’s growth.

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as bank
borrowings to finance its operations and expansion, which is supplemented
by equity funding when it is required.

Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited
([HKCLD) MR EEE FREHERE
(TEEFHFM]) ST HEEY R ERE
E YREAEEESRANES FHHEMRG T
BEYIR D EBEE 22— HKCLR2020F K&
HWIEFI B AR ANER WA KT E S
F45 £ 2% 537,100,000/ 7T (20214 -
13,900,000/ 7T ) K % #) £12,900,0007% 7T
(20214 :3,300,000870) ‘B ERPEFERF
ERETERIN ZEBRAFENESZHE
TEFE BEESPXREBER A TLA
EEHD

WMEEZEMBRBREEFSHBRA R
ARER —ARB AR ERNER A (EREZ
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At 31 March 2022, the total net debts of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,686.3 million, representing total debts of
approximately HK$3,142.4 million less total of cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$1,456.1 million. The debt maturity profile, based on
scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements of the Group at 31
March 2022, is analysed as follows:

Bank borrowings and lease liabilities repayable:

M202293A31H AEB 2 FEKESE
#)/51,686,300,000/8 7 BN E B A FELD
3,142,400,000/8 TR =R & RIRTT AR B RE
#491,456,100,0007% JT © 1R 15 2N &= B 7220224
3AMBEZERGEES 2T ERB 8
BEEZIHBE DO T

AR THHMEERE ZRITERR

HEaERE:
Within one year or on demand —FAYIEEK 1,161.0
After one year, but within two years —FREMFNA
— On demand shown under current liabilities —SARBABIEREX
BEZ#7D 1,260.3
— Remaining balances —EREE 21.1
After two years, but within five years MEBRZERFA
— On demand shown under current liabilities —SARBABIEREX
BEZ#7D 784.6
— Remaining balances —EREE 20.1
Over five years RFEURE
— On demand shown under current liabilities —SARBAEIEREX
BEZ#D 3.8
— Remaining balances —EREE 20.0
Total debts [ER TR 3,270.9

The Group has continued to implement a prudent financial management
policy, at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the
proportion of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to
Shareholders, was 0.71 (2021: 0.74).

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group'’s bank
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional currency of the
relevant group entities. The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
exchange rate fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. Furthermore,
the Group’s bank borrowings have not been hedged by any interest rate
financial instruments.

Details of the structure and interest rate profile of the bank borrowings
of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 34 to the financial
statements.
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Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Note 34(d) to
the financial statements.

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 44 to
the financial statements.

The Group had approximately 6,150 employees as at 31 March 2022.
Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$1,786.0 million. Employees are remunerated according to their nature
of work and the market trend, with merit-based components incorporated
in the annual increment review to reward and motivate individual
performance. Employee bonus is distributable based on the performance
of the respective divisions and the employees concerned. Moreover,
the Group also provides in-house training program and sponsorship for
external training courses which are complementary to their job functions.

With a view to providing incentive for employees to achieve performance
goals and aligning the interests of employees directly to the Shareholders
through ownership of shares of the Company, the Company adopted the
restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) on 1 August
2017, pursuant to which the Company may grant to eligible participants
restricted shares of the Company. Such grant shares are acquired by the
scheme trustee on the market of the Stock Exchange and held upon trust
for the benefit of the grantees and shall become vested in the grantees
upon satisfaction of specified vesting criteria.

In addition, the Company had also adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”), under which the Directors are authorised to
grant share options to the eligible participants to subscribe for shares of
the Company for the purpose of, among other things, providing incentives
and rewards to, and recognising the contributions of, the eligible
participants. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on 3 September 2012.
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With the pandemic showing signs of subsiding, business operations are
gradually returning to pre-pandemic normality, and the government has
introduced a series of supportive policies that will create opportunities for
the industry in the wake of Covid-19. During the most recent legislative
session, funding approved by the Finance Committee for capital works
projects reached a record high of HK$220 billion. Land development
projects such as the Northern Metropolis and the Lantau Tomorrow Vision
will generate massive infrastructure projects such as new railway extensions
and large-scale urban development works. The government’s increasing
investment in infrastructure will present significant prospects to the market
going forward.

The government has set aside 350 hectares of land for the construction
of approximately 333,000 public housing units, and made commitment
to increase the land and housing supply, expecting that an average of
19,000 private residential units will be completed annually in the next five
years, which in line with demand over the next 10 years, continuing to
create opportunities for the industry. Current initiatives include accelerating
public housing development by streamlining processes, increasing the
provision of public housing and transitional housing units, identifying
land for development purposes, and launching additional redevelopment
opportunities with the Urban Renewal Authority. The administration is also
encouraging the use of advanced construction technologies, with methods
such as MiC being promoted to shorten construction times, reduce
manpower and costs, and enhance construction site safety. With its status
as a renowned enterprise and its advanced construction technologies, the
Company is confident to capture aforesaid opportunities.

With an expected interest rate rise and the introduction of policies aimed
at increasing land and housing supply in the short to medium term, Hong
Kong's property market continues to face much uncertainty. In response
to this potential volatility, combined with weak market sentiment and
purchasing power as a result of the epidemic and resultant lockdown in
the Mainland China, the management will monitor the market closely
and maintain a prudent operating strategy as well as review and adjust
its property portfolio in a timely manner and wait for the opportunities to
continue with the sale of the Group’s property development projects in
order to achieve the best possible prices and generate the greatest returns
for the Shareholders.
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The Group will continue to provide quality professional services to new
and existing clients while seeking new opportunities. The Group is in
confidence of expanding its market share of the tunnel management
sector in the near future.

The Group plans to extend the local shuttle bus service routes in order to
broaden its customer base. With schools having reopened in the second
quarter of 2022, and hopefully the resumption of traveller clearance
in the near future, the Group is looking forward to seizing the related
opportunities and achieving a better performance.

Following the satisfactory performance of HKCL during the Year, the
management is optimistic about the prospects for this segment going
forward and is exploring an expansion plan. HKCL will continue to deliver
top notch services to its clients and strive to maintain its leading position in
the industry.

The management will continue to nurture the Group’s other businesses
and look for suitable growth opportunities. It will also seek new ventures
to diversify its operations, expand its income streams and ultimately
stimulate long-term growth.

With the pandemic subsiding, the management is confident that the
Hong Kong economy will gradually recover in 2022. The Group will
therefore focus on further developing its core businesses and actively
seek new opportunities that will help shape a better future and facilitate
sustainable development, such as those pertaining to medical technology
and environmental conservation. The management will also maintain its
commitment to improving operational efficiency and consolidating the
Group's strong industry position, while ensuring it is well prepared to grasp
opportunities arising from the recovery of the market.
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Our Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of CSR. The
business sector is placing an increasing emphasis on CSR performance,
particularly in the aspects of safety and health, sustainable development,
community impact and law and regulatory compliance. We understand
that we do not operate our business in isolation of our society. Employees,
suppliers, clients, the natural environment and the general community are
all our stakeholders influenced by the ways in which our Group transacts
the business.

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding its
CSR issues. The Board takes overall responsibilities for ESG matters and
integrate the objectives, strategies, priorities and goals into the company.
To support the Board's oversight and systematic management of the
ESG issues, working group is established with the responsibilities of
implementing strategies, issues management, data collection and report
preparation. The working group shall provide ESG updates to the Board at
least once a year.

Besides, the Audit Committee focuses on ESG risks control, internal
monitoring mechanisms, performance review and evaluation and reporting
to the Board. The recommendations are reviewed and approved by the
Board for various departments to implement ESG performance accordingly.

With our objectives of ensuring company’s sustainability and introducing
strategic decision making, the Board committed to develop an effective
reporting framework to connect with the public, in return for the business
improvement in future. The Company developed a CSR report and an ESG
report annually.

Our strategy focuses on the sustainability of Compliance, Safety, Quality
and Green and Low Carbon Construction. We set up a brand-new
set of VMV (Vision, Mission & Core Values) in February 2022, which
reflects the Group's corporate culture has thus been established and
will be implemented to further strengthen our capacity for sustainable
development.
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Continuously enhance prevention of legal risks, abide by all local laws, regulations and related
policies where the business operates and ensure the interests of the Group
FEMABEERRE T BTEBRKEMEMNSIER ERMEERRUNREREE
ik

It has always been first in our priority, we keep maintaining precise management to prevent injuries,
serious incidents and prosecutions
ZEE— ARBRER MHEIE BREFWRFARR

We keep evaluating and improving the Group's quality management system
BHMBET A TERNEREEE2ER AL

Continuously conserve and utilise resources, reduce the negative environmental impact, maximise
the number of renewable energy use and performance, therefore reducing the carbon emissions of

construction through the new building technology and our energy management

REBRMNBIEBITHA ROERRNEBEFE BrRS 7 BERRER KRG EF

A 32 SRR I BETR B IR AR I SRR PR IR

To strengthen the credibility of the data of this report, we have engaged
Accredited Certification International Limited (“ACI”) as independent
carbon auditor. ACI conducted the verification with regard to the data
of emissions and use of resources, which included assessment of data,
monitoring system and reporting plan or protocol. This assessment
included collection of evidence of reported data and checking of whether
the provisions of the protocol reference were consistently and appropriately
applied.

We also implemented different kind of management systems and arranged
training courses on various international standards, e.g., ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management System, 1SO 45001:2018 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System and ISO 50001:2018 Energy Management
System to improve sustainability performance.

Internally, we organised activities to promote the proper ESG behaviors,
for example, recycling workshops, “Green” public activities and becoming
a "Green” Volunteer, etc. We designated coloured recycling bins for
different wastes and make them accessible to all employees. We also
encouraged employees to share testimonials about resources conservation.
In our construction sites, we encouraged our staff to rush to “Green”
opportunities such as reuse or recycle of waste and waste management in
order to achieve our environmental management practices and subject to
continuous improvement.
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In the face of Covid-19 crisis affecting our working and safety conditions,
we have set up a multifunctional emergency team against any “ad-hoc”
issues. Our management team has been closely monitored the conditions
of our staff and provided solutions, i.e., manpower deployment. In the
practice of social responsibility, efforts have been made for anti-pandemic
such as a donation to charities for buying anti-pandemic materials for the
families in need, our staff was being volunteers to pack the anti-pandemic
package, etc.

Throughout the challenging year of 2021, the Company has made
towards fulfilling its commitment to sustainability and drive business
success by focusing on ESG performance. We surely will continue to drive
improvements in our ESG activities and create long-term value for our
stakeholders and customers.

The Group tries its utmost best to communicate with the stakeholders
through various communication channels such as surveys and interviews
and had incorporated their feedback into the process of identifying the
material topics, which act as the foundation of formulating long term ESG
strategies as well as a strong reference to this report.

Following the communication with our senior management and
operational staff, we assessed ESG issues relevant to the Group by
considering their importance to our stakeholders. During the Year, five
material aspects were identified in the assessment, including Training and
Development, Employee Health and Safety, Environmental Performance,
Product/Service Responsibility and Anti-corruption.

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules, which mainly covers the Group’s principal business activities in Hong
Kong during the Year. The four key subject areas in this ESG Report cover:
(I) Workplace Quality, (Il) Environmental Protection, (lll) Operating Practices
and (IV) Community Involvement.
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As at 31 March 2022, our Group had approximately 6,150
employees with the majority stationed in Hong Kong. We recognise
that employees are valuable assets to our Group and embrace the
philosophy of investing in people by providing them with a range
of training programs that can enhance their professional skills and
knowledge. We are also committed to maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees as well as implementing
equal opportunity employment practices.

The Company adopted a diversity policy to promote diversity of
workforce of the Company (including management) to enhance
the effectiveness of corporate governance of the Company as a
whole. The Company considers the concept of diversity incorporates
a number of different aspects, such as professional experiences,
business perspectives, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and
educational background and ethnicity. Employment is based on
merit and attributes that the selected candidates will bring to the
Group to complement and expand the competencies, experience and
perspectives, taking into account the vision, mission and core values
of the Group.

The Company will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendations on suitable candidates for employment. The
Company ensures that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation.
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R ERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THEREEX (2
Our People (continued) BMAMWBET (&)

Employment Statistics Employee Turnover Rate'
ERE& BB EERKZR
2021/22 2020721 2021/22 2020/21
(Restated)
(&)
68.8% 70.1% 23.4% 21.6%
31.2% 29.9% 22.0% 17.5%
Employmenttype __ fmEm | | | |
0.9% 1.0% 6.8% 14.3%
4.7% 4.6% 31.2% 32.2%
13.9% 12.6% 27.1% 20.0%
80.5% 81.8% 21.9% 19.8%
AgeGowp ______ FwEm | | | |
Below 30 30B AT 15.2% 44.9% 31.2%
30-50 30—505% 36.8% 25.5% 22.3%
Above 50 505% A £ 48.0% 15.2% 15.4%
Hong Kong 95.5% 22.0% 19.5%
PRC 0.1% 0% 0%
Overseas 4.4% 41.7% 40.6%

L Employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of separation
employees in the Year by the number of employees at the end of the Year

2 The ratio for male and female are 79.7% and 20.3% for 2021/22; and 82.5% and
17.5% for 2020/21

8 The ratio for male and female are 83.4% and 16.6% for 2021/22; and 82.7% and
17.3% for 2020/21
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To attract, motivate and retain talents, our Group regularly reviews
our staff compensation and benefit packages to ensure our benefits
are competitive in the market. With reference to prevailing market
conditions, a review is conducted annually on the pay packages
of employees and other employment benefits, which include the
medical scheme, health check program, travel insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits.

Training

Continuous learning is one of our core values. The Group's support in
training and development applies to staff of all levels. We have been
offering training sponsorship to all staff members to encourage self-
improvement in a learning organisation since 2005. Employees are
provided with comprehensive in-house training and sponsorships for
external training courses including seminars, workshops, visits and
demonstrations to enhance their skills and knowledge for performing
their duties more effectively and promoting personal development.

Since 1999, our Group’s Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited has been certified by the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers as a Scheme A Graduate Training approved organisation in
the Civil, Building, Building Services and Structural disciplines.

» GLAD Program for accounting trainees
& Core Program
& Elite Program
@ Women Leaders Program
» Young Professional Program
J  Graduate/Freshman Program for Engineers/Quantity Surveyors
»  Design Engineer Program
o Technical Apprentice Program
{ Site Agent Development Program
»  Sub Agent Program
»  Construction Industry Council Training Academy Program
& Contractor Cooperative Training Scheme
& Advanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme
@ Construction Tradesman Collaborative Training Scheme
& Enhanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme
@ Building Information Modelling Program
&) Building Frontline Training Program
© Mentorship Program
& Internship Program
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RIR HERERERS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THERBER»
Training and Development (continued) B RBRE (&)
Training (continued) 1=Zal (&)

Average Training Hours
Trained Employees per Employee (Hours)

F IR "LATLL
(/B
2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

___

83.4% 73.9%

16.6% 26.1%
___

1.0% 1.4%

5.7% 3.4% 3.2 4.4

12.9% 2.5% 2.9 4.3

80.4% 92.7% 4.0 2.8

Development BR

Beside career development, we place great value on the development BREBEZERUIN BATEEERE
of physical and psychological well-being of our employees. The BELEENER - AEBFET—
Group aspires to a work-life balance for its employees, and thus 7 B TEETERAE 2 MES T -
we encourage colleagues to take part in volunteering, recreational it H MR EETRER2ER
and sporting activities at leisure in the hope of helping them relax T IREREEES  AHE B FIRR
and strengthening the team spirit. For demonstrating team spirit, REORMBEBEG REHEBEK
promoting harmonious message and fostering regular exercise habit, B EHNMANMEREEEEED
our basketball team and soccer team regular hold friendly matches BB BP0 & KK R 2 BREX E B 6
with our joint venture partners. EEBHETRERE

Request for help

= 3K 1% 8)
“Caring Hotline” Inquire information
[RIZEAR ] EHREM
Express opinions
REBR

Birthday (Birthday card and coupon)
£ B8 (EHRKE#HF)

Marriage and New Birth (Gift coupon)
HERET (BF)
Retirement (Souvenir)
BRIK(L2m)
3 Hospitalisation or Injury (Caring call and fruit basket)
=5 ERRTIE (BERERRE)

Death (Flower wreath and condolence money)
it (FERE M EAME)

Y

4

"Staff Care Programme”

[E B At &)

GOEOE®
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IR HERERRS

(|) WORKPLACE QUAL'TY (continued)

Training and Development (continued)
Development (continued)

In recognition of the Group's efforts and accomplishments in
manpower training and development, the Group members have
been awarded the following accreditations by the Employees
Retraining Board:

e Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited
EMEREEBRAA]

e  (City Services Group Limited
W RGEEFR A A

Employee Health and Safety

By integrating internationally-recognised 1SO 9001, ISO 14001
and ISO 45001 certifications into our quality, environmental and
occupational safety and health management systems
respectively, our Group demonstrates our compliance
with health and safety standards. Our Group’s
“PDCA" system further ensures all individuals and
teams exert themselves to meet the statutory
requirements and to achieve the ultimate goal
of continuous improvement.

We are aware of the significance of workplace
safety. To maintain the occupational safety
standards in our construction operations, we
have introduced a safety audit system designed to
monitor the effectiveness of our safety management
system. For the year of 2021, the corporate average
safety audit score — physical condition was 86.4% (2020:
83%), exceeding the target of 85%.

Continuous
Improvment

() THERBEE»)

=1
)

BIIRER(
BR(#E)
RREASEEANBEIRERSTE
MBNRRH AREXKBERER
FIRETUTEE

Manpower Developers
AT

Manpower Developers

AT RE

Excellence Award for Employers

e PN

Grand Prize Award

HRALE

BEERERZE
REBEBTRERTEERE HRE
B R R A #1SO 9001 ~I1SO 14001 K
ISO 45001 RBEAEME  IRIE R
2T NREEERAK ANEED
[PDCA ] R — SRR A R
AREBRBRE2 HETET
ER WERFEELSNER

AR

BMFEATIERERZR 22
D - ARERLIEH
B ERRBELTRIZE R
LT Z2E&%HE B
EERLT 2 BEIBREGHMRE -
R021F EFHLE2EZD
B —EFB AR N 586.4% (20204 :
83% ) - HRiB8S% W B ZD & -

(0/1 000) (0/1 000) (0/1 000)

2020 2021

2021
415

+E

TMNBAERIERERAT 2021/224F )

a5



46

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Employee Health and Safety (continuead)

In 2021, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives. In
particular, the accident frequency rate of construction work within
5 years recorded a decreasing trend, reflecting our dedication and
achievements in construction site safety and excellent and consistent
occupational safety performance.

() THERBEE»)
BERERZZ (&)
M20214  FiE T 2 $5 =19 8 5 73 4
BIEfEg- R TIRIER EHER
SENSETREE RERMAY IR
WEEZEHNERMKTEAR —B 2
) E et h

Accident Frequency Rate (per 100,000 man-hours)

BAHER (BTEIR)

20211 T*&

=0. ED

We are fully aware of certain risks of safety and health of workers
working in construction sites and hence a series of measures have
been in place at various construction project sites to protect the
safety and health of workers.

Protection Measures

REELE E

BPRMIARMBRIEEE —EH
EEEkzZ2RAER AEBEMEZET
RIEE B — RO URE
TANRERGERFE-

Heat Shelters and Water
Mini Health Check Stations Sprinklers on Rooftops
NEME AR B Uk ETE NS IR ER KRBk B8

Ensure workers are

Dissipate heat gain

at optimal state 244 B EE

BRE TRV REMRRE

% .
Morning Exercise
BRED

Alert workers of the
potential injuries and

ways of prevention
RESTEESERE
DYSSELE R
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The safety and health of all our employees are of paramount
importance to our Group. Thus, our senior management places a
strong emphasis on our employees’ safety and health. Our security
and facility management divisions also follow a well-structured
management system and conduct annual audit to ensure that we
meet the international standards. The companies under the divisions
have received accreditations in ISO 45001 occupational health
and safety management system awarded by approved certification
bodies.

Our non-franchised bus services division has abided by the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and also ensure that
reasonable working hours are allotted to the drivers and provide
enough rest time to them for maintaining good spirits.

Our Group has also set up an effective occupational health and
safety management system conforming to the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management) Regulation and SO
45001 requirements. Related guidelines are stated in our Group's
safety policy.

Our target is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements and provide our staff with a
hazard-free workplace. In order to achieve this goal, we encourage
all employees to take the responsibility and comply with the systems,
policies, manuals, procedures and working rules such as wearing
personal protective equipment and reporting violations of regulatory
requirements or orders.

© No violence in the workplace

& No sexual harassment and discrimination

@ An alcohol-free and drug-free workplace

& A non-smoking workplace

@ Immediate reporting of accidents

& Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working procedures
@ Special arrangement for typhoons and rainstorm warnings

& Security of property and safety inspection

HAEEME SURERENTEME
EHYEHEEZ-AN S EBEEABIE
BERKMEENTE RER &M
WREREREEBRDSHINET B4
BrENETEEARRETFESER.
NEREMFAEBEBEE-ZD BT
MAREESRAURIMIEEER TISO
45001 B ERERLEEERERRE -

BN FELEEL O HEETHRER
EREREN THRERAKNIKS
2 YRS RS IREERE - AR
Fr R RIS MR A& o

AEBBPERIMETIELE (22
EIE)IEHI KZISO 45001BFERYTH
MHOBERERLE2EERK -EH
B HNARBNEZEBERA -

BHREEIMEEBNRE 22
ERREEER TREEBRHARR
BEENTHERRE - RERMBE M
B FTEREAERTLETH
B-BE FM- -BFEITERI G
B AR R R ERE R EEE
RERETHNER

OHBETIESMTHNEN

O TR MEEERIRR

O BEESNTIERER

O BEITHERE

O PIESE R BN ET

O ABHARLZE2THERRF

O BRK&ZERESHNRFRZ
ODERZRZEKE
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R ERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THERBEERE»)
Safety and Health Awards T2 REERE
In the Year, our various business units garnered more than 65 RAFE BZMZAXEBEMEER
safety and health awards, proving our effective implementation of BeSALT 2 RIEEEIE EAEH
occupational safety and health management system throughout the ZEIPBANBELEBEERERS
various divisions in our Group. BB E M

Construction Sites Safety and Housekeeping Award Scheme (2020)
T2 2 & %2 5% Bh&t &/ (2020)

& Meritorious Award
BEAE

Occupational Health Award 2020-21
B 3% 2 B K 282020-21

{ Hearing Conservation Best Practices Award (Merit Award)

REREAR (RUKRAKE)

@ Joyful a Healthy Workplace Best Practices Award (Enterprise/Organisation Category) (3 Merit Awards)
FOB@BRRIERMASZ (E MEE) (ZHRIFHEKRE)

Young Lo Pan Award 2021
20215 FRIREE

@ Occupational Safety and Health Award
B K

@ Young Lo Pan Award
SFEBWAE

Life First Campaign 2021
[EmE— 1202122 HETH

@ Most Engaging Contractor (Certificate)
RIEHR2 EAGER (RREHK)

& Most Engaging Construction Project (2 Certificates)
REGLETIZEAR (MARKHM)
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Development Bureau and Construction Industry Council

BRBANMNEEXRES

& Public Works (New Works) (Merit Award)
IBIR(FgEIiR) (BR4%)

& Public Works (RMAA Works) (Merit Award)
TITHIRE(HFE RE NEMNEIR) (BER)

& Model Frontline Supervisor Award
EERR T HEE T 48

© 2 Model Worker Awards
MIAR & T A58

& 2 Model Subcontractor Frontline Supervisor Awards
MIRRE D BRI ATAR T L T 88

Hong Kong Registered Contractors Association
HEEMAEERS
& Management Award Level (Winner)

ETHER (BEE)

&’ 5 Construction Practitioners Level (Winner)

hIREEENF AR (BE)

Occupational Safety and Health Council

BELZ2RER

€ 2 Merit Awards
MIAE R 48

Occupational Safety and Health Council

BELZE2RER
© Outstanding Metal Scaffolder in Occupational Safety and Health (1 Gold Award and 1 Merit Award)
BeRRGSeBMRAT (—ReRK—HERE)

& Outstanding Power Operated Elevating Platform Worker in Occupational Safety and Health (1 Gold Award and
2 Merit Awards)
B RIERE NIRENETIESRIEE (—H BRI MBAERE)

{© Best Safety Enhancement Program for Working at Height (Silver Award)
BESEIELZ2MERE (R1E)

{ Best Safety Enhancement Program for Lifting Operation (Bronze Award)
BEREBIIELX2HERE ($12)
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Occupational Safety and Health Council
BRZ2EER

@ OSH MVP Award (15 Years Plus)
Rl o RTTEZ K2 (155 Plus)

& Work Safe Behaviour Award (Bronze Award)
THEREITRAE (HE)

@ Work Safe Behaviour Award — Pointing and Calling Best Practices Award (Merit Award)
THERETARE —KEEYRBXEERR(BER)

{ safety Performance Award (Construction Industry) (2 Excellence Awards and 14 Outstanding Awards)
ZEREAZ (BREXAER) (MBASEMER +OIELL )

@ OSH Annual Report Award (Merit Award)
B FHRAR(EBERERE)

Hong Kong Housing Authority
EEEEREE

& New Works Projects — Best Site Safety — Completed Project Site Safety (Foundation/Civil Engineering)
MIRIERE —&EINEE —28ITHEe (MR TRIRE)

& New Works Projects (1 Outstanding Site Foremen and 2 Outstanding Workers)
FIRER (—EAHITHE T RRNEFALETIR)

Green Council
RIREESR

© Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) (Gold Award)

BERELZ2EER (KBEAE) (£58)

Hong Kong Construction Association
ERRENE

& 2 HKCA Proactive Safety Contractor Awards
MEBBEBRERSREBED T REPARE

& 2 Safe Supervisor Awards
MIBLZE2E T K%
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To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational safety and
health standards, we have developed an evaluation questionnaire to
collect feedback from the participants of all meetings, seminars and
forums.

The Group encourages employees to participate in occupational
safety and health activities and voluntary services and share expertise
and information not only with colleagues but also fellow workers
in the Hong Kong construction industry. To actively promote the
awareness of occupational safety throughout the Group, a range of
safety activities, including safety workshops, special safety seminars
and community activities, were organised during the Year.

A safety training centre called “Chun Wo Safe Zone” has been
established since 2020. It consists of 5 training zones to simulate
the major causes of accidents at construction sites. Participants
can enhance their safety awareness and improve their work safety
behaviour by attending the “Behavioural Change Safety Training”
("BCST"). All Chun Wo employees and subcontractors’ workers, who
working on site, must be the holder of valid certificate of BCST.

In order to minimise the risk of spreading Covid-19 in the workplace,
the Group has decided to adopt a centralised toolbox training called
“Web Talk” starting from the end of 2021. The “Web Talk” is an
occupational safety and health training targeted for frontline workers
and supervisors for duration of not more than 15 minutes on topic
related to different construction site activities, which conducted by
an appointed Registered Safety Officer of head office every week via
the video conferencing.

Through these activities, all participants have improved their
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety. Furthermore, they
exchanged ideas and helped to promote the safety culture in the
Group.

RERFERABR L RBRFE
BHCRAETEACHE RERE
# M EkRETA2EERER
HER -

AEEGBET2EBRER 2 RER
BB RERRY LEREUALEE
BEXRNIRDZFERABRLEM
REBRASEHREIBELZ2EH
BANAFERBRTZHELREE:
BRZE2THEY BilZ2HaE R
itEES -

H20205 £ AEBE XL L 2 HF
b [EME 2] - B ESE S
& EREEMBENEFRNEIENK
CBEMETRBAN [ RETREE
FlgRaRIE ] ([ Z21TRMEIIARRE])
ReEZ2EBYRETIHELE2TR
FRERME TIEREMES ko HEE
TABBERAERNREITREZI
RRIZESE -

ARERETTIAETESNE
ERK AEERTH2021FFREH
IR AR BN AE] PR TAM
BT (B EE] SHHAETIA
MEENBELZE REREI KM
TRBISHE TEETRZETH
EEER WHEEABIE T M
ZEITATGABBREEZET

BB LIRS A2 EESRE
XL BB LIBERBRE - MO 1
MRARER LHBRAEERNEH
ZEXE-
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We have adopted the comprehensive Employee Handbook for
employees of the Group and review the policies from time to time to
ensure that we comply with the Employment Ordinance in respect
of employment protection and benefits for employees. Our human
resource functions of different business units also observe the
departmental manuals so as to ascertain that they adhere to legal
and regulatory requirements throughout the recruitment process,
and to avoid the employment of illegal labour or child and forced
labour.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any non-compliance
cases involving illegal labour or child and forced labour, and complied
with all relevant laws and regulations relating to employment and
labour practices.

In view of the growing greenhouse effect and climate change,
energy conservation, carbon reduction and minimising pollution have
become global issue that could affect any one of us. As a responsible
corporate citizen, the Group has established policies and measures
to minimise pollution, efficiently utilise energy, reduce waste and
expand recycling practices in our operation. Risk-based thinking,
lifecycle perspective and mitigation have been incorporated into our
management system to address the latest environmental challenges.
The Group has established effective environmental management
systems in compliance with internationally-recognised I1SO 14001 and
ISO 50001 standards. Committed to the core values of the Group,
we have been members of various environmental protection groups
and actively support these organisations. With the continuation
of our environmental protection measures, in view of the current
business environment and nature and period of construction
project, the Group targets to achieve a 5% drop in emissions and
resources used per HK$ million revenue for every five financial years
commencing from the financial year of 2021.

Annual Report 2021/22
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R HERERRS

() ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RBRE 2
Waste and Resources Management By REREE
Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to reduce BELVELEBHNRENBERBE &
waste production and enhance recycling. MEEIHANEREDEEEE-

Waste Management Hierarchy

EEYIEEEE
Top Priority Last Priority
EY T — BAES
| I n v v
Avouliar_\ce _and Reuse of Recovery and Treatment Disposal
Minimisation Materials Recycling B £

BREEBSERD ERAMH WK EREE

Examples of Waste Recycled and Reused
BYRRBERERMTF

Rock, Sails,
Concrete

A%k L
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HAitbzz
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Imets
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r Barrier
""" ZH)
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RIBIEIE

kS
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z37)
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“The Producer Responsibility Scheme on Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment” covers air-conditioners, refrigerators, washing machines,
television, computers, printers, scanners and monitors, the suppliers
must be registered with Environmental Protection Department (“EPD")
before distributing the above listed equipment. The supplier must fulfill
other statutory obligations such as the periodic submission of returns
to the EPD, payment of recycling levies and providing recycling labels
when distributing regulated electrical equipments.

The Mercury Control Ordinance aims to fully implement the
Minamata Convention on Mercury in Hong Kong, with a view to
protect human health and the environment from anthropogenic
emissions of mercury and mercury compounds.

Infrequent hazardous waste from demolition of old structures or
equipment (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for less than 0.001%
of the total waste generated has been separated and treated in
accordance with local regulations.

Waste recycled at public fill
RAREBRERBENEY

Soil reused by other projects
mHEMIBAEERNELT
Timber/paper/cardboard recycled (non-office waste)
BIRBERAM,ERBR GERREREY)
Paper recycled (office paper)

BIRBERER (PHLAERR)

Concrete recycled

BIRFERRT

Metal recycled

BIREESE

Plastic recycled

BIRAEER

Total Waste Recycled and Reused
BYRRBERERAS

0 Reduced Waste Production and Enhanced Recycling
O moEsmpRENEEEE
:@ Recycled and Reused over 95% of Construction Waste
BRBERERZNI5% N TIZEY
¢® Disposed less than 5% Waste Generated
ZELNS% B EEREY
:@ Pressure on Landfill Decreased

BN B 3 SR [ Y JER )
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Implementing Eco-friendly Actions in our offices and
project sites to promote environmental awareness

Phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with energy-
saving T5 fluorescence tubes and LED lighting

Using of solar thermal energy for power (electricity)
generation to reduce diesel use and hence carbon
emissions

Reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at site
access, water barrier filling, etc.

Reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore
piles

Using seawater instead of freshwater for marine works

Reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof
sprinkler cooling systems and watering of plants of site
office

Using noise barrier and enclosure to protect sensitive
receivers

Minimising the use of generator

Increasing the use of renewable energy by 5% every year

@

ERAERIBEHBRETIRERE!T
g URARKRESH

23 K EZRRI TS E - WA RE &
B0 & K LED BRERER A

BERAAGREE WD ERSME
€ T 8% A% HE X

EKETURERIER  BRERAN MR
BR BRI RS R I A D
BB NOE AT KRS

BXBRBRARYIZZ B LEILE

RAEF TRRERBKRE

WEALSREEK BREBREIRRE
IKFEB RGN AT A =EYER

KK

ERRERERREERESERE
E/@E’]ﬁ
BEALSEERHER

BFIBINGE R A BAERER5%

@ Maximise the Benefits in Environmental Protection, Energy Efficiency and Carbon Footprint Reduction

BIERIGORGE  BEIR W an MORL D B B By J K 25 Be
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IR ERERRS

(") ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Environmental Measures

It is our unshirkable responsibility to provide and promote green
building solutions and methodologies to create sustainable cities and
to contribute towards climate change. Sustainability designs and
construction methods have been initiated in our project sites with
developed mitigation measures to protect our environment, reduce
waste generation and enhance recycling.

Water Pipes Recycling

@  Alteration as mobile office and resting area
©  Equipped with solar energy panels for site office and workers
welfare facilities

©  The generated electricity is used for powering the computers,
televisions and electric fans inside, and for phone charging

() IR )

RREE
BAMRERERSEEERRT R
ARFTIER] F BB R KB RIR
BLEETH -HLMACRERHWERK
RAFERTREES X ERAKR
MERE A RERE ROBEDE
ERREERBE-

KERRBE

© HEEARBBAERKERE
O RUBRLAERIABAREL
B KRB RER

© ELNENREANER TR
BRERSHERSTHEAE

Use of Enertainer

& Zero diesel fumes with 85% less carbon dioxide emission

@  Backend platform is equipped for energy usage analysis

56 Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2021/22
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Noise Reduction
WABE

& Use of drill and split for rock breaking, replacing
traditional noisy breaker, reducing noise emanating
from sites
ERERESB TEETHA BEREFEEYH
LM BREMRRISEANRT

& Use of silent piler for sheet pilling, replacing noisy
percussive piling

EREBITER BRERNITHE

Waste Reduction

D B2

& Use of more durable aluminum modules and steel
formworks, replacing traditional timber formworks,
for wall and column construction, reducing waste
generation
e T 770 (50 A 58 i AR A0 8 AR 48 R #ff AR AR
EREROANER ROEDNESE

{ Reuse excavated soil and rock in other contracts

REMESHNERCEZERNELI AR

B5 Biodiesel
B5 £ ¥ 45h

© Lower well-to-wheel carbon dioxide emission
compared with conventional diesel
HESEEAL  BRELBFIERH Z Al
HERR

Building Information Modelling

BEEERERE

\

~
Yo

Improve coordination and clash detection, reduce
the amount of unnecessary remedial works with
true representation of the actual construction
condition
WEBARNERS LR T B ENERIIE
7 M 2 Bk B B e AR

Estimate material quantities precisely, avoid surplus
of materials

RREGEMHEE B2V BT

Facilitate off-site precasting of modules, reducing
use of formwork materials

REEMBINERBER FROBERIFHERD
MK

Reduce of carbon dioxide emission with reduction
in amount of rework, construction and demolition
waste and number of construction plant on site
HRREBIZE ITRERFHEDRI PR
EWMEBER D — SRR

Use of Natural Resources

ERARREIR

\

@

Use of seawater instead of freshwater for marine
works (predrilling, piling and airlifting)
RigFTiE (REA THREZE)EREKKLE

KK

Surplus rock and soil are reused by other projects
instead of disposal

REMEBEEERFRNORIEL REEE
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Carbon Emission
Monitoring System

BB R A

& Paperless meetings
maiER

@ Switching off lighting and
appliances (computers and
monitors) during lunch hours
RFRESHEBEERARRE

BREES)

& Maintaining indoor temperature
between 24°C and 26°C in
summer months
REZFADBFHZRRENT
THRK24EE26E

Eco-renovation

BRREE

& Applying energy-saving lighting
15 R £ B R B

& Utilising natural light in interior
design
EEARG FERABRNR

© Reusing old furnitures
EREREA

On-Grid Solar System
BHRE KIZRER A

& Operating in parallel with the
electricity grid of the site for
supplementing the foil-based
generation and protecting
environment
HETHHRmERRESER"
VA FEUASE R 2N 1 3 B DA B AR

B

@ Enhance Staff's Environmental Awareness for Reducing Energy Consumption and Carbon Emissions

=z ayh

R 8 TIRY

Bl B BEIROB R R AR BE IR

The Group has established a comprehensive group-wide carbon
audit system which extended the scope of carbon audit to monitor
emission data of the different business units under the Group. The
Group has developed policy of controlling greenhouse gas emission,
and managing our fuel and electricity usage through deployment of
high efficiency equipment for better use of resources.

The Group supports low carbon construction and is a signatory
member of “Low Carbon Charter” of Business Environmental
Council. We support greater use of electric plant and equipment
and low carbon alternative fuels (e.g. biodiesel) where electrification
is not possible. We use B5 biodiesel, renewable energy system (e.g.
solar power) and mass battery energy storage to reduce carbon

emission from sites.
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AREBED R ZHWESEEEROIRK
B RS UHREAREERES
7S SR B A [R] 7 AL A PR IR B R -
AEE D HIEZEHEER BRI
K URBEBLZRSUREEERH
ERENAEE REEREMRTHE

AEBSTFHEGEE - ARFMAR R
RRBEHN (ERNE) - ETBHE
RIEMBERT RAXHRESEER
AR A BRSO (s )
B R R o F AP R BSAE M 50 T 5
ERRIREG (MAFGEE) R ARENE
shfEee - DURA T 4 B BRBERL o



The Key Performance Indicators (“KPI(s)”) demonstrating our Group’s RAEBRIZIEFEER L BRE

performance under the environmental area are disclosed as follows: IR ([FRRERIEE T
Aspect A1 Emissions
[BEA1 HER
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data

BERUY 1 2R N 4B R B P BUE
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2REX[RIRRE] —6

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions and intensity

BERBERERTE

Scope 1 Total (tonnes CO,e)

1 2021/22 - a2 wit (- S(iE e
Direct Emissions (tonnes CO._e) — 2021/22  2020/21
BEER (EoatiEgs 2020/21 26,636 41,212 48,218
Scope 2 Intensity (tonnes CO,e
EiE2 2021/22 - 21,962 per HK$ million revenue)
Energy Indirect Emissions (tonnes CO,e) X §§+Eﬂmﬁgﬁfbﬁﬁ%§§
SRIEEER (MoS(tHEeE 2020/21 21,582 SREETHE)
| 2021/22  2020/21
5.34 6.40
A13&A1.4 Total hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced and intensity
MELRELREBEERENRENREE
Hazardous Waste (tonnes) Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes)
BEEEY (W) mERZEY (W)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
2,408 15.90 732,188 918,781
Intensity (tonnes per HK$ million revenue) Intensity (tonnes per HK$ million revenue)
EE (W SE88xKaE) mE (W Sa88Tla)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
0.31 0.01 94.82 121.95
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

TR ENBEN B B R AER B RIS £ 5
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
A2 R EXRERE] —&

Al1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
HEEEEREEBEEMN T URELAARENREEZRRAERBZMER
HR ) 28R
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2REXRIRRE] —&
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Aspect A2
[EE A2

A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

Use of Resources

BREH

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity
RERESHNEER SJHEEREEEREE

Electricity (kWh) Intensity (kWh per HK$ million revenue)
HEE (TRER) BE (TRR SE8BTKE)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
54,928,835 54,902,532 7,113.29 7,287.30
Diesel (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
s () BE (F SEBBTRES)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
6,861,108 9,780,016 888.51 1,298.12
Petroleum (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
aH (H) BE (F/S881KE)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
441,906 435,106 57.23 57.75

Water consumption in total and intensity

B E R B
Water consumption (m?) Intensity (m? per HK$ million revenue)
FKE (ZLFK) BE (IFK/SEEBTKE)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
490,056 424,520 63.46 56.35

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

TR AT SRV BEIR (2 2 et B 1R S A B B AR FTERER RO 2 R

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
BRREXRBRE] —&

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

M sREGER KR LB EMRME - ARFTET M AR B IR R AERE R
gty

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
BRRENRERE] &

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with reference to
per unit produced

HEMATABRMHENEER (NER)BLEEEMIEE

Disclosure of packing material is omitted since it is not identified as material aspect in
the business of the Group

HREEMHARBFBRAREZEEXHHE Rt AR ZKE
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Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

[EEA3 R RRABIR
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural

resources and the actions taken to manage them

M EBRDHHRBERRARERNEAZERED KN ER AT ENTTH
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2 R EXRERE] —&

Aspect A4 Climate Change
[EE A4 RIREL
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those

which may impact the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them

R R RS ETAEERENEARBRABEE UAREEHABEENTH

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2AENRERE] —F

Our Group's efforts in contributing to environmental protection have ANEBAEREFEANEEETHES
been recognised by the community with the following environmental TN ANEEEEATIRRIEE:

awards received during the Year:

Green Council

RREES

& Green Management Award — Corporate (Large Corporation) (Gold Award)
BURREREE - X (KEGE) (£58)

© Green Management Award — Project Management (Large Corporation) (2 Gold Awards, 5 Silver Awards,
1 Bronze Award and 3 Merit Awards)
BURREERZ-BAERE (KFELE) (WESE RHERE —ARRR=IAERR)

© Ssustained Performance (3 Years+)

EBERME GFIAL)

Environmental Campaign Committee
REEHEES
& Merit Award

BEE
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We recognise that supply chain management is essential to
operational efficiency and therefore work closely with suppliers and
contractors to effectively and efficiently meet our clients’ needs,
while emphasising responsible operating practices.

Our Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers, ensuring
that their entire production process is in line with our standards
and specifications. Not only do we require our new suppliers to
submit all relevant documents for review, we also run background
checks to evaluate their reliability. We conduct regular inspections
and evaluations to review the standards of our suppliers and cease
cooperation with unqualified suppliers. We are committed to
developing and maintaining effective and mutually fruitful working
relationships throughout our entire supply chain.

The Group also puts forward new requirements on the products and
services provided by suppliers are up to the international standard
in terms of quality and environmental protection, motivating the
suppliers to formulate appropriate environmental policies and
promoting energy-saving emission reduction and low-carbon
production. Regular meetings between the Group and suppliers
would be held for communicating and sharing the experience of
environmental protection.

During the Year, 2,226 suppliers in Hong Kong, 13 suppliers in PRC
and 46 suppliers from overseas were engaged by the Group.
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We understand that good quality products and services are keys
to success and enhance our competitive edge. To this belief, our
Group has established the Quality Management System embedded
with risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and mitigations. Such
system is implemented by reliable business teams, ensuring the
quality of our products and services as well as efficiently handling
of all queries from our clients. The heads of individual divisions
discuss any particular incident related to our products and services
with the relevant division managers, project managers, supporting
departments and committees. They share their views regarding
various aspects of good standards and statutory compliance.
Corresponding improvement plans are set out and implemented
across all levels. The senior management also regularly conducts
reviews with business units and takes necessary precautionary
measures whenever applicable.

We maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording systems at
various stages, including material delivery notes, origin certificates,
method statements, traceability records, inspection and testing
reports, etc., to facilitate any needs for a recall. Recall procedures are
traced through our recording system to obtain relevant information
to make decisions on any further action that may be necessary.

Our Group implements stringent quality control measures including
detailed operational flows and procedures, project management
and staff training to ensure that we deliver high quality services
to our clients. In recognition of our quality assurance, our various
subsidiaries have been accredited with 1ISO 9001 quality management
system standard and ISO 10002 customer management system
standard to sustain our business position. Through the ISO 9001
quality management system and I1SO 10002 customer management
system, the internal and external factors are determined to support
our Group strategic direction.

BMPREEER KRB TIKIKE
B BEARARMNBFES -AEE
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Applicable laws and regulations governing property development
and assets leasing are being complied with, and practices are
being conformed to those promulgated by Lands Department,
Buildings Department and Planning Department. In property
development projects, from design to after-sales care, health and
safety considerations are taken into account and that our Group is
committed to the delivery of high-quality products and services to
the satisfaction of customers.

To address regulatory requirements in the context of property
sales, in addition to internal staff members, external legal advisors
and professional consultancy firms are appointed to advise on
the compliance of relevant laws and regulations, particularly the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance which regulates
the provisions of sales brochures, promotional advertisements,
price lists, show flats, viewing of properties, sales arrangements,
execution of agreements, register of transactions and the like, as
well as observance and performance of the conditions set out in the
Land Grant and/or the pre-sale consent under the Lands Department
Consent Scheme.

Our security and facility management divisions also adopt
control measures in respect of routine operations and comply
with the relevant laws and regulations, especially the license
requirements under the Security and Guarding Services Ordinance
and responsibilities of a property manager under the Building
Management Ordinance, in order to ensure efficiency, quality
assurance and uniformity of performance. During the Year, the
divisions received several awards in the aspects of property safety
management and security services, which affirms our efforts in
maintaining occupational safety and health and our professionalism
in the industries.

In the view of the feedback from customers, we treat it seriously and
view it as means to consistently improve the quality of our products
and services we offer. The Group has standard procedures in place
to deal with the client’s feedback. Upon receiving any feedback, the
Group, subject to the situation, will take action and keep track of its
settlement, ensuring every feedback being handled properly. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of complaints
related to safety and health reasons.
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The Group is committed to ensuring the intellectual property
rights throughout its course of operation. We primarily rely on the
intellectual property laws in Hong Kong, confidentiality agreements
and internal policies to protect all intellectual property related to the
Group and operations. The employee handbook stipulates the code
and provision that require our employees to comply.

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy protection
policy. Consumer data including project-related information and
other sensitive information are subject to access right control to
ensure its security and prevent any abuse or misuse. Our Group
observes Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and reviews our personnel
and business practices from time to time to ensure its compliance.

Our Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are important
contributors to the value of our assets and business. It is therefore
essential for all employees to ensure that our Group’s reputation
will not be tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Various
policies and guidelines are in place to avoid any breach of the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

Employees should decline an offer of gift if acceptance of it could
affect their objectivity in conducting our Group's business, induce
them to act against the interests of our Group or lead to allegations
of impropriety. If an employee wishes to accept a gift with the
amount greater than the limit as stated in our Employee Handbook,
such employee should seek written permission from the managing
director of the particular subsidiary or our Group. Any employee in
breach of the code of conduct in the Employee Handbook will be
subject to disciplinary action including termination of employment.

Periodic written reminders are sent to our business partners and
suppliers about our Group's policy regarding “No Acceptance of
Advantages”.
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The Group encourages the employees to report all illegality,
irregularity, malpractice, unethical acts or behaviours, inappropriate
conducts or actions, which may damage the Group’s interests,
and makes sure that there are sufficient protections for such
whistleblowers. Messages received will be looked into by the
management team at the appropriate level in a timely and impartial
manner. A whistleblowing policy has been put in place, which setting
out the guideline for reporting on irregularities found at work.

During the Year, the Group did not find any significant risks relating
to corruption and was not subject to any confirmed corruption cases
involving the Group or any corruption litigations against the Group
or any of its employees. In the future, the Group will continue to
give priority to anti-corruption and integrity, strengthen supervision
of anti-corruption and expand the scope of external supervision for
the healthy development of the Company.

All employees should avoid any situation which may lead to an
actual or potential conflict of interests and should make a declaration
in writing to the head of the subsidiary or our Group when such
a situation arises. Failure to do so may give rise to allegations of
favoritism, abuse of authority or even corruption.

Over the years, the Group recognises our obligation to take up
CSR and makes our best endeavour in paying back to the society.
This Year, our contribution focuses on four core areas: Community,
Education, Environmental Concerns and Health. We encourage our
staff to take part in various voluntary services to spread positivity into
the community.

The Group is aware of the unprecedented challenges that Covid-19
has brought to the community. Despite the social restrictions that we
are facing, we still make our best effort to reach out for the needy
and to provide resources and assistance to the community under the
pandemic.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR HERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (1v) %i]:% 2 (&)

Community (continued)

This Year, Chun Wo joined hands with our annual CSR partner “CoCreative
Partners” to carry out a series of home renovation activities named “Repairs
Givers”. The aim of this collaboration is to improve the housing environment of
the elderly, listen to their needs and provide care for them.

On 28 June and 13 August 2021, our staff visited two elderly families in San
Po Kong and Cheung Sha Wan. In addition to making minor repairs to their
homes, we also accompanied the elderlies to yum cha, talked with them
and bought food for one disabled elderly family, spending meaningful time
together.

We will continue to encourage colleagues and partners, including suppliers
and subcontractors, to take part in upcoming elderly home repairs activities to
inspire everyone to do good deeds.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR ERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (VL EZEH )
Community (continued) #HE (&)
Harmony Community Programme MEHEEE G E

E20144F 8 - AEBHIT [FELEE
BErE - BEMREAA R EE
WRAERDBEEBEERNTHE
Lo N ZATEIT BRPIBEIREEB18
EEATHNETISHSE THEN
METES  URISHRE-

Since 2014, the Group has initiated the “Harmony Community
Programme” with the aims to strengthen our ties with the local
community and to minimise the adverse effects brought by our
construction projects. In this programme, our staff of construction sites
from 18 districts of Hong Kong are encouraged to serve the community
by joining a wide range of regularly organised voluntary events.

Y5

On 10 July 2021, colleagues from the “Hong Kong
Jockey Club Sha Tin Racecourse” project collaborated
with The Salvation Army to go to the village at Hung Mui
Kuk in Shatin, visited and distributed gift bags under the
scorching heat to around 50 low-income families living
in squatters to understand their needs and send them
blessings.

M2021F78108 - RE [BEABESFEPHES]EE
METEMETAE fTAED RLABEANE EBET
RHRERL MOS0FERAREREERE AT
R M0 PR B 5K I A P9k E A4 o

6

On 31 July 2021, colleagues from the “Development of Anderson Road Quarry
Site"” project co-organised the “Summer Caring Action” with the Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society. The team visited residents of Lok Wah Estate, Shun

M2021F78318 KB [&
ERBARSERE|EBN
ETHEEAREGMNES
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Lee Estate, Shun On Estate

| and Shun Tin Estate and

distributed care packages
prepared by the Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society to
around 60 elderies. The aim
of this visit is to understand
the effect of the project on
local residents in the district
and to provide care for the
elderlies.
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Harmony Community Programme (continued) ML BESE (F)

-

To bring joy to the community during Christmas time, on
18 December 2021, colleagues from the “Development of
Anderson Road Quarry Site” project collaborated with Hong
Kong Family Welfare Society to organise a balloon twisting
workshop at the community centre near the construction
site. We taught a group of primary students twist balloon art
and celebrated the festival together. We also set up a booth
at the nearby On Tai Estate to give out their DIY work to the
neighbours to share the joy.

BEERHEE BT EERELE RE [REEBRESS
EBIEEMETEEBRERHEN2021F128188 A 1EE
BEMBRMIEPORE T —ERRERIES - B
B)BLEMARE —RENEA BAEENIIHNLZEE
REBH BECHTFEROBLMOIERUADZE M -

As a corporate, the Group is committed to nurturing future talents EEBE—RB1E KEBHM IR AERK
for our society. This Year, the Group continues to offer financial and HEEFEAS -RAEE KNEBEE
professional support for the youngsters. In addition to scholarships MER-—RREHEMBEENRFEZE -
and donations to local universities and educational events, talks, BT ARMAKENHE THIRHEE
seminars and internships are also organised to inspire our next S REBIN IR EE e
generation. REBE - ABET -—RKK-

On 17 November 2021, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick p, the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company was invited by the Association for
the Rights of Industrial Accident Victims to Lai Chack Middle School to
enjoy students’ drama performance and as a guest speaker to share
information about occupational safety and health. The aim of this event
is to build up students’ awareness towards social responsibility and the
idea of respecting one another before they start their career.

R2021F 1M A17E  EIH BT HEERF ARATHARY —
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= __.ﬂ Since 2015, Chun Wo has participated in the “Business-School
Partnership Programme” organised by the Education Bureau. In this
year's event, we held a three-day “Chun Wo Career Internship”, inviting
five secondary students to work at our office. During the internship,
students not only helped to organise blood donation activities and
perform clerical tasks, but also visited our machinery warehouse at Lau
Shui Heung, Fanling. This internship provided students an opportunity
to learn outside the classroom, in areas such as professional mechanical
knowledge and purchasing procedures, offering an interesting and
practical summer experience.

ZAB2015F RS EHE BN [BRAEIETE ] RS FNFT
BAERASHM=RNENBEXER | BFELRT2LET RN
WMAETE-BRHHE RAEMRHBHERBNEHREEXET
B B2B T RALNHERKENKREE - RREERRZM
EREERENEBREXRUMAE RERFS RRFREHEEGH
ERNZEHER-

Environmental protection is a social responsibility for all individuals, RERBEESEAANTEET ER
especially for corporates. In addition to implementing safety and TENHEEA- R TR IMWERR
environmental measures in construction sites, we encourage our staff ERERERE RMTASHHE ISR
to participate in different activities to protect our planet. EIBEE)  HFIFEMIR -

On 17 July 2021, a group of Chun Wo staff volunteers
participated in the “Construction Industry Shoreline Cleanup
Day” organised by the Construction Industry Sports &
Volunteering Programme. On that day, we went to Little Palm
Beach in Sai Kung to clean up rubbish on the beach, with the aim
of reducing shoreline pollution caused by the waste. The team
worked hard under the scorching sun to protect the shoreline!

R2021%F78178 HEME THEKNELIREL2 N T HEE
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On 13 November 2021, Chun Wo participated in a “Clear
Wedelia Trilobata” event in collaboration with World Wide Fund
for Nature Hong Kong (“WWF"). Guided by the staff at Mai Po
Nature Reserve, our staff removed the invasive plant Wedelia
Trilobata together to prevent it from harming other plant species.
They also learned more about the importance of ecological
balance and the natural habitats of wildlife in Hong Kong.

R2021F11A13H - B2 N T Bt RERESERES
g ([tRERESS]) AERNN [BREEFEHE | JEH -
EARBERARER TEAEMNTET HMAMNE T AR R
ABEYNEEEHESE BIEERESEMEYRE P Jh
HARTENEEULREETLEHEYHNAARAEEHEE

ZHT -
In face of the Covid-19 pandemic, health is definitely one of our RFEMAEET EERERKARK
top concerns. Besides ensuring a safe and healthy workplace for our MHOEE@EEI-KMBRT AE TRHE
staff, we also strived our best to help those in need through different ZERENIIESH TRENEBRT
ways. AARENERENALT

Under the pandemic, the blood bank of Hong Kong has
been facing a state of emergency. On 6 October 2021,
Chun Wo and the Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion
Service co-organized “Chun Wo Blood Donation Day 2021"
to encourage colleagues to demonstrate the spirit of “1
Blood Donation Saves 3”. Our colleagues showed their
enthusiastic support to the “Give Blood Alliance” program
by donating blood on that day.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR ERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V) HEZHE &)
Health (continued) e (&)

Chun Wo and Lifewire jointly organised the
“Lifewire Run 2021 Ho Sheung Heung Charity
Run” on 14 November 2021. The event
attracted 1,500 runners to participate despite
under strict pandemic precautionary measures,
raising over HK$2 million to support children
who are suffering from rare diseases and
help them with expensive medications and
healthcare.

FR20215F11 A148 - (EFNER (E o Bt i8) HF R [2021F 0 « 7 L BEZW| - BE B HREE M THREHOH
RIEE - = OB EN I 5] H£1,500% 8 F 2 8 - I F15 = 5082,000,0008 7T BIEENEEFRARNZE &8
BN S ENEREREELRE-

Together, we fight the virus! In addition to financial support to
the anti-pandemic events of HKYIC, on 31 March 2022, a group
of our staff joined the volunteer event organised by HKYIC
to pack and distribute anti-pandemic packs. These resources
were distributed to the community and people in need through
volunteer groups and community organisations.
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Fariner Employer Award B 1§ H

Chun Wo is proud to have been awarded the
“15 Years Plus Caring Company” logo from
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service for
the Year 2021/2022. Being a recipient of the
“Caring Company” logo for 17 consecutive
years confirms our Company’s effort in
upholding our social responsibilities. The
Group's subsidiary City Security Company
Limited and City Professional Management
Limited also hold the “Caring Company 10+"
logo for its dedication in building a caring
community.

The Group and Chun Wo have been awarded
the “Happy Company” logo from the
Happiness at Work Promotional Scheme while
Chun Wo has been awarded for 9 consecutive
years, confirming the Company’s commitment
in maintaining a positive environment and
motivating team spirit in the workplace.

Chun Wo has been honoured with the “Partner
Employer Award” from The Hong Kong General
Chamber of Small and Medium Business for 7
consecutive years, recognising the Company's
efforts in hiring graduates from local technical
institutes and universities and offering training
opportunities and practical experience that
facilitate their long-term career planning.
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Chun Wo has garnered the “Industry Cares”
recognition by the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries. The accolade acknowledges Chun
Wo's enthusiasm in participating in CSR events
and recognises its outstanding performance in
fulfilling CSR in the past year.

Chun Wo has been recognised as a “Silver
Corporate Member” of the WWF this Year,
recognising the Company’s commitment in
partnering with WWF to drive sustainability
through business practices and the support of
WWEF's programmes.

The Group has been recognised as
"Breastfeeding Friendly Workplace” by Unicef
this Year. In order to give the best working
environment for working mothers, the Group
has extended maternity leave to 14 weeks
and paternity leave to 7 days and introduced

| nursing rooms in our offices and on several

construction sites to give privacy to nursing
mothers.

Our Group for its part recognises the importance of CSR and, moving
forward, we will continue to improve our performance in this area.
Following the expansion of our Group’s business in Hong Kong and
Asia, we will endeavour to introduce CSR initiatives in these business
units and the communities in which they operate as well.
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Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 49, graduated from Columbia University, New York in
1995 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science and
Mathematics, and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the New York University
School of Law in 1998 and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010. Mr. Pang has served as a standing
committee member of Hebei Province of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference since January 2018, has been appointed as a vice
president of Belt & Road General Chamber of Commerce in April 2018 and
a member of council of the Vocational Training Council since July 2019,
and has served as the chairman of Executive Board of the Hong Kong Real
Property Federation since September 2019.

Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the assistant
to the late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam Chun. Mr. Pang was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director in April 2010
and re-designated as the Co-Chairman of the Company and the Non-
executive Director in January 2015. He has been further re-designated as
the Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director since March
2017. Mr. Pang is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and
Executive Committee and a member of the Management Committee.
He is also currently the Chairman of the property development executive
board of the Group, responsible for the management of the overall
property development and assets leasing business of the Group. He also
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Pang is
the elder brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat
Sum, Rita, a senior management of the Company, and the son of Madam
Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director. Mr. Pang is a director of
GT Winners Limited ("GT Winners”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Mr. Pang, Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita each owns 45%, 45% and
10% equity interest in GT Winners.

Deputy Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 53, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the China University
of Political Science and Law, a Master's degree in Business Administration
of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a Master of Laws
degree in International Economic Law of City University of Hong Kong.
He was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in 1994 and a senior economist
in the PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 23 years of corporate management
experience and extensive experience in transactions of mergers and
acquisitions and investment and financing. He was a director of a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and two companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Xu was appointed as the Co-
Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director in January 2015. He
has been re-designated as the Deputy Chairman of the Company in March
2017 and is currently a member of the Management Committee and
Executive Committee. Mr. Xu also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company.
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Chief Executive Officer

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 47, graduated from the University of California, Berkeley
in the United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree and
obtained a Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United
States in 1998 and a Master's degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of
Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of California, United
States. He has over 22 years of geotechnical design and construction
experience in the United States and Hong Kong. He has served as a
member of the Construction Industry Council since February 2017. He
has also been appointed as a member of the Aviation Development and
Three-runway System Advisory Committee since August 2021 and a non-
executive director of the Insurance Authority since December 2021. Ir Dr.
Pang was appointed as Justice of the Peace by the Government of Hong
Kong in June 2017.

Ir Dr. Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed as the Executive
Director since April 2010 and acted as the Deputy Chairman of the
Company from April 2010 to March 2017. Ir Dr. Pang has been appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April 2017 and acted
as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company from April 2017 to January
2019. He is also the Chairman of the Management Committee and a
member of the Executive Committee. He leads the chief executive officer
office for managing overall performance of the construction business and
is the chairman of the City Services Group executive board of the Group
and a member of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for management of the overall professional services and
property development and assets leasing businesses of the Group. Ir Dr.
Pang is the younger brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman
of the Company and the Executive Director and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum,
Rita, a senior management of the Company, and also the son of Madam
Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director, both of Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are controlling shareholders of
the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Shea, aged 55, graduated from Monash University of Australia with
a Bachelor's degree in Business and later completed a postgraduate
programme of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master's degree
in Economics from Jinan University, China and a Master of Laws degree
from Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia,
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants of the United Kingdom and Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant. He is also
a Chartered Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and obtained a Certificate of Pass in
Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong Certified Tax Advisers Serving
in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone,
Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by Shenzhen Municipal Office of the State
Administration of Taxation and Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau.

Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in listed
companies and worked as qualified accountant and company secretary in
various companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange over
the years. He was the group financial controller of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 01184) from 1999 to 2005. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00371) since 2002 and is also the chairman of the audit committee
of the company. He has also been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) since 2015
and is the chairman of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the company. Mr. Shea joined the Group
as Financial Controller of property development segment in 2008 and
has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company
and the Company Secretary since 2015. He has been appointed as
Executive Director since July 2017 and is also currently a member of the
Management Committee and Executive Committee. He is also currently
the member of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall property development and
assets leasing business of the Group. Mr. Shea also holds directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Madam Li, aged 71, joined the Group in 1975 and has over 47 years’
experience in the construction industry. Madam Li previously acted as an
Executive Director from July 1992 to February 2015 and had continued to
be a member of the senior management of the Group thereafter. She has
rejoined the Board as an Executive Director since November 2017. She also
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Madam Li is the
mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman of the Company and
Executive Director, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita,
a senior management of the Company. She is a director of GT Winners
, the controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing
Rules). Madam Li, Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum,
Rita each owns 45%, 45% and 10% equity interest in GT Winners.

Ms. Wong, aged 36, graduated from Occidental College, Los Angeles in
the United States in 2006 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and
has over 15 years' experience in marketing and business management.
She is currently the co-founder and director of Wow Concepts Limited
and founder of Topfit Limited. Ms. Wong is a member of Omicron Delta
Epsilon, the International Honor Society in Economics. Ms. Wong has been
appointed as Non-executive Director since May 2020 and is also a member
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Yim, aged 63, is the founder, executive director, chairman and
managing director of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184) since May
1993. He has been appointed as a chairman and executive director of
Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (@ company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) in October 2015. Dr. Yim has been
an independent director of Innolux Corporation (a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, stock code: 3481.TW) since July 2013.

Dr. Yim is currently the president of the Hong Kong Justice of the Peace
Association, the honorary vice chairman of the Hong Kong Electronic
Industries Association, a member of Yan Chai Hospital Advisory Board, a
member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Shanghai
Committee, the vice chairman of the Hongkong-Shanghai Economic
Development Association, the chairman of the Tsuen Wan District Civic
Education Committee and the vice chairman of Tsuen Wan District JPC
Honorary President Council.

Dr. Yim was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in May
2020. He has been re-designated as Non-executive Director in September
2021 and is also a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.
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Mr. Wu, aged 55, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and
a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon Fraser University in
Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst of The Institute
of Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996. Mr. Wu was the chief executive
officer of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (now known as Sunwah
Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00188) from April 2006 to September
2010. He was also a director and chief executive officer of RHB Hong Kong
Limited from April 2011 to October 2017. Mr. Wu has been appointed
as the non-executive, independent member of the board of Document
Security Systems, Inc. (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
stock code: DSS) since October 2019, the independent director of Alset
EHome International Inc. (a company listed on NASDAQ, stock code: AEI)
since November 2020, the independent nominee director of Alset Capital
Acquisition Corp. (a company listed on NASDAQ, stock code: ACAX)
since January 2022 and the independent non-executive director of JY
Grandmark Holdings Limited (“JY Grandmark”, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 02231) since November
2019. Mr. Wu has also been appointed as managing director, Investment
Banking of Glory Sun Securities Limited since January 2019.

Mr. Wu previously worked for a number of international investment banks
and possesses over 29 years of experience in the investment banking,
capital markets, institutional broking and direct investment businesses. He
is a registered license holder to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
He has been appointed as a member of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference since January 2013.

Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
since February 2015 and is also the Chairman of Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Mr. Lam, aged 53, is the general manager of Wanda Hotel Development
Company Limited (stock code: 00169), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and a member of the Dalian Wanda Group. He
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of OOH
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 08091) since August 2019 and the independent non-executive
director of CCIAM Future Energy Limited since October 2020 (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00145). He
was an executive director of Yuexiu Property Company Limited (stock
code: 00123), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and also the chief financial officer of the Yue Xiu Group. Mr. Lam was
previously the head of Corporate Finance and Business Development
at GOME Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (now known as GOME
Retail Holdings Limited) (stock code: 00493) (“GOME"), one of China’s
largest electronics retailers, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining GOME, he spent about 10 years working in
investment banking and capital markets at Schroders Asia, ABN AMRO
Rothschild, and Deutsche Bank. Mr. Lam is a Chartered Financial Analyst
and holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Rice University
in the United States. He has extensive experience in corporate finance,
financial and accounting fields.

Mr. Lam has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director since

January 2017 and is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 8Comm, (LB, FCPA (Aust.)

Mr. Ho, aged 45, is the chief operating officer, executive director and a
member of the executive committee of NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS")
(@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
00659). He joined NWS in January 2018 and is responsible for overseeing
the business development and mergers and acquisitions affairs, and certain
businesses of NWS. He also oversees the day-to-day administrative and
operational functions of the company. He was also the senior investment
director of New World Development Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00017), an
executive director of New World Strategic Investment Limited and was
a partner of an international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and
Jacobson LLP.

Mr. Ho is a non-executive director of Shoucheng Holdings Limited (stock
code: 00697) since May 2018 and Wai Kee Holdings Limited (stock code:
00610) since December 2018 and an independent non-executive director
of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02307) since
May 2010. He was an independent non-executive director of Hailiang
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02336) during May 2014 to
August 2020 (all of the above-mentioned companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Ho was also a director and/or senior
executive in several Hong Kong listed public companies.

Mr. Ho is the deputy chairperson of CPA Australia Greater Bay Area
Committee, a member of the China Committee of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce, a committee member of the General Committee
of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, a committee member
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Shenyang, a
standing committee member of the Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia
and a vice chairman of Inner Mongolia & Hong Kong Youth Exchange
Association. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Bachelor
of Laws degree from The University of Sydney, Australia and was admitted
as a solicitor in New South Wales, Australia and England and Wales and as
a solicitor and barrister in the High Court of Australia. He is also a fellow
member of CPA Australia. Mr. Ho has extensive experience in the area
of corporate management, investments, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition transactions and international brand and retail management.

Mr. Ho has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in
January 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.

B EHTEE o)

o] & 18 Sc 4 BComm, LLB, FCPA (Aust.)
Al - 4555 AFAIEEEER AR ([
gliz]) (—RHRBSAERLETZAR] K
DR 00659) 7 B fE S BAE - HITES
RHITEBEEKE - HHR2018F1 A IMA ST
Al BEEEFAENERHENMEHR
WEEERETESK - FTAEEEMNEFE
EENER -GS EHERERER AT
(—HERBZATER ETZ AR RO
00017) 2 B RIEEHBE FHARKIRES
RARZHATES K —EEBREMEBITE
B 72 {26 7T (Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and
Jacobson LLP) Z & A o

A ER2018FSHBETERERBRA
B (B R 5R : 00697) K 7A2018412 A #E £
FEEEEBEFRA A (BRH AR :00610) 2
IEMITE E A RA2010E5 A B & IR R
BT AR A7 (R HARS%:02307) 2 Bz
EHMITE F - HMN2014458 2020484
EESBEEERERA A (BRMHNRR:
02336) 2B IEHITE S (LT BE AR
REREFTERET) AEENERZRE
BETABRRRETESEL SR EREA

E\o

MEERBEMNEFMAENERZEGET
FRERRETREZEERE FELD
NRABHEFBLEERE FEARBUAW
BEREGMZEELRE ARLHBRET
FHAGRBKRENAREEABTFRIN
EGRTFE -ARERARMNBEAERHE
B EB B0 W RRMNTERBE LS
SRR N B R TSR] 2 B EA BRI =
BE 58 A] 2 12 B B K R B o 162 7R 23 N & &1 B
NREERGE -AENEXERE RE ©
ERE BRI LRERRELTEEHER
BREEEELR-

MEER2017F1ABERERBUIFNTE
= NRAERZES FHZESRERZR
BgZKE-

TMB A ERBIERAR AR 2021/22F 3K

81



82

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Dr. Yen Gordon BSc(ME), MBA, DBA

Dr. Yen, aged 52, graduated from Boston University in the United States
with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Manufacturing Engineering in
1990. He was also awarded a Master of Business Administration degree
from McGill University in Canada in 1992 and a Doctor of Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. Dr.
Yen is currently the founding managing partner of Radiant Tech Ventures
Limited, an innovation and technology venture capital firm. He has more
than 26 years of management and operational experience in private and
listed companies in investment, global supply chain, manufacturing and
infrastructure industries. Dr. Yen is registered as a responsible officer to
carry out Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
He has also been appointed as a non-executive director and non-executive
vice chairman of Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00420) since 2013 and
2018 respectively and an independent non-executive director of Impro
Precision Industries Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 01286) since 2019. He was an independent
non-executive director of Hopewell Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, former stock code: 00054)
from May 2012 to May 2019. Dr. Yen is a member of the Henan Province
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
the PRC; Honorable Life-Chairman of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Textiles Limited; and chairman of the Hong Kong Business Angel Network.

Dr. Yen has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in
September 2021 and is also a member of the Nomination Committee.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASEN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Group

Mr. Yiu Chi Sang, Andy Djp(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR),
MSc(C.Mgt), MRICS, MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Mr. Yiu, aged 66, graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in 1981
with a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He was awarded a Master of Arts
degree in Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a Master of
Science degree in Construction Management in 1998 from City University
of Hong Kong. He further obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree in 2004
from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a
member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the Institution
of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers as well as a fellow
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the United Kingdom
and the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has over 41 years’
experience in the construction industry, including civil, building, foundation
and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau, Vietnam and
the Mainland China. He re-joined the Group in 2008 and was the Chief
Operating Officer of the construction segment of the Group. He is currently
the Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, responsible
for assisting the Chief Executive Officer of the Company to oversee the
operation of the construction business of the Group.

Construction Segment

Sr Lee Ka Lun, Stephen BA(AS), B. Bldg, Dip Proj Man (RICS),
FRICS, FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Sr Lee, aged 65, graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree in 1980 and a Bachelor of
Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) with
fellow membership of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and membership of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators. He is on the List of Arbitrators of Hong Kong
International Arbitration Centre and is a member of the Joint Panel of
Arbitrators of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects. Sr Lee has 41 years’ experience in quantity surveying
and commercial management in Hong Kong, the Mainland China, Taiwan,
Macau, Singapore, Malaysia and the Philippines. He worked with the
Group from 1998 to 2005 and re-joined the Group in 2011. Sr Lee was
the Chief Executive Officer of the construction segment of the Group from
2017 and is currently the Chairman of the construction segment of the
Group.
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EFREREEASEN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Mr. Ko Wing Nin, Ken B5c(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE, FHKIE,
RPE(Civil), FCHKRI

Mr. Ko, aged 58, graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a Bachelor
of Science and Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He also obtained
a Master's degree in Civil and Structural Engineering from the University
of Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994 and a Master's degree in
Construction Law from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011.
He is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom,
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong and a Fellow of
the China Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has 36 years’ experience
in the construction industry including civil, building, foundation and
marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau and the United Arab
Emirates. Mr. Ko joined the Group in 2006 and is currently the Business
Head of Foundations Division of the construction segment of the Group,
responsible for the operation of the foundations business.

Mr. Luk Wai Lam, William B. £ng, EMBA, MICE, CEng, FHKIE, RPE,
ANEC384ECCPM

Mr. Luk, aged 44, graduated from the University College London in 2000
with a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He was also
awarded an Executive Master of Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2016 and a NEC3 and NEC4 Engineering
and Construction Contract Project Manager Accreditation in 2019. He
is @ member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in the United Kingdom,
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong. Mr. Luk has 22 years’
experience in construction industry, including infrastructure and project
management in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China. Mr. Luk
joined the Group in 2010 and is currently the Operations Director of the
construction segment of the Group, responsible for the operation of the
civil business.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASEN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)
Mr. Chan Anthony Yin Chung

Mr. Chan, aged 36, graduated from University of British Columbia in
Canada in 2008. He is a council member of Hong Kong Construction
Association (“HKCA"), a honorary treasurer of HKCA Civil Engineering
Committee, a vice chairman of HKCA Environmental Committee and a
honorary chairman of HKCA Young Members Society. He is also a board
member of the Construction Industry Council — Zero Carbon Park, a
committee member of Lifewire Foundation Limited, a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Construction STEM Alliance and the chairman of
Construction Industry Council course advisory panel on civil engineering.
Mr. Chan became a business partner of the Group in 2019. He has
substantial experience in construction industry and currently is the director
of Kwan Lee Holding Limited and is responsible for the management of its
overall business.

Dato’ Lim Yuk Meng, Weslie BAE FCCA, CAM)

Dato’ Lim, aged 48, graduated from the University of Strathclyde in the
United Kingdom with a Bachelor’s degree of Accounting and Finance in
1995. He is a fellow member of Associated Chartered Certified Accountant
and a member of Malaysia Institute of Accountant. Dato’ Lim has 27
years' experience in accounting and finance, business development and
management, and interior design and fit-out business in Malaysia, Hong
Kong, the Mainland China and Cambodia. He became a business partner
of the Group in 2019 and is the founder and managing director of ECO
Group Holdings Sdn. Bhd., responsible for the management of its overall
business.

Er Ng Swee How, Vincent B. sc.Eng.(Hons)., M.Sc.Eng., PEng.,
C Eng., ACPE., MIES., M.Con.E.S

Er Ng, aged 67, graduated from the Aberdeen University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering (Hons) in 1980. He
has also awarded a Master of Civil Engineering degree from the National
University of Singapore in 1985. Er Ng is a Registered Professional Engineer
in Singapore, a Registered Asean Chartered Professional Engineer and
a member of the Institution of Engineers, Singapore. He has 42 years’
experience in structural design, civil engineering and project management
in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Sri Lanka and Vietnam. Er Ng became
a business partner of the Group in 2016 and is currently the managing
director of R.J. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd., responsible for the
management of its overall business.
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EFREREEASEN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Professional Services Segment
Mr. Tam Chi Kwong, Steve Visc(Pv)

Mr. Tam, aged 58, obtained a higher diploma in structural engineering and
an associateship in civil and structural engineering from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1986
and 1988 respectively. He further obtained a postgraduate diploma in civil
engineering and a master of science degree in project management from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2009 respectively. Prior
to joining the Group in 2002, he had served a construction company,
responsible for various construction projects in Hong Kong. He has more
than 15 years of experience in corporate management. Mr. Tam is currently
the director of the Group overseeing the overall performance of the
internal operations of the Group. He is also the Chief Executive Officer of
City Services Group Limited, responsible for overseeing the management of
the professional services business of the Group. Mr. Tam holds directorships
in certain subsidiaries of the Company and is also a member of other
business executive board of the Group.

Non-franchised Bus Services Segment
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Calvin 88AMktg)

Mr. Wong, aged 37, graduated from Oxford Brookes University in
the United Kingdom in 2009 with a degree in Bachelor of Business
Administration in Marketing. He has 12 years’ experience in local logistics
industry and business management. Mr. Wong became a business partner
of the Group in 2018 and is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the
non-franchised bus services segment of the Group, responsible for the
management of its overall business.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASEN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Education Segment
Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita 84, /D

Ms. Pang aged 48, graduated from Harvard University, the United States
in 1996 with a Bachelor of Arts degree. She has also awarded a degree
of Juris Doctor from Duke University, North Carolina in the United States
in 1999. Ms. Pang is a member admitted to the State of Bar of New York
and Massachusetts in the United States and a certified public accountant
of Delaware in the United States. Prior to joining the Group in 2019, Ms.
Pang had practiced law at Citibank (Hong Kong) and US law firms and
has over 21 years’ experience in legal and compliance fields in the United
States and Hong Kong. Ms. Pang is the founder and director of See
Change Education Limited, responsible for the management of education
business of the Group.

Ms. Pang is the younger sister of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the
Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director, the elder sister of
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and the Executive Director, and also the daughter of Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina, the Executive Director. Ms. Pang owns 10% equity interest in GT
Winners, the controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in which each of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li
Wai Hang, Christina owns 45% equity interest.

Construction Finance and Construction Material
E-procurement Segment

Mr. Lam Wai Hung, Roy £MBA, Msc, B. Eng(Hon)

Mr. Lam, aged 37, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2006 with a Bachelor of Engineering in Building Services Engineering.
He has also awarded a Master of Science in Real Estate from The University
of Hong Kong in 2010 and an Executive Master of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018. He has 16 years’
experience in business development and property development. Mr. Lam
worked with the Group from 2006 to 2015, responsible for assisting in
management of projects under construction and property development
segments. Mr. Lam re-joined the Group in 2017 and is currently the
director of Asia One Credit Limited and the Chief Executive Officer of
Mattex Asia Development Limited, responsible for the management of
construction finance and construction material e-procurement businesses
of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEXERERS

The Company has been making continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance into its management structure
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance, upholding a high standard of
ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business,
and ensuring that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the Year. The Board had duly performed its duties relating
to the corporate governance functions and was not aware of any code
provisions of the CG Code being violated during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, after a specific enquiry made by the Company, that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, setting of management targets and supervision
of management performance. The Board confines itself to making
broad policy decisions and also exercising a number of reserved powers
as mentioned below, while delegating responsibility for more detailed
considerations to the Management Committee under the leadership of the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company:

. those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference of
various Board committees (as amended from time to time), for which
Board’s approval must be sought from time to time;

o those functions and matters for which Board’s approval must be
sought in accordance with the Group's internal policy (as amended
from time to time);

o consideration and approval of the ESG report, financial statements
in interim reports and annual reports, announcements and press
releases of interim and annual results;

o focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, financing and Shareholders;

o consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

. reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and
regulatory requirements.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEER/RS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on
significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group.

To enable independent advice accessible by the Board, a Director has a
material conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board, such Director is required to declare such interest and
abstain from voting, but is still able to express his/her opinion. The matter
is considered at a Board meeting and voted on by the Directors who have
no material interest in that transaction. Each Director may seek independent
professional advice as considered necessary to fulfil his/her responsibilities and
in exercising independent judgment when making decisions in furtherance
of his/her Directors’ duties at the Company's expense. Independent
professional advice shall include legal advice and advice of accountants and
other professional financial advisers on matters of law, accounting and other
regulatory matters. Any advice obtained may be made available to other
members of the Board. Each Board Committee should report to the Board on
its decisions and recommendation.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eleven Directors
including five Executive Directors, two NEDs and four INEDs, with INEDs
representing not less than one-third of the Board as required under the
Listing Rules. The Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick s (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 88s jp

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon
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Corporate Governance Report
EXER/RRS

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Each of the NEDs and INEDs has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years. The appointment letter is
renewable subject to consent given by the Company and the respective
NEDs and INEDs. The NEDs and INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Board had at all times during the Year met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with
at least one INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each INED
to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent under the
Listing Rules.

Relationship between Board Members

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman of the Board, and Ir Dr. Pang
Yat Bond, Derrick, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, being
brothers, and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director, is the
mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley is the chairman and executive director of Hi-Level
Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08113) in which Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant,
the Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the
Company Secretary, is an independent non-executive director.

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Madam Li Wai
Hang, Christina, the Executive Directors and/or Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum,
Rita, the senior management of the Company, through the companies
controlled by them, hold minority interests in certain investment vehicles
in which Dr. Yen Gordon, an INED, also has interests. The Nomination
Committee considers the aforesaid business relationships will not affect
Dr. Yen Gordon in performing his duties as an INED.

Save as disclosed above, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.

Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance and maintain a sustainable development
in long run. In this regard, the Nomination Committee has endorsed the
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEER/RS

BOARD COMPOSITION (continuea)

Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the measurable objectives and provides
that the Company should endeavor to achieve board diversity through
consideration of a number of factors and measurable objectives, which
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge.

The Board since 2017 has upheld to consist of at least 1 female member
and currently has two female Directors and as such has achieved gender
diversity in the Board. We will strive to enhance female representation and
achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
stakeholders’ expectation and local recommended best practices.

The Company has also adopted a workforce diversity policy which set
outs the factors and measurable objectives in the employment. Details of
which are provided in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" set out on pages 38 to 74.

While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil its
pledges, appointments of board member and employment will be based
on merit while taking into account diversity.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) setting out the key selection criteria and principles to be used
by the Company in making recommendations on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors to
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skill, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy to nominate suitably qualified candidates
to the Board for consideration and make recommendations on the
appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy
and the Board will review the above policies, as appropriate, to ensure
their effectiveness.
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EEXEERES

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued) EERAEK @

Board Diversity EERMES L

The following charts show the diversity of the Board as of the date of this TXRMIINAREAHEZERZZ It :
report:

Board Composition

6o0d B0 060  bOSE HHOO bOHDED
e & oo6d & @ &d
&

Male ; Female 50 or below ; Over 50 5 years or below Over 5 years

EElcd poglid 505% A T 5088 A = 5 FAT 5FAE

Experience or Expertise

ERNERAR

Construction Corporate Accounting Company
25 Management and Finance Secretarial

Supply Chain

LB G Management

L3EE B RAY AARE o fEsEEE

Property Merger and Investment Retail
Development Acquisition and Financing Management
YR g R &0 RERRME ZEEE
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EXERERS

DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT EEHFESERZTE
MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company had held four board meetings and one RAFEERN AR RBITTNAEERSH
general meeting. The attendance records of each member of the Board K—ABRRAEC - BEERNEZERETZE
and Board committees at the respective meetings during the Year are set @& {AKBRAFEE RN L FHE S #2228
out below: E BN

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEEERY BIEERY

Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

EZR ENZEE R#ZEe §MzEE RRAE

Directors - g3 - g3 AE

Executive Directors HTEE

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman) YERE(ZE) 44 = W = "

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman) ~ $EZE%RE (B12E) 44 - = = 1/
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Y-ARLIRM

(Chief Executive Officer) (178 4%) 44 = = = "
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant Py & Sika

(Chief Financial Officer and (BRYFE#

Company Secretary) REJHE) 44 - - - n
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina FEMLL 44 - - - N
Non-executive Directors FUTEE
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee Eiaia/ME 34 m Wi = 0
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley' BEBEL 44 22 22 - 1
Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco? BERHGET TR n S = = =

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung HREREE 44 M W N N
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhEEE 44 m Wi N N
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang? BELAe 44 22 - 11 /1
Dr. Yen Gordon* BEREL 20 S = = =

1 Re-designated from INED to NED on 15 September 2021 1 R2021F9R1SHABY IFATEST AT HIER

TEE

2 Resigned as NED on 17 July 2021 g R2021F7R17BBREERITES

3 Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2021 g R2021569A15AZ T AREZEEKE

4 Appointed as INED and a member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 4 R2021F9R1SBEEEABIYENTEERIESR

2021 ZEEgKE

TN A BRI ARAT 2021/22%88% 93
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DIRECTORS' CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company's expense. All Directors are regularly provided with information
in respect of the Group’s latest business development and the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements to facilitate their effective performance
of directors’ duties and ensure compliance and maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. During the Year, all Directors had
participated in seminars and/or studied materials on the following topics
for developing and refreshing their knowledge and skills. The Company
has received from all Directors their respective training records for the Year.

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic TELE

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry REERE

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick BB TR

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant RELEEE

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina FEMRZT

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee mta/ A

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley BREBELT

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung AR EE

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt MEELEE

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang (CEREDH:S

Dr. Yen Gordon BB E T
Note:

(a) Corporate Governance
(b) Regulatory

(c) Management

(d) Finance
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the Year, the Board had been led by the Chairman, Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and the role of Chief Executive Officer is performed by
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the chief executive. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board while
the chief executive is responsible for managing the Group's business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Management Committee and the Executive Committee. The respective
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those
set out in the CG Code and are available on the Company’s website. All
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Management Committee

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It operates as
a general management committee with overall delegated authority from
the Board in order to increase the efficiency for the business decision and
facilitate the approval of certain corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Management Committee:

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist the
Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day business of the
Company. It is responsible for the development and implementation of the
business plans for corporate and business units. The Executive Committee
is also supported by the heads of Project Management, cascading
performance management down to project level.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed in April 2005. The primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure
for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the Group
and determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and the senior management of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, all of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
and approved the remuneration packages of and the grant of share
options to Executive Directors and senior management of the Group,
recommended the remuneration of NED and INED and the grant of share
options to NEDs and INEDs to the Board for approval.

Emolument Policy for Directors

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The Group
adopted the following main principles in determining the Directors’
remuneration:

. No individual should determine his/her own remuneration;

o Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with whom
the Group competes for human resources; and

o Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with a
view to motivating and retaining high performing individuals and
enhancing the value of the Company to the Shareholders.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Emolument Policy for Directors (continued)

In addition to the basic salaries, the Share Option Scheme and the Share
Award Scheme have been adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors
for the continual operation and development of the Group.

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 10 to the financial statements of this annual report. The annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group by
band for the Year is set out below:

HK$2,000,000 or below 2,000,000/ 7T A T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was formed in April 2005. The responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
the succession planning for Directors, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose candidates
for appointment to the Board for consideration and the Board will review
the qualifications of the relevant candidates for determining the suitability
to the Group on the basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background. The decision of appointing a director must be approved by
the Board and all Board members’ appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises seven
members, consisting of an Executive Director, two NEDs and four INEDs.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Members of the Nomination Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objectives assessment for the year ended
31 March 2021;

(i)  assessing the independence of the INEDs;

(i) recommending the retiring Directors who offered themselves for
re-election at the 2021 annual general meeting for Shareholders’
approval;

(iv)  considering the re-designation of the INED to NED; and

(v)  considering the appointment of the INED.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998. The Audit
Committee provides an important link between the Board and the
Company's external auditor in matters coming within the scope of the
Group’s audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the external audit and
internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises five
members, consisting of two NEDs and three INEDs with its chairman
possessing appropriate professional qualification, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.
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EEXERERS

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
Members of the Audit Committee:

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

reviewing the annual report and the annual results announcement
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

reviewing the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process, with a recommendation to the
Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor at the 2021
annual general meeting;

approving the remuneration and the terms of engagement letters for
the purpose of appointing the external auditor in connection with
the statutory audit and review of the results announcement by the
external auditor;

reviewing the ESG report of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

reviewing the interim report and the interim results announcement
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2021, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval; and

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures and reviewing the
report of the internal control function on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and conducts
review on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Role of the Board

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in ensuring and reviewing
the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls, risk management and
legal and regulatory compliance of the Group in order to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has put in place policies and procedures, including policies for
delegation of authority clearly defining the limits of authorities designated
to specified positions within the Group. Such policies and procedures set
out the framework for the risk management and internal control systems
for adoption throughout the Group. To ensure that the systems in place
are adequate and address the existing weaknesses in implementation, the
Executive Directors, with the assistance of the executive board of different
business divisions, review the existing policies and practices and issue
directives from time to time to highlight the specific issues and concerns in
order to achieve ongoing improvement on the governance practices within
the Group. The Executive Directors also approve operational and financial
reports, business plans and budgets provided by management of each
business division at regular meetings.

Executive Directors and senior management of the Group are appointed
to the boards of all operating subsidiaries and associated companies of
material importance in order to monitor the operation of these companies.
They attend board meetings and participate in significant decision making
process on reviewing and approving financial budgets, establishing
business plans and controlling performance targets with associated risks
identified. The management teams of different business divisions are
accountable for the performance of their respective divisions on a day-
to-day basis. The Executive Directors review the financial and operational
reports from division management regularly to monitor the performance
and assess the significant risk exposure of the subsidiaries.
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EEXERERS

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
Internal Controls and Risk Management (continued)

The Group’s Finance Department reports to the Board in respect of
overseeing the financial reporting and control systems for all subsidiaries
and associated companies of the Company. The business segments
compile annual budgets for review by the Group’s finance function and
the consolidated annual budgets are presented to the Executive Directors
for approval. The Executive Directors also hold regular meetings with the
management team of business divisions to review the cashflow position
of the Group, consider material ad-hoc projects which require additional
operating or capital expenditure, and make decisions on significant
investment and lending activities. Payment approval is subject to control of
the limits of authorities clearly setting out the authority with reference to
the specified positions of the relevant personnel.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Contracts and Legal Department is responsible for preparing, reviewing
and endorsing all material contracts entered into by Group companies in
order to safequard the interests of the Group against legal risks. It also
oversees the regulatory compliance matters of all Group companies in the
environment of their business operations.

Besides, the Company Secretarial Department is in charge of corporate
secretarial documentation of Group companies and overseeing compliance
matters in relation to the Listing Rules and the relevant corporate laws and
regulations of different jurisdictions.

External legal advisors are engaged to advise the Group on important legal
matters and compliance issues when necessary.

Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function

The Company has established an internal audit function. The internal
audit function conducts internal audit on different business divisions and
functions within the Group on an ongoing basis to assess the effectiveness
and identify weaknesses in the existing internal control, legal and
regulatory compliance and risk management systems of the Group. In
the event that defects are identified, the internal audit function engages
in discussions with the management and recommends suggestions for
improvement.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function (continued)

Delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the internal audit
report prepared by the internal audit function twice every year. Reviews
have been conducted on the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems during the Year and the Board and the Audit Committee are
satisfied that the Group's risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate.

Whilst these policies and procedures are designed to manage the risks
that could adversely impact the ability of the Group to achieve its
business objectives, they do not eliminate such risks and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss
or non-compliance.

Handling of Inside Information

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to handling of inside
information in compliance with the SFO. Employees should preserve
the confidentiality of any inside information according to the manner
specified in the policy and the “Code of Employee Conduct and Business
Ethics” contained in the Staff Handbook. The Group has also adopted
the pre-clearance procedures on dealing in the Company’s securities
and notified Directors and relevant employees of restrictions on dealing
in the Company’s securities during blackout periods to prevent possible
mishandling of inside information within the Group.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young (“EY")
is analysed as follows:
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Annual audit services FEEZRE 5,280

Non-audit services* BRI~ 1,760
7,040

* Such non-audit services include agreed-upon procedures on preliminary — * ZEBEZRBGEOEEEEFREBE 2L RS

announcement of annual results, transaction advisory, tax advisory and compliance
services.
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EEXERERS

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this
annual report.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules as well
as reports to regulators and information disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis. The management has provided to the Board the
necessary explanation and information to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial statements of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, the Company Secretary,
undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
have rights to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, which must
be signed by the requisitionist(s). The requisition must be deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda (the "“Registered Office”) for the attention
of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is received by
the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition
should also be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong
at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603
Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Head
Office”) for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”), Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting right at general meetings of
the Company or not less than one hundred Shareholders may provide a
written requisition to the Company stating the resolution intended to be
proceeded at the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at
the Registered Office for the attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure
that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity,
a copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at the Head
Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company
by Shareholders, Shareholders may refer to the procedures available on the
Company’s website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as
set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies Act and the Bye-laws
when making any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and activities.
The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars are printed and
sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications
and press releases of the Company are published on the Company’s
website (www.asiaalliedgroup.com). The Company's website disseminates
corporate information and other relevant financial and non-financial
information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and encourages the Directors,
the members of the Board committees and senior management of the
Group to attend and answer questions raised by Shareholders at the
general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Shareholders Communication Policy has been updated and adopted for
ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely
access to balanced and understandable information about the Company
in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.
The Shareholders Communication Policy is available on the Company’s
website and will be reviewed by the Board from time to time to reflect
current best practice in communications with Shareholders.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

During the Year, the Company has implemented the Shareholders
Communication Policy effectively by maintaining an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders, and ensuring timely dissemination of information to
Shareholders, mainly through the Company’s announcements, results
announcements, interim and annual reports, general meeting(s), as well as
by making available all the disclosures published to the Stock Exchange’s
website and the corporate communications on the Company’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company's share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s share
registrars are set out in the section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION"
of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent that such information
is publicly available. Shareholders may also send written enquiries or
requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 3798 5700 or by email to
info@asiaalliedgroup.com for the attention of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) for the Company with effect from 1 March 2019 which setting
out the principles and guidelines to provide the Shareholders with regular
dividend.

Subject to the Bye-laws and the statutory requirements, the Company
shall maintain a sustainable and steady profit distribution policy. Under the
Dividend Policy, the Board targets to pay dividends to the Shareholders
in an aggregate annual amount of approximately 30% of the annual
consolidated net profit attributable to the Shareholders.

In proposing distribution of dividend, the Board will take into consideration
of the following factors:

the long-term interest of the Group;
o the general interest of all the Shareholders;
o the sustainable development of the Group;

. the earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirement and
distributable reserves of the Group; and

o any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend/not to recommend final
dividend to the Shareholders for approval and to declare/not to declare any
other dividend, including but not limited to interim dividend and/or special
dividends, after taking into consideration the factors as stated above.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of business integrity,
honesty and transparency in all business dealings. It is in all interest of the
Company to ensure that any inappropriate behavior or malpractice that
compromise the interest of the shareholders, investors, customers and
the wider public does not occur. In line with this commitment to maintain
high ethical standards, the Company has adopted an anti-fraud and anti-
bribery policy which setting out a zero-tolerance approach against all forms
of fraud, bribery and corruption, and comply with all applicable laws and
regulatory requirements.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

To achieve and maintain the highest standards of openness, probity and
accountability, employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty. The Company hence has devised a
whistleblowing policy for all employees and relevant third parties who deal
with the Group, which setting the guideline for reporting on irregularities
found at work. The Group ensures that proper arrangements are in
place for the fair and independent investigation of such matters and for
appropriate follow-up action. The identity of each whistleblower and all
information provided in connection with a whistleblowing report will be
treated with the strict confidence.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has adopted a new Bye-laws with respect
to allow general meetings of the Company to be held as a hybrid meetings
or electronic meetings where Shareholders may attend by electronic means
in addition to or in place of attending physical meetings in person. The
amendment was approved by Shareholders in the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 1 September 2021. Details of the amendment are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 23 July 2021. An up-to-date
version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESRERS

The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and assets leasing, professional services (including provision
of security, tunnel and other facility management services), non-franchised
bus services and manufacturing of PET radiopharmaceuticals.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 134
and 135.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has approved and adopted a Dividend Policy. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Group and the conditions and factors as set out
in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year
will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval. Details of the Dividend Policy
have been disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.10 cents per share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2020/21:
Nil), amounting to approximately HK$19.8 million (2020/21: Nil), to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 5 September 2022. The proposed Final Dividend will be
paid on 13 September 2022 subject to approval by the Shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM"). Together with
the interim dividend of HKO0.88 cent per share paid in January 2022, the
proposed Final Dividend will result in a full-year dividend of HK1.98 cents
for the Year per share (2020/21: HK0.87 cent).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM and the entitlement of the proposed Final Dividend (subject to
approval of the Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the
Company will be closed during the following periods respectively:

TEMERDBFERLFRE

AEELRREBFARLNG LRELE
o RER R REORBRE 2 AR (A
BRERREBEAR L)  ARABH
BIR T 5 BRI (2B D B P B T4

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

AEEEFRRBEAEINRELREZER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration

RERG B P X AEE R K IERR

4:30 p.m. on Monday,

22 August 2022
2022498A228 (EH—)
TF4EF309

Closure of register of members

EEnEknBFELTE

Tuesday, 23 August 2022 to
Friday, 26 August 2022
(both days inclusive)
20228A23H (EH=) &
20224F8A26R (2T )
(BREEEMX)

For determining the entitlement of the proposed Final Dividend

REETREREEBNRIRE ZER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration

B i P XM DAVE S FC B B 12 FREBR

4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
31 August 2022
2022468A31H (EH#=)
TH48530%

Closure of register of members

EiEmERnBFPERTE

Thursday, 1 September 2022 to
Monday, 5 September 2022
(both days inclusive)
2022F9R1H (28m) E
202299 A5H (28—)
(BEERMX)

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM and be eligible for
the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend, all completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than the respective latest time as
stated above for registration.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

A review of the business and the future development of the Group, its
principal risks and uncertainties and an analysis of its performance for the
Year are provided in the sections headed “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT"
set out on pages 13 and 14 and “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS” set out on pages 15 to 37.

The Group's environmental policies and performance, compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations as well as its relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers and other significant stakeholders are discussed
in the section headed "“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT" set out on pages 38 to 74.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 298.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities on issue of equity
securities during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2022 are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme.

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide the directors and
employees of, and technical, financial or corporate managerial advisers
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, and to encourage the
grantees of options to work towards enhancing the value of and for the
benefit of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible Participants

The eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme include (i) any full
time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; (ii) directors (including
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company or of any subsidiary; (iii) part-time employees of the Company
or of any subsidiary with weekly work hours of 15 hours or above; and
(iv) advisors and consultants to the Company or to any subsidiary in the
technical, financial or corporate managerial aspects.

Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all the
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing the ordinary
resolution of the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
Share Option Scheme on 11 December 2017 (i.e. 187,553,384 Shares) (the
“Refreshment”). Since the Refreshment, on 31 March 2022, the Company
offered to grant a total of 40,000,000 share options of which 38,000,000
share options had been accepted.

Furthermore, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at
the date of this report, the Company had 38,000,000 outstanding share
options granted and remaining unexercised under the Share Option
Scheme, representing approximately 2.11% of the issued Shares.

Maximum Entitlement

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to any eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue without separate approval from the
Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Option Period

The option period of a particular option is the period during which the
option can be exercised. Such period is notified by the Board to each
grantee at the time of making an offer. In any event, the option period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.

Acceptance of Options

The grantee of options shall pay HK$1 in favour of the Company by way
of consideration for the grant of options within 30 days from the date of
offer.

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and shall be no less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value per share.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance
with the terms thereof, the Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on 3 September 2012 (i.e. the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme).

Movements of Share Options

Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year were as follows:
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Number of share options

BRERE

Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding

Name or price as at during during as at

category of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date Exercise period 01/04/2021 the Year the Year  31/03/2022

R2021%F R2022F

IR 4718 FEER FEER 3A31R

AR AR EREE B HH (Br) BEBEH T HRITRE B P R IT
Directors:

EF:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic* ~ 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) -

YEREr 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) -

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - (1,200,000 -

31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 900,000 - 900,000

31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 S 900,000 S 900,000

31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

DM A EEIERBER AR 2021226 %
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRESTE (2
Movements of Share Options (continued) BREZ2SE (&)
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
Name or price as at during during as at
category of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date Exercise period 01/04/2021 the Year the Year  31/03/2022
R2021E R2022&
(o 4818 KEER EEER 38318
ABAEEZHER BEAH (Br) GRBH T8 i K AT 48 Bl XM 18 RATAE
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) =
fhEELE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 = (900,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - (1,200,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick* ~ 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
YA IRAM 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant  05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) =
REREE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 = (900,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - (1,200,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina* 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 360,000 = (360,000) =
FERTL 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 360,000 = (360,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 480,000 = (480,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 600,000 = 600,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 600,000 = 600,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 800,000 = 800,000
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee  31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
Fifa/MA 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
BREBEL 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) =
HEREE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) -
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 = (240,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) =
MEELE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 - (240,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BETE 2
Movements of Share Options (continued) BREZESE &
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
Name or price as at during during as at
category of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date Exercise period 01/04/2021 the Year the Year  31/03/2022
R2021% R20225F
T 4718 EEER XEER 3A31H
ARAEARER REBH (Br) GEBEH k2 CESLd R P i R AT B
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 - (180,000) -
A8 EEE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 - (180,000) -
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 = (240,000) -
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 300,000 - 300,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 300,000 - 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 400,000 - 400,000
Dr. Yen Gordon 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 300,000 - 300,000
BEHEL 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 300,000 - 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 400,000 - 400,000

12,000,000 20,000,000  (12,000,000) 20,000,000

Directors’ associate:
BEIHEA
Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita* ~ 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 450,000 - 450,000
32Ny 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 450,000 - 450,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 600,000 - 600,000
- 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
Other employees:
AR
In aggregate 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 4,314,000 - (4,314,000 -
a# 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 4,314,000 - (4,314,000 -
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 5,752,000 - (5,752,000) -
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 4,950,000 - 4,950,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 4,950,000 - 4,950,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 6,600,000 - 6,600,000
14,380,000 16,500,000  (14,380,000) 16,500,000
Total
o 26,380,000 38,000,000 (26,380,000) 38,000,000

Number of options exercisable at the end of the Year

RAFREREAFTE 2 BREYE -

Weighted average exercise price (HK$ per share)

mEFHTER BT (8R)) 0.60

* Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are also substantial ~ * TEAERFERZITARRRAZEER

and controlling shareholders of the Company, and Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, ERBRR My —ELE Z-AELIRM
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat FTERZLIRTE - LEXTRUERBEA
Sum, Rita are associates of each other (within the meanings as defined under the (BB LETRBIFREZEE) -

Listing Rules).

TN A R ERAT 20212288 113



114

Directors’ Report

ESZRBE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of Share Options (continued)

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant as
guoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$0.60 per share.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were exercised or cancelled
during the Year.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 39 to the
financial statements.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has adopted the Share Award Scheme, pursuant to which the
Company may grant to eligible participants restricted Shares. A summary
of the Share Award Scheme is set out as below:

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and retain
selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including any eligible
person selected by the administration committee of the Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the terms of and entitled to receive a grant
under the Share Award Scheme, to work with the Company and to provide
incentive for them to achieve performance goals with a view to achieving
the objectives of increasing the value of the Company and aligning the
interests of the Selected Participants directly to the Shareholders through
ownership of Shares.

Eligible Persons

The eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme include individuals
being a director (including executive and non-executive director), officer or
employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Duration

Subject to any early termination of the Share Award Scheme and without
prejudicing the subsisting rights of any Selected Participant, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid for the period of 10 years commencing on
1 August 2017 (i.e. the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme).

Maximum Limit

The maximum number of Shares administered under the Share Award
Scheme shall not reach 10% or more of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time.

Movements of Restricted Shares

No restricted Shares were granted by the Company or vested during the
Year. Further details of the restricted Shares are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To enable the employees to have a stake in the investment in the Group,
the Group in December 2020 had separately entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Subsidiary SPA”) with two directors (one of
which is Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company) and six employees of a subsidiary (the
“Relevant Subsidiary”) (collectively, the “Relevant Staff”) for disposal of
certain shares of the Relevant Subsidiary to the Relevant Staff. Upon the
fulfillment of certain performance conditions under the Subsidiary SPA,
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick shall acquire 3.5% equity interest in the
Relevant Subsidiary at the consideration of approximately HK$1.7 million
(the “Stake Investment”).

Other than the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
Stake Investment disclosed above, at no time during the Year and at
the end of the Year was the Company or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group's borrowings are set out in Note 34 to the financial
statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT
VENTURE AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
venture and associates as at 31 March 2022 are set out in Notes 50, 51,
52 and 53 to the financial statements respectively.
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RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at
31 March 2022 were as follows:

(R

M2022%3A318  RAR AT DR T RR
IR

Contributed surplus AR 52,552
Retained earnings REB & A 115,132
Total HEt 167,684

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 56 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 139 and 140
respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick sp
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 88s Jp
(re-designated from INED to NED on 15 September 2021)

Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco (resigned on 17 July 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon (appointed on 15 September 2021)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2) and 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina and Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang will retire from office by rotation
at the AGM and Dr. Yen Gordon, who was appointed as an INED by the
Board as an addition to the Board, will retire from office at the AGM. All
the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco resigned as a NED on 17 July 2021 in order
to pursue his own professional interests. Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco has
confirmed to the Board that he has no disagreement with the Board and
there is no matter in relation to his resignation that needs to be brought to
the attention of the Shareholders and the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the INEDs are independent under the Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or in existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals
in the Group are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in
force throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to protect the
Directors from possible legal actions against them.
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EERFETHRAERRKRG
MHERORESZ2EERAR

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

MR2022F3A31H A RRBEFEHFLHPE
BB EIS2HEMEMEF 2Bzt
EERARBEBITHRABRARAREMS
MR EE (T& RBHREEEMNEXVER)
2R - HRERD REHF e IR BIE
ASFAERAA R RERATHE 2 BRI T

As at 31 March 2022, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as

follows:
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares held share capital
2] a8 EARAT
EEps EL) ZEREAR HERGEE BETREAEL T
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
Y—RERE ExEBA
Interests of controlled corporation 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.58% (L)
REEE S
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
REERE ExBEBA
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Beneficial owner 7,326,000 (L) 3,000,000 (L) 0.57% (L)
Y-AETTRm EREBA
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant  Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
RIELELAE EREBA
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina  Beneficial owner 11,294,875 (L) 2,000,000 (L) 0.73% (L)
ZERzL EREBA
Interests of controlled corporation 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.58% (L)

RELEE RS

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
LT ERBAA
Beneficiary of a trust 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
ERERHEA 9.21% (5)
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF EERTETHAERRS
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, HEBERORESXEZRAE
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (&)
(continued)
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares held share capital
2] a8 EARAT
EEps £t ZEREAR HERGEE BRETREAELT
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
BEBEL ERBEBA
Interests of controlled corporation 4 80,000,000 (L) 80,000,000 (S) 4.44% (L)
REEEES 4.44% (S)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
HHEmEE EREBEA
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
WhERE EREBA
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
AEELE ERBBEA
Dr. Yen Gordon Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
BEHEL EREBA
Interests of controlled corporation 5 1,200,000 (L) - 0.07% (L)

RELEEEE

(L): Long Position L: e

(S): Short Position (S) kR

Notes: M5E

1. Details of the underlying shares of the Company held by the Directors are set out 1. EERHEZARAMRBERMZABHNLX

in the above section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME". [BERRHERH &) — &

2. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and 45% by 2. TREAERFTEMZ L EEEAGT Winners

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them was deemed to 45% IR RE - IRIBEF R B ERD - HEF B HAR
be interested in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in which GT BEAGT Winners T AR BEAEZ 2
Winners had interest or was deemed to have interest. The details of such interests ARRAEBRSAEERD Z 2 GT Winners
of GT Winners are set out in the following section headed “INTERESTS AND BRRERFBEHNTX[EFZRENRG RIE
SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING BRI 2 S ROKA | —Hfi-

SHARES”.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

3. The shares were beneficially owned by Best Manage Holdings Limited (“Best
Manage”). Best Manage is wholly owned by Brite-Tech Research Company Limited
which is in turn wholly owned by Surplus Assets Limited. Surplus Assets Limited
is wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limited as the trustee of The Allan Wong
2011 Trust, a discretionary trust of which Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee is one of the
beneficiaries. She also is one of the directors of Best Manage. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares/
underlying shares of the Company in which Best Manage had interest or was
deemed to have interest.

4. The shares were beneficially owned by S.A.S. Investment Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184), in which Dr. Yim Yuk
Lun, Stanley is a director and controlled by him. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yim Yuk
Lun, Stanley was deemed to be interested in such shares.

5. The shares were held by Oakland Capital Limited, a company controlled by Dr. Yen
Gordon. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yen Gordon was deemed to be interested in such
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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Directors’ Report

ESRES

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FTERERREORHEEBER®G 2
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND ®#H R XA
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the following Shareholders (other than Directors or ~ F2022%F3A31H AR R B EZEALHE
chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by the &I 3361 R EMEF 2 Mz L8k
Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being interested or deemed to A TIXER (EFH A A A EEITHABKRIN
have interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: RARRBBEITRATEE IR BEES%

A bR
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held shares held share capital
B¥E ¥E - N
BRREE 2B L) I EERHA HERAHE BRTREAESR
GT Winners Beneficial owner 1 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.58% (L)
EREEA
Best Manage Beneficial owner 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (1)
ERBAA 9.21% (5)
Brite-Tech Research Company Interests of controlled corporation 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
Limited REmEE S 9.21% (5)
Surplus Assets Limited Interests of controlled corporation 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
XEEEER 9.21% (5)
Credit Suisse Trust Limited Trustee 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
A 9.21% ()
(): Long position (RS <3
(S): Short position (S) kA
Notes: B 5 -

1. These represent (i) a beneficial interest in 1,064,604,705 ordinary shares of the ZERSEIEABAGT WinnersEER A ()R

Company, representing approximately 59.06% of the issued share capital of 1,064,604, 705 A A Al E @R 2 EmEm - H
the Company; (i) a beneficial interest in 406,000,000 underlying shares of the ERAARE BEITRALS59.06% : R(i)IREE
Company pursuant to certain call and/or option deeds, representing approximately FRE &SR 8 #E R 4 7406,000,0008% 748
22.52% of the issued share capital of the Company, directly held by GT Winners. NAMEERD c EmEn HERARAD BT

B AR #922.52%

2. The details of such interests of Best Manage are set out in the above section 2. Best Manage A= 2 FBEHN EX[EER

headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FETHRABRRM HERDREF 2 =R
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES". KR —Hie

TN A REERERAR 202122488 121



Directors’ Report

ESRES

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FERRRBRORBEER®D 2
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND ®E#z= KX E (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had not been Bk _EXFr#EE 4N - R20224F3 83180 - AR
notified of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or chief — &I EER M E M A L3 EE (EHH A
executive of the Company) as being interested or deemed to have interests A A]E Z1THR A BBR 4N RAQ B R% 7 k48
or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company which RO TP HEASERAEERBEEFLBAE
would fall to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under {51 55 XV 388 A 7K 2 &) sk B XX P48 58 2 4

Part XV of the SFO. KRR ©
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE BE HEfIBEEAATZ L
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES e &

During the Year, the Company repurchased 17,450,000 Shares at an RAFERN  ANA A AEKE10,271,360/5
aggregate consideration of HK$10,271,360 (before expenses) on the Stock 7T (R&H KB ) i B 32 A 3% [E117,450,0008%

Exchange. All repurchased shares were cancelled during the Year. Mfn - FRERER 2 R B R ARFRE A -
Particulars of the repurchase during the Year are as follows: REAFENETEED CEROT
Aggregate
Number Highest Lowest consideration
of shares price paid price paid paid (before
Months of share repurchase repurchased per share per share expenses)
i B A% 47 B8R B8R ENERE
M E R 65z A 4 2R BaE BIKE (RETREAX)
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
2021 20214
April 4 H 610,000 0.60 0.59 360,400
July 7R 4,496,000 0.60 0.55 2,611,140
August 8H 420,000 0.59 0.59 247,800
September 9H 3,914,000 0.60 0.58 2,297,720
October 108 1,206,000 0.60 0.59 721,200
December 121 2,110,000 0.60 0.59 1,250,900
2022 20224
January 1H 460,000 0.60 0.59 273,900
February 2R 974,000 0.60 0.60 584,400
March 3R 3,260,000 0.60 0.59 1,923,900
Total T 17,450,000 10,271,360
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Directors’ Report

EZRBE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES (continued)

The Directors considered that the repurchases were made with a view to
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year as required
under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions set out in Note 46 to the
financial statements. Save as disclosed above, no related party transaction
constitutes any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 46 to the financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group's business in which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any subsidiaries of its holding
company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or at any time
during the Year.

BE - HEsSBEEAATZ L
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Directors’ Report

ESZRBE

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung, the INED, is an independent non-executive
director of JY Grandmark, which had certain subsidiaries engaged in the
property development business. The Board is of the view that Mr. Wu as
an independent non-executive director of JY Grandmark, is not involved in
its daily operation and therefore it does not compete with the business of
the Group.

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang, the INED, is an executive director of NWS and
a non-executive director of Wai Kee Holdings Limited, both of which had
certain subsidiaries engaged in the construction business. The Board is of
the view that the construction business of both companies is similar to but
in different scale and nature with that of the Group and therefore it does
not compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Directors is aware of his/her fiduciary duties as Director and
will act in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
and avoids any conflict of interests between his/her duties as a Director
and his/her personal interests.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any
business which competes or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the Group’s business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 81% of the
Group's total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest
customer accounted for approximately 59% of the Group’s total turnover.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

The Group’s five largest customers include governmental authorities
and statutory organisations, infrastructure and property developers and
property owners. The credit terms granted to these customers are in line
with those granted to other customers as well as industry practices. The
Group’s management has considered the credit quality of these major
customers and is of the view that none of the relevant trade receivables
is considered doubtful. In determining the credit terms, the Group takes
into account various factors, including the background, financial strength
and track records of credit settlement of the counterparties, in order to
mitigate credit risks. In view of the financial strength and high credit rating
the major customers, the Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to
concentration of credit risk is limited.
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Directors’ Report

EZRBE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the
knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
approximately HK$1.6 million.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in Note 54 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
EY, the auditor of the Company, which will retire at the conclusion of
the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders at the AGM to re-appoint
EY as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board to fix their
remuneration.

There has been no other change in the auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BWINZHETRS

P>
EY::

To the shareholders of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 134 to 297, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BiZHEMERS

P>
EY::

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition of construction contracts

The Group’s revenue from the provision of construction work amounted to
HK$6.65 billion for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Contract revenue is recognised over time using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the value of services delivered or surveys of
work performed by the Group.

The recognition of revenue relies on management’s estimate of the final
outcome of each contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in forecasting the value of contract
variations, claims and liquidated damages, in estimating the amount of
expected losses and assessing the ability of the Group to deliver services
according to the agreed timetable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SEER S

P>
EY::

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Revenue recognition of construction contracts (continuead)

In addition, the Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on the latest facts and circumstances relating
to the construction work, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expectation as to when
the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated reliably, the Group
will adjust the amounts of contract revenue accordingly. Such change
constitutes a change in an accounting estimate and involves significant
management estimation and judgement regarding the outcome of a
contract. The effect of any change in an accounting estimate is recognised
prospectively by including it in profit or loss in the current year and future
periods, if appropriate.

Given that the estimation of construction revenue involves significant
management judgement and estimation, we considered this a key audit
matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we understood, evaluated and tested the
key controls of the Group in respect of revenue recognition of construction
work. We examined the external or internal surveys of work for amounts
of contract revenue recognised and revenue cutoff. We selected material
construction contracts, read their financial budgets and interviewed
the Group’s quantity surveyors regarding the preparation and approval
processes of financial budgets of construction contracts and the progress
of work certification by independent surveyors. In addition, we read the
correspondence between the Group and independent surveyors and,
if necessary, obtained professional advice from the dispute resolution
advisors engaged by the contract customers and the Group in respect
of construction work performed. We also assessed the adequacy of the
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SEER S

P>
EY::

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Net realisable value of land held for property
development

At 31 March 2022, land held for property development of the Group
amounted to HK$206 million.

The carrying amounts of the land held for property development are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Significant management
judgement is involved in determining the estimated net realisable values of
the land held for property development, including the estimation of selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion.

Given the sensitivity of the assumptions and the level of judgement
involved, management engaged independent professional valuers to
prepare a feasibility report for the land held for property development of
the Group.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the feasibility report
and assessed the objectivity, competence and independence of the
independent professional valuers. We engaged our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in assessing the bases and assumptions adopted
in the impairment assessments. In addition, our procedures included
discussions with management and the independent professional valuers
about the assumptions and parameters used in estimating the latest selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion, variable selling expenses and,
as applicable, the feasibility of the Group's property development plan.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB EmR S

P>
EY::

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SEER S

P>
EY::

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B SEER S

P>
EY::

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB EmRS

P>
EY:

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is TSANG, Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FaiRmREMZEEmR

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE202293A31HIEFE

REVENUE R 6 7,722,064 7,534,258
Cost of sales 85 & KA (7,271,813)  (7,223,267)
Gross profit E7 450,251 310,991
Other income and gains, net H AU A KU 255 58 7 173,698 327,547
Selling expenses HERX (3,463) (4,748)
Administrative expenses TR (494,823) (467,254)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for litigations &F A2 BB, (&) 35(b) 173,760 (272,010)
Other expenses, net HipfA S F5E (99,352) (20,696)
Finance costs & KA 8 (72,830) (79,051)
Share of profits of joint ventures iRt/ b 20(b) 562 3,532
Share of profits and losses of associates FE{LEE S N B m ) R E R 21(c) 9,161 14,978
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BREBLAEF (B518) 9 136,964 (186,711)
Income tax Fri5 3t 12 (29,028) (2,374)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERA (BR) 107,936 (189,085)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HtZ2 @k (E#E)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss #AE BT A]SEE#T 7 B2 1825
in subsequent periods: ZIHE :
Exchange differences: PEH Z=58
Translation of foreign operations BMERINETS 15,781 42,431
Reclassification adjustments for (gains)/ (W) /BEZENHE
losses included in profit or loss upon: AR (GTAER) -
Sale of property interests through FEBEE —EHE
disposal of a subsidiary NEIHEMEEDR 43(a) (38,356) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBAT 43(b) - 106
Deregistration of subsidiaries BEE TR E A A - (3,003)
Share of movement in the exchange JE(h—E& & R EIIMNE
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture HEEE & 20(b) (639) 511
Share of movements in the exchange JFE {5 Bt 42 N &) SINEEE O B
fluctuation reserves of associates e 2 & 21(c) 1,716 1,582
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME AEEHM2HE (HE)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX ENBREBLZMER
OF NIL (21,498) 41,627
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AEE2HEWE (&) A
FOR THE YEAR 86,438 (147,458)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SFERmRHMEEER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE2022F3A31HLEFE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
F#ET FET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR BiEREEZRR, (FE) :
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Shareholders of the Company NN 3-8 121,999 (184,506)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR B 2= (14,063) (4,579)
107,936 (189,085)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FE{EAEE2XEWE ~ (FiE)
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: .
Shareholders of the Company AAE PR 100,501 (142,879)
Non-controlling interests FE5E A% 4 2 (14,063) (4,579)
86,438 (147,458)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE EATRRELER HK cents HK cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS B, (F5#8) B JEN
OF THE COMPANY 14
Basic and diluted HEARR#E 6.78 (10.16)

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBIRRE

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Vs - S AR 15 323,874 383,544
Investment properties B 16 11,176 11,256
Right-of-use assets ERAERE 17(a) 178,052 181,015
Goodwill BES 18 106,790 122,377
Intangible assets mEAE 19 2,284 =
Investments in joint ventures RELRBZIEKE 20 12,272 12,349
Investments in associates REERR 2K E 21 543,900 375,945
Land held for property development FEMERR 2 T 22 163,638 236,149
Debt investments at fair value through BRAFEGFABR CEERE

profit or loss 28(a) - 3,642
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE E 36 2,592 1,648
Total non-current assets ERBEERT 1,344,578 1,327,925
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Land held for property development FIEMERRE 2 T 22 42,676 37,887
Inventories FE 23 3,675 7,503
Contract assets EHNEE 24(a) 3,745,415 3,328,765
Trade receivables B 5 WG IE 25 718,937 783,119
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T8 1 7k & - E/i\ R B A FE R 26 1,048,986 1,077,936
Income tax recoverable AR ATE 27,803 38,710
Equity investments at fair value through BRAFEGFABRCBRARE

profit or loss 28(b) 5,623 1,868
Restricted cash and pledged deposits ZRHIRE KB EFRFHK 29 16,009 14,294
Cash and cash equivalents HeREREEEIER 30 1,440,057 1,556,582

7,049,181 6,846,664

Assets of disposal groups classified as SEARBEHEZLERE

held for sale ZEE 31 70,321 399,947
Total current assets mENEEERR 7,119,502 7,246,611
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

eI RER

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables B 5 e FRIE 32 1,676,559 1,505,112
Contract liabilities AHEE 24(b) 110,494 64,085
Other payables and accruals R ROA R BRI RUA 33 852,850 863,997
Bank borrowings RITIE 34 2,287,112 3,179,019
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) 26,729 30,722
Provision for construction works BRETEZBE 35(a) 115,920 103,695
Provision for litigations FREA 2 B 35(b) 5,000 272,010
Income tax payables FEBFTIS TR 81,444 68,678
5,156,108 6,087,318

Liabilities directly associated with the assets B 3EAIFEHEZ HESE

of disposal groups classified as held ZEEEEEENERE

for sale 31 63,625 77,068
Total current liabilities MBI EERE 5,219,733 6,164,386
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,899,769 1,082,225
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEAERREBE & 3,244,347 2,410,150
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Bank borrowings RITIE 34 806,216 36,079
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) 22,391 25,083
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEE F 36 2,043 3,703
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBEREE 830,650 64,865
Net assets BEFE 2,413,697 2,345,285

DA ERERERAR

A

2021/224F %

137



138

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMIBEIRRER

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

2022

HK$'000
FET

EQUITY s
Equity attributable to shareholders of AAFRREMER
the Company

2021
HK$'000
FAET

Issued capital BEITIRA 37(a) 180,268 182,013
Reserves s 40(a) 2,197,195 2,105,993
2,377,463 2,288,006
Non-controlling interests P 36,234 57,279
Total equity w45 2,413,697 2,345,285
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
T—E w3
Director Director
EBE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R R

m S E R

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE2022F3A31HLEFE

Notes

Issued
capital

HKS 000

T2

Share
premium
account

&
HKS000

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Shares
held under
the share
award
scheme
account

HKS000

Share-based
compensation
reserve

i
HKS000

BAR

Capital
reseve

HKS 000

Exchange

fluctuation  Retained Non-controlling Total

Teserve profits Total interests equity

i il 4%
HKS000 HKS000  HKS000

-
AT

At 1 April 2020 202054717 183,833 760,071 (10,643) 1,242 19,868 (25149) 1523016 2462238 36504 2,498,742
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - (184506)  (184506) (4579 (189,085)
Other comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year: ~ A £ (b 2EHE/ (BE):
Exchange differences: ERZR:
Translation of foreign operations BERNER - - - = = 0831 = 0831 = 0431
Redlassification adjustments for losses/gaing) 518/ (i) 2 EF 08
included in profit or loss upon: BE(GrABR):
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHBAR 430) - - - - - 106 = 106 = 106
Deregistration of subsiciaries HEERMEAR - - - - - (3,003) - (3,003) = (3,003)
Share of movement in the exchange Eh-BagRaNERD
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture BE2EY - - - - - 511 - 511 - 511
Share of movements in the exchange EEBELTNERDERE
fluctuation reserves of associates i L) - = = = = 1,582 = 1,582 = 1,582
Total comprehensive incomel{oss) for the year A E2 TN/ (BiR) 4% - - - - - MET (1845060 (142,879) (6579 (147458)
Contribution from non-controling eqity holders  RE B AAEERRESEA
of subsidiaries LR - - - - - - - - N n
Acquisiion of subsidiaries KEHBAR 426) - - - - - - - - 9750 9750
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption of B AR EHBE L 5/iER
control RANE 2 = = = = = = = = 15,657 15,657
Disposal of a subsiciary HE-HHBAR 30) = = = = = = = = (1) (74
Deregstration of a subsidiary HEER-ERELA - = = - (10240 = 10,240 = = =
Cancelation of repurchased shares HECERRG 37 (1,820) 9.171) - - - - - (10991 - (1091
Equity-setted share option expense WhAEE BRERR 39) - - - 1,048 - - - 1,048 - 1,048
Other equity-settled share-based payment At RAEE 2R BER
expense DB 9 - - - 1,804 - - - 1,804 - 1,804
Transfer of share-based compensation reserve IR RERERBER () BH
upon forfeture of share options i - - - (1,094) - - 1,094 - - -
Final 2020 dividend declared BERN0FE XGRS - - - - - - (7,33 (7,33) - (7334)
Interim 2021 dividend declred BEREEPERS 3 - - - - - - (15880 (158%0) - (15880
AL31 Match 2001 D331 O3 00 (0B B0 9&8 TG4 13660 208806 09 23585

DME S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FalRRESEHR

Year ended 31 March 2022

HZE2022F3A31HLEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

EARRRELR
Shares
held under
the share
Share award  Share-based Exchange
Issued  premium scheme  compensation Capital fluctuation  Retained Non-controlling Total
capital  account  account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
RERH
LR ]
RATHE Re g AERS
BRARA ROREE  MRR #E EREE % REEN BE  FERER REEE
Notes HKS000  HKSO00  HKS D00 HKSU00  HKSUOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSU0O HKS000  HKS 000
f&r  FEr  TEn &z  Fér  TEn  TEn FEr 777 774
At1 April 201 R01F4A1R 182,013 750,900 (10,643) 13,000 9,628 16478 1,326,630 2,288,006 571219 2,345,285
Proft for the year REERA - - - - - - 121999 121999 (14063) 107,936
Other comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year: ~ A £ 2EhE/ (EE) :
Exchange differences: ERZR:
Translation of foreign operations RERINET - - - - - 15,781 - 1578 - 1581
Redlassifcation adjustments for gain W2 ERDE
included in profit or loss pon: BE(GrABRR):
Sale of property interests through FBLE-HHELR
disposal of a subsidiary HENEES 430) - - - - - (383%) - (383%) - (38356)
Share of movement in the exchange EE-HAERANERD
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture e EY - - - - - (639) - (639) - (639)
Share of movements in the exchange EEBELTNERDERE
fluctuation reserves of associates b &) - - - - - 1716 - 1,716 - 1716
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year ~ AFE2E (E18) /HEEE - - - - - (1498) 121999 100,501 (14063) 86438
Acquisition of non-controling interest £33 - - - - 4,993 - - 4,993 (8367) (3374)
Disposal of partialinterest of a subsiciary HE-BHBAAINS B 400 - - - - 4615 - - 4615 1,385 6,000
Cancellation of repurchased shares HHEBORS 370 (1,745) (8,526) - - - - - (102m) - (102m)
Equity-settled share option expense NRAEE 2 BRERR 39) - - - 7 - - - 7 - 7
Other equity-settled share-based payment At RAEE 2N RD AER
expense DEGiEFT 9 - - - 5533 - - - 5533 - 5533
Transfer of share-based compensation reserve B RIEEI SR EER (B
upon the expiy of share options &% - - - (11,19) - - 11,19 - - -
Transfer of share-based compensation resene —— WIZMUAR A BERZHE
upon the forfeiture of share-based arrangement B AR M G - - - (863) - - 863 - - -
Interim 2022 dividend declared BERNERYERE 3 - - - - - - (59 (159 - (15921
131 March 2022 RE3F3NR 180288 T (068) GBI 1936 (GO0 LMATEF 2377483 B3 2413697
e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,197,195,000 (2021: M202253A310  ZEHEBERREGSUBMN

HK$2,105,993,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March

2022.
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7|-\ Eﬁﬁllllii

Year ended 31 March 2022
B Z=2022F3A31HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERETBH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax MBBDEFR, (Fi8) 136,964 (186,711)
Adjustments for: THE
Share of profit of a joint venture E{iE—M& 2R aaF (562) (3,532)
Share of profits and losses of associates FE(REEE A ala M R EE (9,161) (14,978)
Interest income ) B U A 7 (19,483) (26,170)
Dividend income A% =g A 7 (162) =
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, S EIEEE Ry =N o
net Wz 58 7 (643) (5,689)
Gains on sales of property interests BRHEWNBARLEME
through disposal of subsidiaries Rz W 7 (117,681) (11,515)
Losses on disposal of other subsidiaries e E A B AR 2 B8 9 - 349
Gain on deregistration of a joint operation B —Eae EE R 2 W 7 - (2,863)
Gain on remeasurement of a pre-existing B ER —HEE QR
interest in an associate B AR WS 7 - (3,493)
Fair value loss of investment properties, net & WME QA FEBEFHE 9 - 600
Fair value gain of debt investments at fair BRATFEGS AER 2 &R
value through profit or loss ®E 2 AT EKER 7 - (97)
Finance costs Rl E R A 8 74,199 80,962
Depreciation of property, plant and M IS RREBZITE
equipment 9 53,963 55,178
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 9 32,424 31,948
Amortisation of intangible assets | EE 2B 9 216 =
Fair value (gain)/loss of equity investments }§@$155+AT§§ZH§$TQE
at fair value through profit or loss RNTHE (Wa) EE 9 (668) 210
Loss on disposal of property, plant and ﬁ’%%¥ W R FBE 2
equipment, net B8 55 9 190 3,777
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFHEEE 2 W 7 (871) =
Write-off of property, plant and equipment — #3 « # 22 K 3% 8 2 #UBR 9 6 357
Write-off of investment in an associate R—lEEE R BIRE 2 MR 9 59 3,556
Write-off of debt investments at fair value BATEGABREZ
through profit or loss BT E 2 MR 9 3,642 =
Write-off of inventories FE MR 9 2,795 =
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and FERRIE - Ee Rk
other receivables H A R WRRRIE 2 R 9 609 =
Impairment of goodwill 8 7R E 9 15,593 =
Written down of land held for property WRISIEMEZRR 2 T HBE
development to net realisable value AR EE 9 73,769 =
Written down of inventories to net TPIMIT“’“E IR 5E
realisable value 9 - 380
Impairment of contract assets ENEEZRE 9 2,420 2,396
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of B S EWGIE
trade receivables (BERE) JRE 9 (158) 432
Impairment of other receivables H fth fE SR IE 2 R E 9 - 5,116
Equity-settled share option expense AR 2 BE R 2 9 7 1,048
Other equity-settled share-based payment HuhARAREE 2 AR S
expense BEBNRNAR 9 5,533 1,804
(Reversal of provision)/provision for Fanz (BOEE) BiE
litigations 35(b) (173,760) 272,010
79,240 205,075

0 B A 5 VAR 20217224E%% 141
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SABRERER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE202243A31HIEFE

Increase in land held for property
development and properties under

FEMEER 2 L RERSD
E Sl

development (40,521) (54,726)
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale #{E$5E W% (&) SR (23) 388
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,206) (311)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets AHBE(EM D (426,054) 61,204
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 e UBGRIE R L 52,082 209,199
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits  FE R 1 4 K H {th e U 5B

and other receivables B, () 13,641 (44,451)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B 5 EMFIAE N, CRd) 186,755 (325,267)
Increase in contract liabilities EHaEEm 46,409 29,593
(Decrease)/increase in other payables H {th B~ F0E K FEETFIE

and accruals () /30 (51,829) 205,797
Increase/(decrease) in provision BETIR ZBEEN ORd)

for construction works 12,225 (26,628)
Cash (used in)/from operations R () /EE2RE (129,281) 259,873
Interest paid EARFE (1,369) (1,911)
Income taxes paid ERATSHE (8,878) (30,056)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating RS (FTR) /EEZ2RE

activities MEFE (139,528) 227,906
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FaRERER

Year ended 31 March 2022
B E2022F3A31HLFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZBHZHERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 W F & 19,483 26,170
Dividend received from listed equity B EmIRAIRE WE 2 RS

investments 162 -
Dividend received from associates B2 QR WER Z f% B 61,523 2,971
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB E ¥ % - M= K RE (15,532) (95,624)
Prepayments for right-of-use assets ERAEAE ZERNKIE (154) (4,705)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEREE (2,500) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - MR REE

and equipment Fr8 A 4,516 5,219
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets & {# Fi 1 & E TS FUR 2,206 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries I BE B B A A 42(3) - (63,197)
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon B /B 2 B8 B T ERAS 12 il #E B

resumption of control e AR 42(b) - 16,006
Proceeds from sale of property interests BRLEWNBARLEME

through disposal of subsidiaries WE T TS 5 IE 43(a) 126,534 105,030
Proceeds from disposal of other subsidiaries & E th Bf B A 5] P15 FIE 43(b) - 1,455
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest of  H& — M B A & A e

a subsidiary FTi5 78 40(b)(v) 6,000 =
Purchase of equity investments at fair value  BBERAFEFABREZ

through profit or loss AT E (39.649) (3,112)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments H&IE AT EF ABZEZ

at fair value through profit or loss N K 36,562 1,093
Redemption of promissory notes BEANZE 27 - 180,000
Subscription of convertible bond and R A IR B A R R

promissory note - (3,545)
Contribution to an associate m—EBE R REE (16,000) (12,000)
Increase in an amount due from ER—HEEER R

a joint venture FRIEIE AN (2,885) (3,834)
Increase in amounts due from associates JE W EsE & A |) 2 FRIAIE AN (18,614) (124,603)
Decrease in loan receivables FE W E TR 86,434 85,881
Net cash flows from investing activities WEEHELE RS REFHE 248,086 113,205

IR AR AT 2021/224F %R
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nﬂ-\ iﬁaﬁl}ll Eﬁ

Year ended 31 March 2022
B ZE2022F3A31HLFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETB2ESRE

ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares 8% [o] A% 15 37(a) (10,271) (10,991)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest WHEME & 5] 2 JEERR i o

of subsidiaries (3,374) -
New bank loans TESRITER 1,717,746 3,415,073
New trust receipt loans T RIEER 436,969 351,255
Repayment of bank loans E%ﬁfﬁﬁ‘a K (1,900,364)  (3,122,411)
Repayment of trust receipt loans EEETBIEER (356,985) (397,399)
Principal portion of lease payments HMENRZASED (38,702) (36,576)
Interest element of lease payments MEMFZFEEH D (376) (143)
Other interest paid Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂu (55,596) (84,561)
Dividends paid ERRE (15,921) (23,214)
Increase in restricted cash and 2R %Uiﬁi&ﬂﬁﬁﬁf K8 AN

pledged deposits (4,935) (13,531)
Net cash flows (used in)/from MEES (FTA) EXZ

financing activities HEREFRE (231,809) 77,502
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND iﬁ%&iﬁﬁ%%ﬁlﬁ B

CASH EQUIVALENTS W) EmEEE (123,251) 418,613
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of i%ﬂﬁ Re kEBSEEIEHR

year 1,556,582 1,134,824
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net YMNES[E R &8 52 2% 58 13,639 8,332
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND FRERSKHEBESEEER

OF YEAR 1,446,970 1,561,769
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND B&RHERSEEEAELEH

CASH EQUIVALENTS Paiis
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTHES 30 1,440,057 1,556,582
Cash and short term deposits attributable to D E AR {EHE 2 HE

disposal groups classified as held for sale ﬁ%fﬁfﬁi&%,ﬁﬂfm 37 6,913 5,187
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the fﬁium%%ﬁﬁﬂ MIRE K8

statement of cash flows +%EEAE 1,446,970 1,561,769
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A4 35 R P EE

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda,
and the principal place of business of the Company is located at C1,
5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603
Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates were
involved in the following principal activities:

o provision of construction and consultancy services in areas
of civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,
foundation and building construction mainly in Hong Kong;

. development and sale of properties and leasing of assets in
Hong Kong, mainland (“Mainland China”) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and the United Arab Emirates
(the “UAE");

o provision of security, tunnel and other facility management
services in Hong Kong;

] provision of non-franchised bus services in Hong Kong; and

o production and sale of positron emission tomography (“PET")
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use in Hong Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations,
a joint venture and associates are set out in notes 50, 51, 52 and 53
to the financial statements, respectively.

At 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), the immediate holding company and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is GT Winners Limited (“GT
Winners"”), which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI") with limited liability.

1.
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DNBEEEERERAANRBRE
HEftRYA—RHXBREZBERAR
ERNEEEHERIFMABRA A
(B2 Fr)) ER B o AQF Z st
## = B2 A2 72 Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda’ m
KRB EEEEMIBMUNEBNE
B EKEEAE601-6035% B84 M T
EREI1HSECIE

KRR AT REKERR (5
BIARE)) AE%H A¥RAR
BEATSRTIIEERT:

s IEAEFAERMMLIAIRE #
EIR WMEARBTREEIAZ
T2 M vk AR 7% -

s HEFE FEARHKME([+
B 1) A (T B A ) K
BMAeERE ([MBE])ET
BREEEVMEUREERS:

s HEFERHERZ BEREMK
1 & 32 AR

s GEBBRMIFLZELERH K

s HERBLENHEELETHIH
ERfm ([EEFRE]) RS E
BEYAFBERR-

ARRZEEMBAT ABEY —
RIA B AR BB E A RRES ABR

B 3R R MT5¥50 ~ 51 ~ 52 %53 °

M2022%F38318 ARAIES([£
F)RBARABZEEEZERA AT E&
Y A% N &) A GT Winners Limited ([GT
Winners]) - EAREBELZES ([H
BRLZES])FMEIZBRAG -
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
20223 H31H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
for (i) investment properties and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value; and (ii) assets
of disposal groups classified as held for sale which are stated at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell,
as further explained in note 3.3 to the financial statements. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
20223 H31H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(¢)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group losses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
20223 H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free rate ("RFR"). The
amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount
of financial assets and liabilities when accounting for changes in
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the
interest rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark
reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with through the
normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary relief to
entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows an
entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately identifiable
within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark
reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"”) as at 31 March 2022. The Group
expects that HIBOR will continue to exist and the interest rate
benchmark reform has not had an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-
based borrowings.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contacts?

Insurance Contacts® >

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current**

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transactions?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41"

f Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

B As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17, issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before

1 January 2023

8 The HKICPA amends HKFRS 17 in February 2022 to permit a classification overlay
for financial assets presents in comparative periods on initial application of

HKFRS 17

AE B =

3.2 EEMERAERZE R
Bt 7 33 &5 2E Al
P 2% Z B 76 37 % 8 F T 51

B 4 5k A 2 BT R R EER] &

BB E LR

ERMHREEN R

BEUBASEAZ0RR

EBeFHERZ28% (2011F)

pa 5|
BRMHREENETH

BRNHREENRTRET
ERUHREENRTRET

BRI ER e

BRGTEARIHR

ERIBREENERRS

BB
SRR S
BRI ERR 125

BRI EAR 6L

BRI ERRIRE

BAGBFEE 0185
FNNFEZEENE

RalERZIEd

REEREREN AT
BERTI I EE
HERINEE

RELHT

REAPS

ERERERNFES
EAZI7RRERTE
HEENZ9
R

BEAERRDT
rig

EitRRZRE

Bitlhit EH
BE-LFELHARN
EREBHECHE

NE RERZSE
~EREREAZ
ik

BEaH-EAHZ
.z

BEUBELRARR
ERABREER
295 BRMBRE
RAIE 650K 2
BRGHRER S
ERBOSE 2B

g 20221 AV Bz afth 2 FE BB AR
2 M2023F1A1B sz sz FE BB AR
8 i A 1 TE 5 I A 2 B B (B AT IR AR

e HREBSTEUNFE RIS BERESE
SR BRI ZS - EAAG B EILE
IFL/’Z’%%@?E (9 7 28 B 1 20204F

108 #1T{E

SN N ]
,ﬁuuma74

7] LABE AR FE B R AR B — B

5 AR R2020F 10 A MK BB M WELE
RAIEN75RME 5T BB M 15 RS £ Al F45
BETUABRERRE  AFTREAAR
2023F 1 AR ZAIRBENFEERBERE
BETERFE395% MR BV IS RE R

el

£ u+ B A S MN2022F2 AET BB
f%%ﬁ EREI75 AFREREAEE
B RS R 7R W L R R 2
CRMEEETHEEMN

T A L)

AIEAT 20217224 %

149



150

Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer
to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, respectively, instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the
Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date
of transition.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 HA31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements and in HKAS 28 (2011)
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its joint venture or associate. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its joint venture or associate constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that joint venture or
associate. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
joint venture or associate. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if
an entity's right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments on the Group's accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that
period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(f)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(9)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has not
yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

()  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other's
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
20223 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The Group's investments in joint ventures and associates are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures and associates is included in
the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the joint ventures or associates,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures or associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the joint ventures or associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures
or associates is included as part of the Group's investments in joint
ventures or associates.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of joint control over the
joint venture or significant influence over the associate, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint ventures or
associates upon loss of joint control or significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESHHEEME (2

A

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in joint ventures and associates
(continued)

When an investment in a joint venture or associate is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:
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. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; . HeE BEEELEREEZ

3 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from
the joint operation;

. its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint
operation; and

3 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group's
interest in a joint operation are accounted for in accordance with the
HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to a holding company of the Group.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group and liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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31 March 2022
20223 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of buildings are calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off their costs over the shorter of the lease terms and their
useful lives of 25 years.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on
the reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item of other
property, plant and equipment to its estimated residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated depreciation rates per annum of
different categories of other property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Plant and machinery 15% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

\,[]JJ[»

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use-asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including the direct costs of
construction, capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction and transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and a disposal group held for
sale

Non-current assets and a disposal group are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be
the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such asset or disposal group and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale
regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and a disposal group (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue or other income in profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in
the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

33 XESTHBERBE (&

FEHBZFRBEER —F
£ £
FRBEENR —MEEREREE
MG ERBBEER HMIFBBITE
ERmMKE AERBEERDER
%ﬁ%ﬁ ERBERT ZEEXHE
BAAZERMRANEGHE LEX
%Eﬁﬁéﬁiﬁ SEZz—WRE
BIRFHRR R HE ARG A BEET
PERLERENHBARIMARE
FRABEEHSTBRFEHE  Tmb
ERAEEA LR E P AT B A R
GESE T Eal

DERFKEHEZERDEER —H
HEEE (REVMENREREERI)
Tyig B AR A M A R 3H & A
ERZBREETE

HE

AEEREBNRBENGAENES
HEXBEEHE Ha O SBRERKEM
BT & —BREAEAR B EENER
2HE AZANRHExEaEE

AEEERSEHAA

AEBERHEAR ERBEER
B (KREEERE)SESERED
BREEHERMERE-

AEBEVEEBREERAEMM 2B
REB7 ﬂﬁ&@ﬁZﬁE”*ﬁmM
HE-HeNEsHERIFHERD

K%E@ﬁﬁﬁ%i%ﬁ%:ﬂﬁﬁ
PEEXH - HEeBWAREHAZ
BERAEARLBRBEEQEEMEEN R
I RREHEBEA -RIEE LT
HREHERELE NP ERRARTS
FRAHEEEZREME YRNEHA
AR EERSHEESWA -HAE
& Ty EREUER R A FE R AR M s

REBRBEEECEAEMK &K
MoRBREERERETEAEAZHEE
B RBERE -



Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
20223 H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets in respect of leasehold land are depreciated
on the straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and their useful lives of 50 years. Other right-of-use assets are
depreciated on the reducing balance basis over the following
deprecation periods, which are the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets:

Leased properties 1 to 5 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 6 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold
land held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at
the lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with
the Group's policy for “Land held for property development,
properties under development and properties held for sale”.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The
corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
and subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance with
the Group’s policy for “Investment properties”.

The Group’s right-of-use assets are separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the interest rate implicit in the lease or, where that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 X ESTHEME #

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HE (=

Group as a lessee (continued) Zlﬁﬁﬂfi%ﬁdﬂk (&)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets () MEHHEREE @ﬁlzfﬁ
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption REBEREMEREBEURBA
to its short-term leases of plant and machinery and office H““ﬁZhﬁJﬁﬂ (BN FA%H B
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 HiRETAE A A 12 A AT BR

months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patent

Purchased patent is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of
7 years.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Land held for property development, properties
under development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion of the
property development. They are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development project
is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under development
and properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes prepaid land lease payments, cost of
land/land use rights together with any other direct costs attributable
to the development of the properties, and borrowing costs capitalised
during the development period. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to estimated selling price based on prevailing market
conditions less (i) anticipated cost to completion of the development
in respect of properties under development; and (ii) estimated costs
to be incurred in marketing and selling the properties.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than investment
properties, land held for property development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, contract assets and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

33 XESTBEREE «

\/UJJE}}

FEMERR 2L BEHR
MRRIFEHEN =

T—?VE%%%’EFZifm&%XEHJ%%%ﬁ
RERMEBERBFIFHE-KED
BRRDEE Bﬁéﬂﬁﬁ%%%%@lﬁ
BZEfHEBRNR —REEBHNA
BITH - TR MEE R EREHE
ES

FIEMEBRR 2L BRTPYER
FEHEMR B AR R FEL
REZHI R -KABELIMBEEFRR
RIBR L, + 3t AR A B REE
] E A R B R B EERA RN
& B & AL 2 B R AN - B B2 3R %
Tﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁZﬁ AHEEE

R : )m%?ﬂ?‘ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂzﬁh
%%ZTE,H\HWZ!K,&H B REEY
EEEZ BT

FERMEERME
HWEBRBROEBE AFEHRE
E(REDE BIEMEERZ2 L
BRTPME FEHEME REHA
BEE SREE ANEERDERE
EHEZHERBDEE —MHESHE
BRI ETFEERERNR - Al e s E
B2 I UL Bl B AR - B 2 P MR [ Bl AR
Eﬁ?iﬁé?iﬁﬁZﬁﬁ%Fﬁ&

DFE (ABZERE) BB ERA
EJHI%'JéEﬁﬁ?%E BOFEREE
jﬂﬁiéi%ﬁﬁ&ﬁt%ﬁﬁéﬁ@ﬁ%
KEEMARMELEZRERA EI
BERT AIREI SRR EEFTE
ReELBEUMEBEE - HRATELE
A EITRE R RS - B E (AR
BF) REEN — B IRENREE
M—ENEESKERSELBMA
A (B E &R - Rl B = {8 51
REELEM-



Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of a non-financial asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, or fair value through profit or loss, as
appropriate.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt instruments) with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets (debt
instruments) refers to how it manages its financial assets (debt
instruments) in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets (debt instruments), or both.
Financial assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to
hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets (debt instruments) classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets (debt instruments)
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes debt instruments with cash flows that
are not SPPI and equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
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Simplified approach 1L 7%

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

3 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities cTRBaE
Initial recognition and measurement BRERREE

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised initially at fair value
and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
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included as finance costs in profit or loss. w2 BERBARA o
Derecognition BUH R

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Investments and other financial assets — Impairment”;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Shares held under a share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under the share
award scheme of the Company are recognised directly in equity at
cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Upon exercise of share awards, the related costs of the vested
awarded shares repurchased from the market and shares acquired
from reinvesting dividends received on the awarded shares are
credited to the shares held under the share award scheme account,
with a corresponding decrease in the share-based compensation
reserve for the awarded shares.

For vesting of forfeited or unallocated shares regranted, the related
costs of the forfeited or unallocated shares regranted are credited
to the shares held under the share award scheme account, and the
related fair value of the shares regranted are debited to the share-
based compensation reserve. The difference between the cost
and the fair value of the shares regranted is credited to the share
premium account if the fair value is higher than the cost or debited
against retained profits if the fair value is less than the cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in profit
or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with
the general policy for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income recognised
in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

3 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 X ESTHEME #

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Revenue recognition i 228 7 52
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHZWE

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
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entitled in exchange for those goods or services. REARFAEH 2 ME-
When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, EENPIREBRSANESHERT 1§

the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@)  Construction work

Revenue from construction work is recognised over time, using
an output method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the work, because the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation of construction
contracts is measured with reference to the certificates issued
by the internal or external surveyors on the performance of
work completed to date.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the most likely amount method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

®)

(c)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised over
the scheduled period on the straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

(a)

®)

(©)

(@

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Guarantee income

Guarantee income is recognised on the straight-line basis over
the guarantee period.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs to obtain a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. The incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are charged to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other costs of
obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments

Share award scheme

The Group operates a share award scheme for the purposes of
providing incentives for employees to achieve performance goals
and aligning the interests of employees directly with those of the
shareholders of the Company through ownership of shares of the
Company.

The amount to be expensed as share-based compensation expenses
is determined by reference to the fair value of the share awards
granted, taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated
with the grants. The total expense is recognised over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based compensation reserve
under equity.

For those share awards which are amortised over the vesting periods,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of awarded shares
that are expected to ultimately vest based on the vesting conditions
at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is recognised in profit
or loss in the current year, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based compensation reserve.

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 39 to
the financial statements.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FEFTHEHRE

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

Upon exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company in
the share premium account. In addition, at the time when the share
options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to the share premium
account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse
are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained profits as
a movement in reserves.

The dilutive effect of outstanding share options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other share-based payment transactions

Certain employees of the Group received remuneration in the form
of a share-based payment provided by the Group, whereby the
employees agreed to render services for a three-year period to the
Group in exchange for acquiring a certain percentage of equity
interest in a subsidiary of the Group at a below-market price (the
"“equity-settled transaction”).
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Other share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of the equity-settled transaction is measured at the fair
value of the equity interest of the subsidiary acquired less the
consideration paid and payable by the employee. The cost of the
equity-settled transaction is recognised as an employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity of the
subsidiary, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for the
equity-settled transaction at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired. The charge to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Other employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC,
Singapore and Malaysia are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the PRC, Singapore and Malaysia governments,
the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions are made by the subsidiaries based on a percentage of
the participating employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the relevant
central pension schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once
made.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a construction
contract are included as part of the contract costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on a change in fair
value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates established in the PRC and overseas are currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profits or losses are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation is
treated as an assets of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC and
overseas are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of these subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are set out below:

Construction contracts

With respect to construction contracts, the Group recognises
contract revenue on a construction contract over time, using an
output method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the construction work, because the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The output method recognises revenue based
on the certificates issued by the internal or external surveyors on the
performance or work completed to date, latest available financial
budgets of the construction contract with reference to the overall
performance of the construction contract, and management’s best
estimates and judgements. In developing the financial budget
of a construction contract, construction revenue is estimated in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant contract. Because
of the nature of the construction industry, management will make
adjustments, where appropriate, to the amounts of construction
revenue based on regular review of contract work progress, costs to
complete the contracts, the financial impact of contract variations,
claims, potential liquidated damages, and estimated construction
revenue.

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of construction
contracts based on latest facts and circumstances occurred in the
construction contracts, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expected outcome
of construction contracts, the Group will adjust the amounts of
contract revenue to be recognised in profit or loss prospectively.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for
construction work

The Group seeks to collect claims from customers as reimbursement
of costs and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract, which give rise to variable consideration. The
Group has determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for claims in construction work, given there is a wide range of
possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with third
parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained by considering its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and the current
economic conditions.

Determination of net realisable value of land held
for property development

Land held for property development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value is the estimated
selling price (based on the direct comparison method) less estimated
selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any), which
are determined based on best available information and valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. Where there are any
unfavourable changes in the estimated selling price, estimated selling
expenses and/or estimated cost of completion arising from any
changes to the property market conditions in Hong Kong and the
UAE, loss may be recognised in profit or loss of the Group.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill carried as an asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022 was HK$106,790,000 (2021:
HK$122,377,000), details of which are set out in note 18 to the
financial statements.

Income tax

At 31 March 2022, deferred tax assets of HK$22,201,000 (2021:
HK$20,334,000) in relation to unused tax losses have been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
whereas a deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of
tax losses of HK$1,117,643,000 (2021: HK$1,048,788,000) as at
31 March 2022 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
(note 36(a)). The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less or more than expected, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or recognition takes place.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the
Group's operating segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of the other operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company and certain senior
management (collectively referred to as the "CODM"). For the
purpose of performance assessment and resource allocation by the
CODM, the Group's business activities are categorised under the
following five reportable operating segments:

e Construction services

provision of construction and
consultancy services in areas of civil
engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building
construction mainly in Hong Kong

e Property development
and assets leasing

development and sale of properties,
and leasing of assets in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the UAE

Medical technology
and healthcare

e Professional services — provision of security, tunnel and other
facility management services in Hong
Kong
e Non-franchised bus - provision of non-franchised bus
services services in Hong Kong

production and sale of PET
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use
in Hong Kong

Segment revenue and results

Segment results represent the profit generated from each segment,
net of selling expenses and administrative expenses directly
attributable to each segment without allocation of corporate
expenses, interest income, gain on disposal of a self-occupied office
premise, non-lease-related finance costs and interest on unallocated
lease liabilities. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable operating segment:

Year ended 31 March 2022

Segment revenue (note 6): A8 (MzTe) -
Sales to external customers MSNRE P E
Intersegment sales HHMEHE
Reconciliation: Hik:

Elimination of intersegment sales HMEHE 2 EH
Segment results PHEE

Interest income FBHA

Corporate and other unallocated expenses TEREMKA R
Finance costs (other than interest on BERA (B2 HE

REFESHD)

segment lease liabilities)

Profit before tax BRBEATE R
Income tax FrigHt

Profit for the year REERF
Other segment information: HipHER:
Share of profits of joint ventures EfERERARF
Share of profits of associates FEMREE N AR R

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

RREBEZRE

Amortisation of intangible assets - unallocated assets &£/ EE#E - *HEEE
HEWE WRRRRELZ

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets

Written down of land held for property development HUs 3 {ENE%E 2

BRIE

10 net realisable value THETERFE
Impairment of goodwil BEZRE
Impairment of contract assets BHEEZRE
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables 25 RWHIE 2 RERE

Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of investment in an associate

Construction

services

BERB
HKS 000
FET

5, BEQHER (2

DE SN KA ()

AEBRAIZR
SE S

RS

DT

BZ2022F3A31B LEE

Property

development
and assets  Professional

services

EXRH
HKS$ 000

leasing

NEBRR
RERR
HK$ 000

TEx FE7

Non-
franchised
bus services
FEE
BERH%
HK$ 000
FET

Medical
technology
and healthcare
BRNR
iR

HKS$ 000
FET

D Z W

Total

aE
HKS 000
FET

Ik

NE BEEREZNE

HEEBEAE A

M HERREZHE
R-RBEREREHE

Write-off of inventories FEZME
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and ANHE RER

other receivables H IR 2 AR
Write-off of debt investments at fair value BATE AR EE

through profit or loss - unallocated assets

REZME - ROREE

6,721,178 - 963,824 - 37,062 7,722,064
- - 11,353 - - 11,353
6,721,178 - 975,177 - 37,062 1,733,417
(11,353)

7,722,064

41,232 185,813 53,713 2,122 12,917 296,397
19,483
(107,429)
(71,487)

136,964
(29,028)

107,936

562 - - - - 562
2,604 3,835 - 2,722 - 9,161
(43,027) (1,542) (8,316) - (1,078) (53,963)
(19,112) (5,172) (6,448) - (1,692) (32,424)
(216)

(60) - (130) - - (190)

871 - - - - 87

- (73,769) - - - (73,769)
(15,593) - - - - (15,593)
(2,420) - - - - (2,420)
158 - - - - 158

(6) - - - - (6)

- (59) - - - (59)
(2,795) - - - - (2,795)
(609) - - - - (609)
(3,642)

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

Segment revenue (note 6):
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales

Segment results

Interest income

Corporate and other unallocated expenses

Finance costs (other than interest on
segment lease liabilities)

Loss before tax
Income tax

Loss for the year

Other segment information:
Share of profits of joint ventures
Share of (losses)/profits of associates

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Fair value loss of investment properties, net

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net

Written down of inventories to net realisable value

Impairment of contract assets

Impairment of trade receivables
Impairment of other receivables

Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of investment in an associate

Az (Fizre) -
MHNPEFHE
PEEHEE

Bk
DEERE 2 HB

Gk

MBKA

PEREMRDERR

BERK(DBZHEEE
MBI

BRBAIER
PR

AERER

bR HER

EERE AR
[EfEBHE N A (B1E) /87
nE BELRREINE
RABEEZNE
RENEATEERIE
HENE BERRELZ
BRFE
HAFEETERFE
AMAEZRME
HARRTEZRE

Et LR RE

nE - BERREZHE
R—RBERRRE WK
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Construction
services

BER
HK$ 000
AL

5.

Property
development
and assets
leasing
NEERR
RERE
HK$000
FAT

2
IR

KREFWERE 2

PEWNEREE (&)
HZ2021F3A31H L EE

Professional
Services

SXRH
HK$ 000
TAT

Non-
franchised
bus services
FEe
BLRE
HK$ 000
FET

Medical
technology and
healthcare Total
BERHR
HER nE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FAL

6,566,473 1,676 952,194 = 13915 7,534,258
= = 15912 = = 15912
6,566,473 1,676 968,106 = 13915 7,550,170
(15912)

7,534,258

58,646 (271,978) 156,983 6,044 3,273 (47,032)
26,170

(88,348)

(77,501)

(186,711)

(2.374)

(189,085)

3,532 = = = = 3,532
(6,253) 15,187 - 6,044 - 14,978
(44,367) (1,542) (8,875) = (394) (55,178)
(21,204) (5,165) (5211) = (368) (31,948)
(600) - - - - (600)
38.71) = (66) = = 3,777
(380) - - - - (380)
(2,396) = = = = (2,396)
(432) = = = = (432)
(5,116) - - - - (5,116)
(357) = = = = (357)

= (3.556) = = = (3.556)
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5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

Information about segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as it
is not regularly reviewed by the CODM.

Geographical information
(@) Revenue from external customers

No geographical information of revenue from external
customers is presented as more than 90% of revenue during
each of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 was derived
from Hong Kong.

(b) Non-current assets

5.

KREFWERE 2

PTHEERER

MR EBEERREYFEHNERH
BN BEERABOER HFME
BE-

ith B & H

() RENMBEFZKZE
R E20224F K%2021F3H31H
IEZ2EFERN  HBiBI0% 2 W
REBE WREIINGEP 2K
mZHEERTIERS]

(b) FARBEE

2021

HK$°000

FET

Hong Kong EE 769,822 804,012
Mainland China R A bt 170,926 =
The UAE o] B 2§ 163,638 236,149
Other jurisdictions Hth AhAE R 130,810 160,097
1,235,196 1,200,258

The non-current asset information disclosed above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill, financial
assets and deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer

A summary of revenue earned from an external customer, which
contributed more than 10% of the Group's revenue for each of the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, is set out below:

EREEZIFRBEEERTIR
BEE(TEERE eREE
NOEFE IR A B ) P 42 b 4
DHe

EBE—BXEEXEFZEHR

REE2022% 2021434318 &4
EREBAEETRKZEIEI0% A L
M—ZINEE MR ESEEEHIN T

2021
HK$000
FET

Customer A: BEA:
Contribution to construction services segment BREERE D 4,178,159 3,979,233
Contribution to professional services segment BREZERG S 392,482 391,432
4,570,641 4,370,665

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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6. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

6.

ERE
AEEZ EEEANMT -

Revenue from contracts with customers REAEFEHZWE 7,722,064 7,533,324
Revenue from another source — KRB E ARz WS —
Gross rental income from assets leasing BEHE MR - 934
7,722,064 7,534,258
Notes: B &k -
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) HEEEZIFEH
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3831HLLFE

Segments
28
Medical
Construction Professional technology and
services services healthcare Total
BRME
EER% HERE HiEE it
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHT FHT FET FET
Type of goods or services ERBREER
Construction work BETR 6,651,894 - - 6,651,894
Rendering of construction-related RERFIEBEARS
consultancy services 69,284 - - 69,284
Sale of goods HEEM - - 37,062 37,062
Rendering of security, tunnel and RERE BER
other facility management services Hth R e B R R T - 963,824 - 963,824
Total revenue from contracts with customers K BB F A #) 2 4058 6,721,178 963,824 37,062 7,722,064
Geographical market B 5
Hong Kong BE 6,490,020 963,824 37,062 7,490,906
Other jurisdictions Hpth A% 231,158 - - 231,158
Total revenue from contracts with customers KBRS A4 2 WS B85 6,721,178 963,824 37,062 7,722,064
Timing of revenue recognition W 25 BE R I S
Goods transferred at a point in time RERZELER - - 37,062 37,062
Services transferred over time R RS AR 75 6,721,178 963,824 - 7,685,002
Total revenue from contracts with customers KB B FA % 2 WS #%E 6,721,178 963,824 37,062 7,722,064

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22



Notes to Financial Statements

PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

6. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

6. EXHE(#)
Mk : (48)

(a) EEBEZOHRER(H)

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE202153A318ILFE
Segments
okl
Property
development Medical
Construction and assets Professional  technology and
services leasing services healthcare
MEEER BERE
RER BERE R alieds Feks)
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAT FAET FAT FAET FAT
Type of goods or services ERABHER
Construction work BEIR 6,528,665 - - - 6,528,665
Rendering of construction-related REUEEEBEAARE
consultancy services 37,808 - - - 37,808
Sale of goods HEED - 742 - 13,915 14,657
Rendering of security, tunnel and REREZ BER
other facility management services HthRieE R RS - - 952,194 - 952,194
Total revenue from contracts REFPANZMREHE
with customers 6,566,473 742 952,194 13,915 7,533,324
Revenue from another source REEMRIR 2 W
— Gross rental income EEEON L - 934 - - 934
Total revenue hentita 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 13,915 7,534,258
Geographical market BEHH
Hong Kong A% 6,480,496 - 952,194 13,915 7,446,605
Other jurisdictions Hib iR 85,977 742 - - 86,719
Total revenue from contracts REFPANZNREHE
with customers 6,566,473 742 952,194 13,915 7,533,324
Revenue from another source REEMRIRZ W
- Gross rental income i ELON - 934 - - 934
Total revenue hentitl 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 13,915 7,534,258
Timing of revenue recognition lie-3:4]
Goods transferred at a point in time REHHELER - 742 - 13,915 14,657
Services transferred over time WRREB R 6,566,473 - 952,194 - 7,518,667
Total revenue from contracts with customers ~ REBEF ANz fizaE 6,566,473 742 952,194 13,915 7,533,324
Revenue from another source REEMREZ Wi
— Gross rental income -HekABE - 934 - = 934
Total revenue learit] 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 13,915 7,534,258

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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6. REVENUE(mmmww

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current
reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in

previous periods:

Revenue recognised that was included in contract

MiaE: (%)
(@) HEXEZIFENHE)
TRITRARERAER 2 MR EH

ZECROAARERNZANABERK
FEAREEERZBOEETER:

FFARSHUEHNERELZ

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: B R s

Construction work BEITR 64,085 33,105
Revenue recognised from performance obligations | 55 AT HA R S B AR 5 K

satisfied or partially satisfied in previous periods: BHYVE E iR W

Revenue from construction work services not previously R 9 7] £ (8 O BR il T 2% Al

recognised due to constraints on variable consideration RIER 2 REBEETIRRE
PR & 396,621 416,146

Performance obligations (b) BYEE
Information about the Group's performance obligations in contracts with FRAEB 2 REFPAEANBHETER B
customers is summarised below: T
Construction work BEIR

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and
payment is generally due within one month from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain period as

stipulated in the contracts.

Construction-related consultancy services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time when the services are rendered
and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of billing.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22
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6. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Performance obligations (continued)

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time upon transfer of the
control of goods sold and payment in advance is normally required.

Rendering of security, tunnel and other facility management services and
provision of non-franchised bus services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time when the services are rendered

and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of billing.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March are as follows:

6.

MiaE: (%)
(b) BEREEE)
HEEM

BHOBEDNEBEEERZENE 2R
MEER  BREFERANRK

RERZ BERAGREEERBEUR
RUFELEH TR

T8 0 2 AE AR 542 44 0 5 PO P A - T A4
$5— 5 B0 £LBE 5 B #9485 308 MBI
fite

M3A31A [T ELHEE CREK A
DRER) DRI X HERESENT :

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue: AR R KR S
Within one year —FR 6,343,534 6,525,504
After one year —F1& 12,217,362 8,923,530
Total (note) #agE (Fisk) 18,560,896 15,449,034

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations which are expected to be recognised after one year relate to
construction work, of which the performance obligations are to be satisfied
in two to five years. All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

Note: The Group has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 to its revenue
from the provision of security, tunnel and other facility management
services for not disclosing the remaining performance obligations under
the Group's existing contracts as the Group recognises revenue from the
satisfaction of the performance obligation in the amount to which the
Group has a right to consideration from a customer that corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the entity's performance
completed to date. In addition, for all other contracts in which the
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue with
an original expected duration of one year or less, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed as permitted
under HKFRS 15.

SEREBRPN—FRERBZHTROAME
MRZXSERERSRERMERLFRERK
ZEETR - REIKERTENHEETH
FAEEMRZEREEHR —FRNERR
Wake LTRSS BTREITIRS
2R ERE

Mzt AEEEREEMBRERERES
SRR AT RE AR AR KR
HRZ BEREMREERRS
P as - fem I S B A S ER
BANETZHTRENHERE RA
AASEREEEATFKRER
HEZSETKERBENZEFE
ENRESHEERERBRNEAEE
Ez BN RERRR A
—FRURZ B ERERREEZ
BHREHMEBEREMAHMS R
BEBMBREERNEISH DEC

ERFERTRADNZZERAT
-

MBS ERBIERAR AR 20217226 3K
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202293 A31H
7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. H AR W= FEHE
Other income Hilg A
Interest income B A 19,483 26,170
Dividend income A% B A 162 =
Other rental income HEHEs WA 1,116 319
Other service income H A AR WA 3,696 873
Profit guarantee income s MR 78 A - 14,044
Management fee income EEREB A 2,709 2,699
Government subsidies* BT A B 2,899 247,525
Sundry income T 23,770 12,260
53,835 303,890
Gains, net W R
Gains on sales of property interests BRLEMNBARLS
through disposal of subsidiaries W ERE R 2 W 43(3) 117,681 11,515
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, net 1884 sE R FT B A 7] 2 Wz F 58 643 5,689
Gain on deregistration of a joint operation HHzF — & & E 152 W - 2,863
Gain on remeasurement of a EFFTER —HEBE AT
pre-existing interest in an associate BaEED W 42(b) - 3,493
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets & A # & & 2 W ek 871 =
Fair value gain of equity investments BEATEFABRSZRAIEE
at fair value through profit or loss Z N TFEWRE 668 =
Fair value gain of debt investments BRAFEGABREERE
at fair value through profit or loss 2N ER S - 97
119,863 23,657
Other income and gains, net H AR &S FEE 173,698 327,547
& The amount represented subsidies received under the Anti-epidemic Fund and 3 ZAREERBEBENEES REME
other support scheme in Hong Kong. All conditions relating to these grants have BT BB R - BRAZEEDNAE
been fulfilled. KB ERK -
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8.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

8. ®MEKA

AEBEZBEXRADHFTT

Interest on: UTEBEZHE

Bank borrowings RITE 55,596 59,651

Lease liabilities (note 17(b)) HEaE (MFE17(0) 2,050 2,300
Total interest expenses FE SN 57,646 61,951
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in ERARTERTHEEZ

connection with the arrangement of bank loans BB I Ak AR 2 B 44 16,553 19,011
Total finance costs 4 Bh B R AN 74,199 80,962
Less: Amount included in cost of construction work 3 : 5t A EE T2 AN 2 E5E (1,369) (1,911)

72,830 79,051

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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9.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

BRBLATER, (&)
AEEZ KRBTGS (BE)E M
B/ (5tA) FHI&H:

Cost of construction work BETREKA 6,334,643 6,336,764
Cost of construction-related BRI ERREE N

consultancy services provided PR 75 A, AR 53,486 31,153
Cost of goods sold BEEEmMKAR 13,088 5,764
Direct operating expenses (including WRHe s EEMESEZ

repairs and maintenance) arising on HELZERX (B

rental-earning assets HIERIRE) - 1,307
Cost of security, tunnel and other facility ~— DiR{tR%  BEREAM

management services provided 2Rt E IR AR 7% 2 A AR 870,596 848,279
Depreciation of property, plant and L ER YN G AT

equipment 15 53,963 55,178
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ET A E KA 2 B5E (43,510) (46,737)

10,453 8,441
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZINE 17(a) 32,424 31,948
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ET A E AN 2 B5E (5.414) (7,802)
27,010 24,146

Amortisation of intangible assets | EE 216 =
Lease payments not included in the EFFAHEREAED

measurement of lease liabilities HEMK 17(c) 68,521 80,764
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ET A E AN 2 BEE (67,772) (80,233)

749 531

Auditor’s remuneration T2 ERD BN & 5,280 5,120
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9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 9. BRBIADER (BHB) (@)
Employee benefit expense (including BERANAX (B
directors’ remuneration — note 10): BEHM—-KIE10) :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REWET 1,864,166 1,896,179
Equity-settled share option expense A AREE 7 BBIRERY  390) 7 1,048
Other equity-settled share-based EM AR EE 2 AR
payment expense (note) BEBSFHRE () 5,533 1,804
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR K48 F 5+ & 5% 58,170 65,845
Total employee benefit expense EEBARAZEE 1,927,876 1,964,876
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ET A E AN 2 BEE (1,632,552) (1,668,960)
295,324 295,916
Foreign exchange loss, net b X B85 - 245
Fair value loss of investment WEYENTFEEIBFE
properties, net 16 - 600
Fair value (gain)/loss of equity investments 32 A F(ExH A 25 2 A
at fair value through profit or loss KEZRTE
(W) EE (668) 210
Losses on disposal of other subsidiaries HEHMHEARZEIE 43(b) - 349
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME - HWERREZ
equipment, net 18 558 190 3,777
Impairment of goodwill &2 RE 18 15,593 =
Written down of land held for property WORISE TR 2 T
development to net realisable value ERBIRFE 22 73,769 =
Written down of inventories to MO F & 2= A B3R )FE
net realisable value - 380
Impairment of/(reversal of impairment) TREERGHNEEL
financial assets and contract assets: BB (BERE) :
Contract assets BHEE 24(3) 2,420 2,396
Trade receivables Z 5 W RIE 25(3) (158) 432
Other receivables H th fE Y FRTE 26(e) - 5,116
2,262 7,944
Write-off of property, plant and equipment #7% - # 83 & 3% 5 < #8R 6 357
Write-off of investment in an associate R Z R aRE Z MR 59 3,556
Write-off of debt investments at fair BAFEFGABZEZ
value through profit or loss BT E 2 MR 3,642 =
Write-off of inventories FE M 2,795 =
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and FENHRIE - EE R
other receivables i U 2k T8 2 R 609 =
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0. PROF'T/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has entered into agreements
with two directors (one of which is an executive director of the Company)
and six employees of a subsidiary (the “Relevant Subsidiary”). Pursuant to
the agreements, subject to the fulfillment of certain performance conditions,
the directors and employees shall acquire a total of 16.25% equity interest
(the “Relevant Interest”) in the Relevant Subsidiary from the Group at a total
consideration of HK$7,865,000 in 5 equal tranches over vesting periods of 4 to 8
years.

The fair value of the Relevant Interest of the Relevant Subsidiary as at the grant
date was assessed to be HK$30,623,000, and therefore the difference between
its fair value and the consideration received/receivable, which amounted to
HK$22,758,000, shall be amortised as equity-settled share-based payment
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period of 4 to 8 years.

During the year, equity-settled share-based payment of 2% equity interest of the
Relevant Subsidiary lapsed, the amount of the Relevant Interest recognised in
profit or loss during the year amounted to HK$5,533,000 (2021: HK$1,804,000).

Fair value measurement disclosure

The fair value of the aforementioned equity interest of the subsidiary (an unlisted
equity investment) was determined with reference to a valuation performed by
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer registered in Hong Kong, using a market-based
valuation technique, based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates.

The fair value of the aforementioned equity interest of the subsidiary as at the
grant date has been determined with reference to a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections, which were based on a financial forecast approved
by senior management covering a five-year period. A growth rate of 2% is used
for the perpetual period and the discount rate of 14.6% applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the construction
material e-procurement business. A marketability discount of 25% is applied to
the corresponding equity value of the unlisted equity investment to measure the
fair value.
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9.

BR

BAER, (BE) (@)

M e

REZE2021F3A831ALLFER  NEEE
—MMEB AR ([EREMEAR]) ZME
EE (HP—ZARRRNRITES) RN
ZREBFI L HH -BEHE EKET
KRB ZGH NEBSHEIESENFEE
A A48 87,865,000/ TTHZEE KL ES
DEREREHERBEWNERRE H£16.25%
HRRIE ([1BRANRAE]) -

HEMBRREAERERRLBSHNA
& {4 5 4530,623,000/8 5T B It 0 H
AFERFMK TERREZANEEAL
22,758,000/ 7T - FE MAZE 8 ) 57 & H A
IRA G 2 ARR 19 A BT R B X 1A 18
= MRS -

RAFER - HREKE A F)2% K AR A4
B2 AR BEMM R BRERB RA
F[Z 1B N R 2 A8 B AR 4 £ 585,533,000
F 7T (20214 : 1,804,0005 7T ) °

DAFEFEHE

Lt Y B R e B (—TRE EWARAIR
B)ZRTFEDSEFERITEENGER
HMAARAE (REEEMNBLIEES
A& A RN ) AR & 30 3F i 7] B AR (B 3K A
EXFOBRRRATGEERMET 2
EMEE °

LB AR ERE L BN AFET
w2EPDBReRESBATENEREE (A
= AVE IR E TR S A HR B F T8 R
BEE)BE -FEHUANMEANEREA
2% MARE R E R EEIRE14.6%
BREBA W IREBEA ERBEEMR
ISR E AR - 25% HI KR BRIR B AR
SEETRABEHENREBEUGER
F1E -
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10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

10. EEF

REBIMAEFES ETHAR ([ LEHR
A1) - BB R EEGIZE383(1)(@) (b) ()
EOGERAR (BBEEZHDmER)R
BIE28R NEEZEEHMBENT

2021

HK$'000

FET

Fees ke 1,342 1,228

Other emoluments: HEae :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERREWEF 23,240 32,313

Equity-settled share option expense AR5 5 2 BE AR B =2 4 460
Other equity-settled share-based HEMURAREE 2 ARG &

payment expense ERAFHAEZ 1,202 389

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RARAE FI T B 51 198 200

24,644 33,362

Total directors’ remuneration ERHMNeEE 25,986 34,590

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. ESHM )
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is as REZBAFRER 2 ESHMATT
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3A31B L FE
Salaries, Other equity-
allowancesand  Equity-settled  settled share- Retirement
benefits ~ share option based payment  benefit scheme
in kind expense expense  contributions
Hip AR A
BEZNURH
Fe RER  URAEEZ  RERARM BHBER
ik BENEA BRERX X e -
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
A7 A7 FE7z TEz TEx TE7
Executive directors: BTES:
Pang Vat Ting, Dominic Y E - 5,591 1 - 18 5,610
Xu Jianhua, Jerry RRE - 4,744 1 - 60 4,805
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick [k - 6,887 1 1,202 60 8,150
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant SR - 4,156 1 - 60 4217
Li Wai Hang, Christina ZER - 1,862 - - - 1,862
- 23,240 4 1,202 198 24,644
Non-executive directors: FBITES:
Wong Wendy Dick Yee s 230 - - - - 230
Wang Nai Keung, Philco’ B 67 - - - - 67
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley? BER 230 - - - - 230
527 - - - - 527
Independent non-executive directors: BV FHITES:
Wu William Wai Leung HER 230 - - - - 230
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhE 230 - - - - 230
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang fgE 230 - - - - 230
Yen Gordon® BEH 125 - - - - 125
815 - - - - 815
Total BE 1,342 23,240 4 1,202 198 25,986
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I -
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. ESHM )
Year ended 31 March 2021 B ZE2021F3831BLLFE
Salaries, Other equity-
allowances and Equity-settled settled share- Retirement
benefits share option  based payment  benefit scheme
in kind expense expense contributions
HiARA
EE 2R
s 28 WRAGEE,  RERFRN RINER
we ENER R IER Fx HE:S ekl
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FAT FET FET FET FAT
Executive directors: HiTES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic [ - 17,807 115 - 18 17,940
Xu Jianhua, Jerry Bz - 2,672 115 - 60 2,847
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick v - 1877 - 389 60 8,326
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant PNCES - 2,059 115 - 60 2,234
Li Wai Hang, Christina TEM - 1,862 46 - = 1,908
Han Li¢ R - 36 - - 2 38
- 2313 391 389 200 33,293
Non-executive directors: FES:
Wong Wendy Dick Yee® Eie 202 - - - - 202
Wang Nai Keung, Philco’ B 134 - - - - 134
336 - - - - 336
Independent non-executive directors: BN FHITES:
Wu William Wai Leung L2 230 - bE] - = 253
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhEE 230 = 3 = = 253
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang CESE] 230 - 23 - - 253
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley? BIm 20 - - - - 0
892 - 69 - - 961
Total fok 1,228 32,313 460 389 200 34,590
1 appointed as a non-executive director on 1 September 2020 and resigned as a 1 20209 A1 B ZEERFERNITEZT RN
non-executive director on 17 July 2021 20217 AV7TEBHEFRITES
2 appointed as an independent non-executive director on 15 May 2020 and 2 20205 RSB RERBUFNITES
re-designated from an independent non-executive director to a non-executive ER2021F9R15H AB FFATTESRH
director on 15 September 2021 ERIMNITES
3 appointed as an independent non-executive director on 15 September 2021 3 MR2021F9R 1SR EERB U IENITES
4 resigned as an executive director on 20 July 2020 4 202057 A20 B BHIHITES
5 appointed as a non-executive director on 15 May 2020 5 R2020F5A1SA R T A ERITES
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10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EEHM )

Notes:

(a) Certain directors had share-based payment transactions with the Group in the
current and prior years, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of the Company and another arrangement, further details of
which are set out in notes 39 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.
The fair values of these share-based payment transactions, which have been
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
respective dates of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(b) There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 11.

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2021:
two) directors of the Company, details of whose emoluments are set
out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
one (2021: three) non-director highest paid employees is as follows:

Bt -

(@ REACFRABREAER-BEHGZE
ETEFERNAFERBEFERBEER
755 B P AR A A AR 75 R A B AN SR B DA R AR
RERNHKRZ S HE-TFBEIHER
BB MRM AR - RERFBHER
HmANEROARD BERNRRHZAF
EEREBRE AREE  MRAFERT
AMBBRROSECHA LR EEH MR
BA-

b) AFER IEREAZHEESBRERE
KRB REEFAHM (20214 : &) -

hEmReEFNES

AFEERN AEGRaFMNEEREAR
ARG Q021F MR ES  HEH
FIBEN EXXHIEE10 - FR—% (2021
F ZR)EEEERFTOHES 2 F
BT

2021

HK$'000

FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYRET 4,144 16,629
Equity-settled share option expense AR A4 H 2 IR R X - 134
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKEFET B 60 180
4,204 16,943

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

MENFTINBEANZFEEESH
MiES 2 ABInT

Number of employees

BEEAR
2022 2021
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T %3,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001;% 7T £4,500,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001/ 7T &9,500,000/% 7T - 1
1 3
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12. INCOME TAX 12. FTB %

An analysis of the Group'’s income tax is as follows:

AEBEZHRBHROMAT :

Current — Hong Kong BER - B
Charge for the year REERZ 16,718 15,705
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFERETR
CBERE) 1,472 (15,804)
18,190 (99)
Current — Mainland China BUVER — A B i
Charge for the year NEERX 12,658 43
Current — Elsewhere BVER - Efibith 5
Charge for the year REERZ 784 1,009
Under-provision in prior years BEFEEETE - 1,032
784 2,041
Deferred (note 36) IRIE (PH5E36) (2,604) 389
Total tax expense for the year REERIER A5 29,028 2,374
Notes: B 5 -

(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000)
of the assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

(@) BEMNBBDNEAEENERBEEZME
FHIERRBURE FIA16.5% (20214 :16.5% )
MR A E — MK E R RBRI
BARARTAEMAHMEHENENE
B - %M1 B A 7] &2,000,0007 7T (20214F :
2,000,000/ 7T ) B9 & 2% Bt i F1428.25% K
0 88T FE AR B 0% F B4R 16.5% 1T o i E
fth, 3th (65 7 AR B v F KA 2 BB THARBR AR
SELEZRAEER ZIBITHERHE -
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12. INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at
the statutory tax rates to the tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate is as
follows:

A s
12. FR8% (&)
Mk : (48)
(b) BEEMRAE 2B ANEF, (Ei8) &

AMERY (ER) BRI EEERB X
FHEZHERS ZHERNT

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBATEF] (B18) 136,964 (186,711)
Tax expense/(credit) at the statutory tax rates BEATHERZRERS/ (H5) 15,720 115 (25,524) 13.7
Effect of withholding tax on gain on sale of BIHEBBLE —FHEAR
property interest through disposal of a subsidiary &M ¥ 2 MY 12,157 8.9 - -
Profits and losses attributable to joint AEDRAREEREEGZ
ventures and associates B RER (1,842) (1.3) (5,747) 3.1
Income not subject to tax PERBZ WA (46,594) (34.0) (55,645) 298
Expenses not deductible for tax OBk b b 27,024 19.7 71,544 (38.3)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years, net BAFERERR/ (BEERE)
FE 1,472 1.1 (14,772) 79
Tax losses not recognised RERZFIEER 28,692 20.9 41,355 (22.2)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods AR 2 RIEEE (7,558) (5.5) (9,549) 5.1
Others Hit (43) (0.1) 712 (0.4)
Tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate BRASEERBEHE 2 HERSZ 29,028 21.2 2,374 (1.3)
13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE

Interim — HK0.88 cent (2021: HK0.87 cent)

2021

HK$'000
FET

B — 5 A% X 3B 1%0.8875 (1L

per ordinary share (20214 : 0.87/81l) 15,921 15,880

Proposed final — HK1.10 cents (2021: Nil) BEAH-SREERKR
per ordinary share 1.10781l (20214 : &) 19,821 =
35,742 15,880

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. ZATIRRELERER

ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is based
on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is (i) the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year; less (i) the weighted average number
of ordinary shares held under the share award scheme of the
Company during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amount presented as the share options of the Company outstanding
during each of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 had
no diluting effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount
presented.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the following data:

Earnings/(Loss)

(E18)

FREARMN (BR)SBEIRER
NARREEAFE SN, (BER)F
Bt B AT A B R AR AR 15 B
ROAFERNDHET 2 EBBRINEF
B (i) A F R AR B AN A B B 82
BET &AM T BB INE T -

R AR BIRE £20224 %202143 A
BAESFEHMATEZBRESE
2 BREARAF, (FE) &L
EBEYE RYERZIZ2ER
BEAEAN(EE)SBIEHFE-

FREAREERN (BER)SBED
RIBATBURRTE

&R,/ (B8)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company, used in the basic
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation

AR BRREIEFREF,
(E18) ANGTESK

EARREERTN, (ER) 121,999

(184,506)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year less weighted average
number of ordinary shares held under the
share award scheme during the year, used in
the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
calculation

KR4 & E

FABEITEBRINEF
BURA - [E AR IR A 17 82
B Rt A R T B ntE
FHH - AREFTEESREN
L#ERRN (BE)
1,800,188,943

1,816,611,009

THBA REERE

R AR

A

2021/224F %
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y13 - B R R E

Furniture,
Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery  equipment vehicles
B REBR
THREF HBERRE B RE Ag

HKS'000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
TET TET TET TET TET

(Note)
(Krit)
At 31 March 2022 #202253A318
At 1 April 2021: 202154718 :
Cost KA 95,146 536,960 173,760 69,563 875,429
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ R&TH & R/ (7.616) (306,410) (131,157) (46,702) (491,885)
Net carrying amount EmFE 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 April 2021 M202144R1R 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
Additions NE 86 10,353 2,809 2,284 15,532
Transfer to assets of a disposal BUEHERRBIERE
group classified as held for sale LRALESEMEE ¥ - (13,196) (2,985) (25) (16,206)
Depreciation provided during the year FNEHEZITE (2.467) (34,349) (9.964) (7.183) (53,963)
Disposals and write-off HE RME - (27132 (71713) (1.207) @72
Exchange realignment EHBE (287) 3) (31) - (321)
At 31 March 2022 2022534318 84,862 190,623 31,659 16,730 323,874
At 31 March 2022: 2022434318
Cost KA 94,936 524,095 167,237 63,049 849,317
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ ZHTE RA(E (10,074) (333,472) (135,578) (46,319) (525,443)
Net carrying amount FHFE 84,862 190,623 31,659 16,730 323,874
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15. ¥I3 - B R X2l )

Furniture,
Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery  equipment vehicles
B -RER
THREF HBERRE B3] RE am
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS 000
it FEn FiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn
(Note)
(Hiiz)
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A318
At 1 April 2020: R2020F4A18 :
Cost A 50,369 419,941 149,487 68,412 688,209
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 25 HTE Kis B (4,284) (241,780) (108,027) (43,021) (397,112)
Net carrying amount BEEE 46,085 178,161 41,460 25,391 291,097
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 April 2020 202054710 46,085 178,161 41,460 25,391 291,097
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERB AR 420) - 4,748 3,159 735 8,642
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon MEARREFNRE
resumption of control EHlERGE AR a2b) 42,79 436 4,097 123 47,452
Additions AE 60 83,505 7,214 4,845 95,624
Transfer from right-of-use assets REREEEEA 17(3) - 4,533 - - 4533
Depreciation provided during the year FRFRZNE (2,058) (36,697) (9,068) (7,355) (55,178)
Disposals and write-off HE RME - (4,139) (4,316) (898) (9,353)
Exchange realignment EHAE 647 3 57 20 727
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A318 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
At 31 March 2021: 2021437318
Cost A 95,146 536,960 173,760 69,563 875,429
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ 2&H7& K sE (7,616) (306,410) (131,157) (46,702) (491,885)
Net carrying amount FEFE 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
Note: At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's land and buildings with a then total Bk : M202263A310 AEEEEAE T L

net carrying amount of HK$81,170,000 (2021: HK$83,453,000) were pledged to

secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34(d)).

REF HABRHEFE 481,170,000/ T
(20214 : 83,453,000/ L) " fEAA £ E

R —RRITRE 2R (HFE34d)) -

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. REWE

Carrying amount as at beginning of year  F#IEFHBREE 11,256 =
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon BB A AR EFES

resumption of control PEHIER SR A ARR 42(b) - 11,790
Net loss from fair value adjustments N ERAREEFE - (600)
Exchange realignment PE & % (80) 66
Carrying amount as at end of year FRENRAE 11,176 11,256
Notes: B 5 -

(@)

At 31 March 2022, investment properties of the Group with a then total carrying
amount of Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") 6,010,000 (equivalent to HK$11,176,000)
(2021: RM6,010,000, equivalent to HK$11,256,000) were pledged to secure
certain general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34(d)).

At 31 March 2022, the Group'’s investment properties were remeasured based
on valuations performed by PPC International SDN BHD (2021: PPC International
SDN BHD), independent professional qualified valuer. Each year, the Group's
senior management decides which external valuers to be appointed for the
external valuations of the Group's investment properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s senior management has on-going discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results during the course of
the valuation.
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7202293 A31H ' #ERMF{EA6,010,0005
RAGRLE ([2F]) (FAE”M11,176,000
#IT) (20214 :6,010,0005 5 * HHE X
11,256,00078 7T) K AN = B 18 B ) 3£ B 1K 37
EABAREEERET —MRIBTRE ZER
(Hf5E34(d)) °

M20224F3A31 8 - IREBEBLEE A BRI
BT PPC International SDN BHD (20214F :
PPC International SDN BHD )77 2 {18
AEFBEEHFEEREME -AEES
REBEBEFREZMEINEEEM  UR
REFEREYHEEITINED L E - BUBIRM
BEMSA® BIMRREREAEEE
Ale- NEEBREY AEBESREEE—
EHRGEEMAEEBRIRGEESEZER
HEITRR
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, fair value measurements of the Group's investment
properties were using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in
HKFRS 13). During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 (quoted prices in active
markets) and Level 2 (significant observable inputs) and no transfers into or out
of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to
the valuation of the investment properties which are within Level 3 fair value
measurement category:

Direct comparison approach  Selling property unit rate (per square foot)

BERLEOR HENXENEER (BT HTR)

The valuations were arrived at by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant markets. In the valuation under the direct
comparison approach, the comparables are made by reference to those of similar
properties in the neighbourhood.

The investment properties of the Group were valued using the direct comparison
approach, under which market price is one of the key inputs, taking into account
the time, location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.

A significant increase in the market price used would result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa.

16. REMZE (

MiaE: (%)

(b)

RM438 to RM927 (equivalent
to HK$814 to HK$1,724)
4385 EF0275E (HER
8148 T £1,724% 1)

DPEERKE

20224 K20214F3A310  AEEKRE
MEZANTFEAEASATABEEEA
Y (ZF=R TERBEBVHREEL
F135%) - INE 20224 K%20214F3831H
HEE AFEAEE—RERMIB R
B)RE_R(ERTETHALIE) 2H
WEEERS - B AR EHE =R

INTAREATFEFBE=ZRT2REME
AREMAGBERMEERGARRHE

RM438 to RM927 (equivalent
to HK$820 to HK$1,736)
4389 FENTLEH (HER

8208 7L E1,736/8 L)

HEDELEZRETMSETHAALRH
ERXSGMEB - REERLEEANMGE
AELBMERSEILECMEEL -

AEENREMERERLEEAGE B
e mISERATERABL — Wik
ALBRMERZMEZER WHRES
E = NEE R AR -

B A A B A N R B BOR A %
AFEIEARLA R2AH-

DN A ERIERER AT 2021/225F
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17. LEASES
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 16) consisting
of residential properties in Malaysia under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants
to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group
during the year was HK$1,116,000 (2021: HK$319,000), details of
which are included in note 7 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants are as follows:

17. HE

AEBESHBEA
AEERBELEHELRHLEBEERKRE
W (HiE16)  BRFRAETHER
ME-BEGRBTEZREL X MAF
Fe ARBRAFEARIAZERK
A %1,116,0007% 7T (20214F : 319,000
BIT) EFBER M SRR M T o

R20229F3A31H AEERIKFEEM
Fal M 2 Tl s & E & k8
FER 2 AR HEEMNKOT

Within one year —F R 1,419 222
After one year but within two years —FREMFAN 431 99

1,850 321
The Group as a lessee TEBEREEA

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for land, properties,
plant and machinery and motor vehicles for use in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased
land from the owners with a lease period of 75 years each, and
no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases.

Leases of properties have lease terms ranging from 1 to 5 years,
while leases of plant and machinery and motor vehicles have
remaining lease terms of 1 year and 3 to 6 years, respectively.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.
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AEE (EAEARBAAN)BEERELES
EAZ i Y% EEREHEARA
BHrHERHE -BEH—IXERTMN
MEFESTHE i FAEE A75F

MBEZSETHWHREZER H1-e
BEELEMAMARK

MEBRE BN F1E5F  h#=R

RBARATEZHERTHBD 5
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17. LEASES (continued) 17. 58 #)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBEREEA ()
(a) Right-of-use assets () EAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and rEEFEAREECREBERR
the movements during the year are as follows: KEBRNEBINT

Leasehold Leased Plant and Motor
land properties machinery vehicles Total

BEtH BENE BERRH nE aR
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000

TET TET TET TET TET

(Note)

(Hit)
At 1 April 2020 M202064 1R 139,233 37,275 471 965 182,184
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR 2() - 4,131 - 1,719 5,850
Consolidation of subsidiaries WEARRENRG

upon resumption of control BHERGS AR 42() 6,431 3,692 256 1,897 12,276
Additions NE 4,685 12,002 - 447 17,134
Depreciation provided during FRFRZNE

the year (5,219) (25,406) (219) (1,104) (31,948)
Transfer to property, plant and BHENE BERR

equipment 15 - - (4,533) - (4,533)
Early termination of a lease RAK RS = (215) = - (215)
Exchange realignment R EELS 251 - 2 14 267
As at 31 March 2021 and R20211453A318 &

1 April 2021 20214818 145,381 31,479 217 3,938 181,015
Additions RE - 34,099 - 458 34,557
Depreciation provided during FRHRNE

the year (5,434) (25,310) (25) (1,655) (32,424)
Transfer to assets of a disposal BRENBEAREEEL

group classified as held forsale  —EHEEENEE 31 - (3,165) - (734) (3,899)
Disposals HE - - (189) (1,146) (1,335)
Exchange realignment B X 5% 150 - ) (9) 138
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31R 140,097 37,103 - 852 178,052
Note: At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s leasehold land with a then Mizr: M202293R31H - AEEBEHE

total net carrying amount of HK$119,308,000 (2021: HK$123,963,000) WEFTHE L HLAKREFE

were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group £119,308,0007% 7T (20214 :

(note 34(d)). 123,963,000 7T) " fF B AKE
BEE-RRTBREZER (M
34(d)) °

TMNE A EEIERARAT 2021/22%% 217
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17. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and the

17.

HE =)

AEBEREBEA (&)

(b) HE&RME

AEEHEREZREERNA

movements during the year are as follows: FEAZEEHNAT:
At beginning of year REA] 55,805 65,264
Acquisition of subsidiaries s B B BB 2 ) 42(a) - 6,112
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon KB A BIREFHEE

resumption of control TH| R AR A AR 42(b) - 6,611
New leases MEE 34,403 12,429
Early termination of a lease RAKZIE—IEHE - (215)
Accretion of interest recognised FABRZHEER

during the year 8 2,050 2,300
Payments (BN (39,078) (36,719)
Transfer to liabilities directly BREESBERFFEHEZ

associated with the assets of —FHrEER Y

a disposal group classified as BEEERBNEE

held for sale 31 (4,043) -
Exchange realignment PE & 3% (17) 23
At end of year RER 49,120 55,805
Portion classified as current liabilities 2 3B ARE B &2 25 (26,729) (30,722)
Non-current portion ERBE D 22,391 25,083

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 49

to the financial statements.
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17. LEASES (continued) 17.

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(o)

Other lease information

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

HE 2
rEBEREBA (&)
(0 EHipasEs

RiBRRER AR 55
mF -

Interest on lease liabilities HEAEZHE 2,050 2,300
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZNE 32,424 31,948
Expense relating to short-term leases HEBHHEEFE A

(included in cost of sales and (GFASEER AR

administrative expenses) TEFAY) 68,521 80,764
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBR AR B%E 102,995 115,012

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 41(c) to
the financial statements.

HERSRE BRI EREN
AR -

mNEE A EREERAR AR 2021/22F 3R
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Notes to Financial Statements

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
following cash-generating units (or group of cash-generating units)

MR MIEE
31 March 2022
202243 HA31H
18. GOODWILL 18. &
At beginning of the year: RE:
Cost B 7R 122,377 43,211
Accumulated impairment 2FHRE - -
Net carrying amount REFE 122,377 43,211
Net carrying amount: AREHE
At 1 April R4A1RH 122,377 43,211
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE B B A A) 42(a) - 64,916
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon M B R RN BETES
resumption of control RS AR 42(b) - 14,044
Disposal of a subsidiary & —fHEH B AR 43(b) - (2,476)
Impairment recognised during the year FNERRE (15,593) =
Exchange realignment M W S 6 2,682
At 31 March M3H31H8 106,790 122,377
At end of the year: RER:
Cost DN 122,383 122,377
Accumulated impairment BEETRE (15,593) =
Net carrying amount BREFE 106,790 122,377
Impairment testing of goodwill 2R BRI

BBREGAHAABEOEERD KR A
THREELSEN (SRSEEEMER)

for impairment testing: AETTIREAIE -
e Building construction and architectural consultancy business in o [IRIIEEE TR RBRER

Singapore of HK$45.9 million (2021: HK$45.8 million);

3 Interior design and fit-out business in Malaysia of HK$14.0 3

million (2021: HK$14.1 million);

o Provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services 3
business in Hong Kong of HK$15.6 million (2021: HK$15.6
million); and

o PET radiopharmaceuticals business in Hong Kong of HK$46.8 3

million (2021: HK$46.8 million).
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) 2 7% /45,900,000 7T (2021
£F : 45,800,000/ 7T )

IR B R P es M) = AR T R & E
23%514,000,000/% 7T (20214 :
14,100,000/ 7T)

URBEMEHBE TEREE
%% /15,600,000 7T (20214 :
15,600,000/ 7C) : &

I E B 8 1E T T 95 1 ot 1 22
) 2 7% /346,800,0005 7T (2021
£F 1 46,800,000/% 7T) °
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18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. & (&)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

The recoverable amount of each of the relevant business units has
been determined with reference to a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections, which were based on a financial forecast
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the
opinion of the Directors, except for the cash-generating unit of the
provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services business,
no impairment provision is considered necessary for the Group’s
goodwill as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based for the preparation of the cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Building construction and architectural consultancy business
(i)  Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements and expected market
development.

(i) Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political,
legal and economic conditions in Singapore.

(i) Growth rate
The growth rate of 1.4% (2021: 1.4%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Singapore.

(iv)  Discount rate

The discount rate of 11.9% (2021: 11.7%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the building construction and architectural consultancy
business.

R E R ()
EHBEEBELNAIROSE2E
ERRERERANFENERERE
B B EASREEEREZ
hFEHMBEAAENR S RERR
e -

BEMEREINRER EFERE R
20224 20213 A31H ' BRIt E
TERGEH o RSEEEMIN I
EULERASE BT IRBERE-

EEERAEAERENANRER
EBFRAFRENSEARRERIT -

BTIERRELBHER

() EEEFE
RAABEREEMNREBEMNEE
RERBEFEA —FMERN
FHEME BEAREE R
R S R E ML

(i) EBERE
N IR A BOA AR RN
MU EERNEE) -

(i) 1ERE
ReREBAMERZ1.4%
(20214 : 1.4% ) G R E T ERH
IR FEERRE-

(v) BYHE
BenEe@AMERZ11.9%
(2021F 1 11.7% ) B IR K BB
AR EBEFERLEE
BAEBNETER -

SHERRARAT 2021/2246 8K
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

Interior design and fit-out business

()  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the prior years before the year with Covid-19 pandemic,
increased for expected efficiency improvements and expected
market development.

(i) Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political and
legal environment in Malaysia.

(i) Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Malaysia.

(iv)  Discount rate

The discount rate of 19.3% (2021: 16.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the interior design and fit-out business.

Provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services

business

(i)  Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements and expected market
development.

(i) Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political,
legal and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

(i) Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Hong Kong.
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18. B& (&)
BERENRA (&)
BRI REBLEE
() FEEEFE

ANEEBEEEMNREENEE
BB RRIEREFE AN
BEFEMMERNFHERNE
TR AR R T e TR AT T 95 R B
& o0

(i) HERE
BRI IR A BUA RAEREL
HEAEE-

(i) HWRE
BeREBAMERZ2.5%
(2021F 1 25% )RR HERE
RAGFHFEBIRE -

(i) BEHE
ReREEAMNMERZ219.3%
(20214 : 16.5% ) B IR R AR
A RMEEERNRTREE
B ERE -

EHEETRREER

() FAEEFE
RNEEEEEF REEMNEE
BEEBEFEA —FMERN
FHERME  BABEARERFA R
FE T 5 R B A A0 o

(i) HERE
EREBBBOR AR REBARR
WiEEKEE -

(i) HRE

RERERAIMERZ2.5%
(20214 : 2.5% ) IER R HENE
BEHFEBIRE -
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

Provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services
business (continued)

(iv)

Discount rate

The discount rate of 10.0% (2021: 16.3%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the electrical and mechanical engineering services business.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the
opinion of the Directors, an impairment provision of HK$15,593,000
against the goodwill attributable to the provision of electrical and
mechanical engineering services business was considered necessary
in response to the under-performance of the business, and was
charged to profit or loss during the year.

PET radiopharmaceuticals business

(1)

(ir)

(iir)

(iv)

Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements, and expected market
development.

Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political,
legal and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Hong Kong.

Discount rate

The discount rate of 14.9% (2021: 16.9%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the PET radiopharmaceuticals business.

18. Fa_j% (%)
EEREAR &)
RUBETIRRBEER (&)

(v) BYHEE
ReREEAMERZ210.0%
(20219 :16.3% ) BB R AR
AR RBMERAEE TRREE
TER E RS o

BEAERENANER EERAE
HREBRBETE BV EFIREE
EIRREESNEEFIERERE
15,593,000/ 7t * W AN F E NET A

s
ZS o
I

ESFRHERF R ER

() BEEFEF
ANEBEREENREEBNELE
REEBEFERN —FMERDN
FHEMNE REFREREF R
BRI S FEE MBI

IES 3
BRRAEOA AR REERR
W mEARD) -

(i) ERE
BeEREBAMERZ2.5%
(20214 : 2.5% ) IER R HENE
BEHEEBIRE -

(i) GEHE
ReREBAMERZ2149%
(20215 :16.9% ) BRI R AR i
BIA) K e ML B LB 137 18 BT
1 ) S TS Y T R ©
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BR&EE
Patent
=R
HK$'000
FET
At 31 March 2022 7A2022%3H831H
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R2020F4 81H 202163 H31H &
1 April 2021: 20214818 :
Cost B 7R =
Accumulated amortisation g -
Net carrying amount BRIEF 5 =
Net carrying amount: ARIEHER -
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H -
Additions NE 2,500
Amortisation provided during the year FNETE Y (216)
At 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H 2,284
At 31 March 2022: 7202293 H318 :
Cost PR 7R 2,500
Accumulated amortisation 2T (216)
Net carrying amount BRIEFER 2,284
Note: On 9 September 2021, the Group entered into a confirmatory agreement and : M202149A9H AEEH|-Smart
patent assignment agreement (collectively the “Agreements”) with I-Smart Technology International Limited (_ET#7 81
Technology International Limited (a connected person as defined under Listing AENBEALREAT —EL4E FTEMH
Rules and owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Li Wai Hang, ZEREZ LR LHEAIS% ) 5] L HER
Christina and Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita). Pursuant to the Agreements, the Group HE LB EERE (58 (%S5 HE]) °
agreed to purchase patent for the invention of a control system and a wireless REZZEHE AEBREEERFHRR
control method at a total cash consideration of HK$2,500,000. The transaction REGEGTEANEAEN BRERE
was completed on 5 October 2021. 7%2,500,000/% JT ° 32 5 12021410 A5H

FERK °
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Share of net assets

FEIEEEFE

BERAZRE

2022 2021
HK$°000

FET

HK$'000
TET

12,272 12,349

Notes:

21.

Particulars of a joint venture as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 52 to the
financial statements.

Summarised financial information of joint ventures

The following table illustrates the financial information of joint ventures of the
Group that are not individually material:

GBS

(a)

(b)

Share of the joint venture’s profit for the year EHEERARZFERT

Share of the joint venture’s other BhHEERRIZEREHM
comprehensive (lossyincome for the year 2H (&58) ks

Share of the joint venture’s total EHEEARIZEEE2E

comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Aggregate carrying amount of the
Group's investment in the joint venture

ZBEREE

(B1R) e
FEERAGERRZEE

—MWAZRAER20229F3A318 2 1BH

BT R 352 -
AEATZIHENEE
TRESIAREFENEALBAT2H
BER
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
562 3,532
(639) 511
(77) 4,043
12,272 12,349

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

21. RBERNFI2RE

2021
HK$°000
FET
Share of net assets EiLhEEFE 320,534 152,595
Due from associates JE LBt & 1) B 2 FRIE (b) 223,366 223,350
Total investments in associates REEE RN A 2B HREE 543,900 375,945
Notes: W e
(a) Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 53 (a) BT EBMANAN2022638318 2515
to the financial statements. B SRR M 53 ©
(b) These balances, in substance, form part of the net investments in associates and (b) ZERHBEE FBRARBE AR EFHE

are not expected to be repaid within one year and hence they are classified as
non-current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. There were
no recent history of default and past due amounts for the amounts due from
associates. At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

W—Fo REHTIER—FAEE B
b EREGEMBRARFTDERIERS
B EWE SRR 2RI TR
50 8% K 381 HA 5K 78 - 102022F K 2021434
318 BIEBEEWTEAEM-

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

() Summarised financial information of associates

The following entities are considered as material associates of the Group and are
accounted for using the equity method during the year:

(0}

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Top Spring Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited (“TSCWPD")
and its subsidiary (the “TSCWPD Group”), the major asset of which is
a quality residential development project located at Waterloo Road, Ho
Man Tin in Hong Kong;

Creative Profit Development Limited (“CPDL"), which owns a parcel of
land located at Cameron Road in Hong Kong for property development;

Clover Peak Limited (“CPL"), which is dormant during the year after
disposal of a 10% equity interest in a property development project
located at 38 Lai Ping Road, Sha Tin Town Lot No. 579, Sha Tin, N.T. in
2021;

Chun Wo Bus Services (BVI) Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Chun Wo
Bus Group”), which own 97 (2021: 92) motor buses and 92 (2021: 92)
passenger service licences for the provision of non-franchised bus services
in Hong Kong;

Rainbow Jasper Limited (“RJL") and its subsidiaries (the “RIL Group”),
which own a parcel of land located at Soy Street in Hong Kong for
property development;

Soyo Development Limited (“SDL") and its subsidiary (the “SDL Group”),
which own a parcel of land located at Castle Peak Road in Hong Kong
for property development; and

B Rt 5 B E P A A F (the “Shijiazhuang Junling”), which
became an associate of the Group on 18 November 2021 (note 43(a))
and own a comprehensive commercial development project, residential
properties and car parking spaces in Mainland China.

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information in respect
of the TSCWPD Group, CPDL, CPL, the Chun Wo Bus Group, the RIL Group,
Shijiazhuang Junling and the SDL Group adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial

statements:
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21. RBEE QR R 2 RE (4
Wit : ()

/N

(©

RIS E R BEE

UTEREEASARENEABEAQR]
WAFERRBEREAR:

(0]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

RREMDEHRZRER A A
(TRRENMEZRR]) REANE
AR ([RRENEHERER]) -
HBRBERNREEMNXAE]
EEN—EEEEEHERER

BIMERERAR ([BIMER]) -
HBEAMNEREHREIBRIE
MEER

Clover Peak Limited ([CPLJ) * A
2021 F HERL IR Y AT E
5795 BB ITIE38R  MHX HREIEA
B10% IRIEE - RFERNRRTE

Chun Wo Bus Services (BVI) Limited
REMBAR (EMNBLEE]) -
#AH97 (20214 : 92) 8 + K%92
(Q021F: R)RBBELEEBUNES
BRUFFEE LIRS

HEEBRRA([FE])REWES
AR ([REEHR]) HBEAUNE
BB E 2 RIEMEER

Soyo Development Limited
([sDL]) R E P 2 & ([SDLE&
BRMERREENREESIL
B —H I Rk

EREEERHEREERAR
(TAREER])NR2021F11718
B AAEBZBE QR (K&
43(a)) " WRHPBE A EELRE
EFIEE  EEMERIBBE -

TREJRRENYEEREE  BIF3
B-CPL-EMELEE XEXE - AX
HESKSDLEE (Bt BRNEIAE
REFH AR MY E R B AR E 8
MR EERNE RN -
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a] Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

Proportion of the
Group's ownership

Financial position

TSCWPD
Group
REHRA
NELREE

2022

EAREA

ENEDL 40%

BEHRR

2021

40%

HK$000

Motor buses and passenger 2+ &% 8

CPDL

E:

2022

20%

HKS 000

Bz

2021

20%

40%

40%

HKS 000

21. REBEE R T 2R E (#)
MsE: (48)
[(a) A NRTHBEREE (&)

Chun Wo RIL
Bus Group Group

SDL  Shijiazhuang
Junling®

Group

b2 ]
2022

SDLE®E
2022

REHES

2022 2021 2021 2022

60% 40% 40% 49%

HKS 000
FER

senvice licences BEE - - - - - - 326664 326227 - = - -
Other non-current assets £ FEREVAE 14,128 14128 14000 14700 - = 797 543 - = - -
Properties under BRAME
development 1,544,786 1515847 1,199,992 1,149,868 - = - - 370,887 352,944 339,072 427,465
Properties held for sale R {ESHEMHE - - - - - - - - - - - 43
Cash and cash equivalents B4 8284

Z@ER 367 63933 19332 104730 289 279,165 5980 12282 26,883 7,408 5,064 14,772
Other current assets AR EE 6,197 14417 54 1 5 12 32620 26736 200,833 70 10 6,570
Curtent assets FBEE 1,824,654 1,594,197 1219378 1,254,599 29 2719177 38600 39,018 598,603 360422 344,146 449,550
Curtent liabilties HBEE (1,926,771) (1,686,343)  (704,606)  (711,100) (36) (279210) (334784) (338773) (473275)  (226513) (2364200 (100,721)
Non-current liablities FrEaE - - (531863) (568,010) - - - (@75)  (148671) (141,000  (107,770) -
Net (fiabilties)/assets (BfE) /BE%E  (87,989)  (78018)  (3091)  (9811) (52) (33) 31277 26740 (23343 (7,091) (49) 348829
Group’s share of net assets A5 EFE(EESE
of the associates RARBEFE —* -+ -+ —* -+ - 18766 16044 + & -+ 170,926

Financial performance

Revenue

(Loss)profit before tax and
(loss)/profit for the
year/period

Other comprehensive
income for the
year/period

Group’s share of
(loss)/profit for the
year/period

Group’s share of other
comprehensive income
for the year/period

Dividend receivable

BHRR

EXE -

B (5iE) /
aRIRER/
B (BR) /
il

FN/HNER
2EAE

(3318)

AEEEEFR/

B (BR) /

il -
AEEHEFR/

BREpBRE

Yrss -
MRS -

(29,578)

(6,718)

(567)

(17)

(66,904)

(26,762)

32,728

Period from
18 November
2021to

31 March
2022

Period from
13 August
2021to

31 March
2022

Period from

29 December

2020 (date of
acquisition) to

2022 31 March 2021

2000F
12898
(KBRS E
1%
3A31AILER 3A31B.LHE 3A31A LR

20215
8A13H
2ANE

0215
11A18H
ZANE

5558 42516 - = - -
45% 10073 (16253) 7091) @1 (838)
- = - = - 2,952
22 60 -+ K -+ 435)
- = - = - 1,06

DME S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. REBE R FI2RE (
Notes: (continued) MwE: (48)
(© Summarised financial information of associates (continued) © B R RIS EREE (&)
# Shijiazhuang Junling became an associate during the year and hence # ERHEESRAFERABEDR
comparative information in respect of the financial year ended 31 March | IﬁtiﬁﬁP I K 25 # 22021
2021 was not presented in the table above. The financial performance FIA3NA UM BFERILEER -
information of Shijiazhuang Junling presented above is the post-partial EREVNNAREESOUBEE
disposal results for the period from the date of disposal of 18 November ARt BB HEBH2021F11 7188
2021 to 31 March 2022. £20229F3A31A BB H S HE
* The Group has discontinued sharing further losses of the TSCWPD Group, & AEBERIESDIEREEMNYE
CPDL, CPL, the RIL Group and the SDL Group because the share of their HREREE AIFBEE-CPL: %ﬁ%
losses has exceeded the Group's investments in them and the Group B NSDLEE 2 E—FEE
has no obligation to take up further of their losses. The amounts of the HEBEEBBASE E@ﬁ&ﬁ
Group’s accumulated unrecognised share of the losses of the TSCWPD BAREEWESEAEEMER-
Group, CPDL, CPL, the RIL Group and the SDL Group as at 31 March R2022F3A31H  NEBBEL
2022 were HK$32,261,000 (2021: HK$30,934,000), HK$3,533,000 SENMEEREE BIMNERE.
(2021: HK$2,189,000), HK$7,000 (2021: N/A), HK$9,338,000 (2021: CPL- X EEB KSDLEBE R K
HK$2,836,000) and HK$12,000 (2021: N/A), respectively. RN ERSED 5 532,261,000
78 7T (20214 : 30,934,000/ 7T )
3,533,0007% 7t (20214 : 2,189,000
#7T) 7,000/ 7T (20215 : T &
F) +9,338,000/% T (20214 :
2,836,000 7T) % 12,000/ 7T
(20214 : @A) -
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's TREIAEEZERFFERBE AR Z
associates that are not individually material: AR TS AR
Share of the associates’ comprehensive EBABE AR 2EKSESER:
income or loss:
Profit for the year F N A 6,874 35,696
Other comprehensive income for the year FREAM 2 E R 270 1,582
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNEER =L 7,144 37,278
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: ErHEAREERAE:
Non-current assets FRBEE 76,358 99,618
Current assets MENE E 60,767 37,461
Current liabilities mEBEE (6,208) (306)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (75) (222)
130,842 136,551
Dividend received from the associates ERBEQNTRE 28,795 2,971
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22. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 22. W ERRE 21 ith

The Group’s land held for property development is leasehold
land or land use rights acquired by the Group for future property
development for sale. An analysis of the Group’s land held for
property development by geographical area as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

AREFENFERZ LHWAAEE
RBAKYMEZRRFEHEREMENZ
MELHk T ERE - BERED
AARERFIEMERR 2 LHRRM
BT

Hong Kong BE 42,676 37,887
The UAE ] Bt 163,638 236,149

206,314 274,036
Portion classified as current assets DIEAREE 2D (42,676) (37,887)
Non-current portion JERBE D 163,638 236,149

The directors expected that the development of the land in the UAE
would be completed beyond the operating cycle of the property
development business, and hence it is classified as a non-current
asset. During the year, the provision for write-down of land in the
UAE to net realisable value amounted to HK$73,769,000 (2021: Nil).

The development of the Group’s land held for property development
in Hong Kong is expected to be completed within the normal
operating cycle and hence they are classified as current assets. The
expected timing of recovery of these assets as at the end of the
reporting period is more than one year.

EETEE RN T BERER
MEBRER 2 EBRBPURBTER
AWEESBAERDEE-RAF
& - POl B S £ M B = AT B IR R B
% 573,769,000 7T (20214 &) °

AEBRBEARENMREER 2 L
RIEHENERE2EBHATK
HEESBEARBDEE - NREHR
Ith % & 2 2 TRHUL M B R AR 8 — 5 o

DNBAERERERAE 2021/224F )
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23. INVENTORIES 23. €&
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Raw materials R 354 5,253
Clinical supplies BEEmR 3,321 2,250
3,675 7,503

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

2. EHNEEREGHNERE

LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) EWNEE
31 March 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2020
20224 20214 20204
3A31H 3A31H 4818
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET
Unbilled revenue REZR 2 W (0 3,291,643 2,837,879 2,802,411
Retention receivables R E & (i) 458,571 493,282 531,333
3,750,214 3,331,161 3,333,744
Impairment A (iii) (4,799) (2,396) =
3,745,415 3,328,765 3,333,744
Notes: B 5E
(i) Unbilled revenue is initially recognised for revenue earned from the (i) ABEER WSS HIREEET

provision of construction work as the receipt of consideration is
conditional on successful completion of construction. Upon completion of
construction and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as
unbilled revenue are reclassified to trade receivables.

(ii) Retention receivables arise from the Group's construction work business
and are held by contract customers in order to provide the customers
with assurance that the Group will complete its obligations satisfactorily
under the contracts, rather than to provide financing to the customers.
They are in general settled within a period ranging from one year to three
years after the completion of the construction work, as stipulated in the
construction contracts.
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Contract assets (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement of contract assets as at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

2. SNEEREGHNEE #

(a) ENEE (&)
W = (48)

(i) MBEPRR AWEEZHEHKED
RAAERREMT

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Within one year —FR 1,953,267 1,922,328
More than one year BiE—F 1,792,148 1,406,437
3,745,415 3,328,765

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provisions, for all contract assets. The Group has assessed
the impairment of its contract assets on an individual basis based on the
internal credit rating and ageing of these balances which, in the opinion
of the Directors, had no significant increase in credit risk during the year.
ECL is estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. For the debtors in Hong
Kong, there were no recent history of default and the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal. For the debtors in Malaysia, ECL rates ranging
from 20% to 100% has been provided on several credit deteriorated
balances and ECL provision of HK$4,799,000 was made for contract
assets as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$2,396,000).

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of contract assets is

as follows:

AEBERABEMEHRE LR FE
SRETREMEE AR BREEES
BIELHEE BERTAMAANE
EFAHEHREREFE A5E
ERBASEETIRRZSEHD
RERE @R & N EEREETH
HMESRANEERNEZERR
WEEZEG N - EHREREBBE
REBAETFHRANBEERMT
RENERHE IHREFTBERAE
842 1 BRI 15 /0 B BE 1 B RHETT
HAE-RBEEEBAMS  WER
RS BB ENTEAE
W-REREEEFEAME  HE
FEEESLNEHKREEN T20%
F100% MBHEEEEX MR
20229F3A318 RANEERL
T8 B {5 B A5 18 8 #54,799,000/% T
(20214 : 2,396,000/ 7T ) °

BREEREBEREZSHNT

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year REH 2,396 =
Impairment loss recognised BRBEERE 2,420 2,396
Exchange realignment (ERECE S (17) =
At end of year RER 4,799 2,396

TN A REERERAR 20212248 231
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2. EHNEEREHNERE »2)

(b)

31 March
2022
20224

3A31H
HK$'000

BHEE
BHAREFBOT:

31 March 1 April
2021 2020
20214F 20204
3A31H 4H1H
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET

Advances from customers for KERFPHESR
construction work TRRZ8HR

FET

110,494

64,085 33,105

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

25. E S5 EIRFRIE

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$°000

FETT FAET

Trade receivables B 5 YRR 719,207 783,551
Impairment (note (a)) BB (FIFE@)) (270) (432)

718,937 783,119

Notes: W&

(@  The Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days to its (a) REE-—RAEZFIRHTBIBOR ZF

customers. Interim applications for progress payments on construction contracts
are normally submitted on a monthly basis and are normally settled within one
month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed periodically. The majority of the Group’s trade
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that have
good credit quality with reference to the respective settlement history.
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period,

based on the invoice date and net of impairment, is as follows:

25. EZ RUWRRIE (&

BeE: ()
@@ (&)

RBERR ERNBERARZEHEUK
1B (BNRRRIE) BBRE D AT 58T -

Within 1 month —fEARA 509,321 558,522
1 to 2 months —ZMEA 104,442 73,707
2 to 3 months ME=M@A 27,380 26,441
Over 3 months =@EAMNUE 77,794 124,449

718,937 783,119

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The Group has assessed the impairment of its
trade receivables on an individual basis based on internal credit rating and ageing
of these balances which, in the opinion of the Directors, had no significant
increase in credit risk during the year. ECL is estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. For
the debtors in Hong Kong, there were no recent history of default and the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal. For the debtors in Malaysia, ECL rates
ranging from 20% to 100% has been provided on several credit deteriorated
balances and ECL provision of HK$270,000 was made for trade receivables as at
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$432,000).

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as
follows:

AEBERABBYEREERNESRAMA
ERNE T EREREEEEELRE

B BFTA B 5 WGBS B2 BTE
BERE - NEEBREBERALEETRR
ZEREBHIRREERE Z BB ERE
HITHE MEFRALAFEANEERR
WEREE N - EREEERDERER
NG FHRRBABRMBENRGLE

B TR B S R AN K ) BN AT E S KO AT
MERETHE - REBBEHFAME 1
T MR HE R GO ok B B IR BT AR -

RERAREEATE HETEERL
B AR IR T20% =100% BB HIE &
B8R MR20229F3A318 REFEK
A E L B H = B B 1B % 1%270,0005%5 7T
(20214 : 432,000/ 7T ) °

B SRR EBREEEENT

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year REA 432 =
Impairment loss recognised T RREEE - 432
Reversal of impairment loss BEREEE (158) =
Exchange realignment ERTECE (4) =
At end of year RER 270 432

Included in the trade receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are amounts
of HK$43,186,000 (2021: HK$60,110,000) in total due from other partners of
joint operations.

(b)

FFAREBMR2022F3A31BEME 5 EK
FEREREEEBHEMBE 2 RELE
543,186,000/ 7T (20214 : 60,110,000/
TT) ©

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. ANFRE ZEeREME

234

RECEIVABLES Wk |
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Prepayments T3R8 26,763 49,161
Deposits and other debtors B e R H A FEYER IR 169,336 148,574
Investment deposit and partial —HEAHEHKERSH
consideration paid for a rescinded ENEEEe R RE
acquisition transaction (@) 74,000 74,000
Loan receivables W E K () 112,635 199,069
Consideration receivable ERRE () 80,707 7,440
Profit guarantee income receivable JE M ) 4R 78 UL A 14,044 14,044
Dividend receivable FEMAR B - 32,728
Due from joint ventures Bl A& NTZ A (@) 11,795 8,910
Due from associates FEUS B & N B 2 FROE (@) 575,940 541,436
Due from a fellow subsidiary of other FEI— A& & E B H R
partner of a joint operation ZBERMBARZIEA (d) 8 14,523
Due from other partners of W& EEBEMBHZ
joint operations FIE (@) 37,990 41,739
Due from non-controlling equity FEUS B A B FEIE AR AR 4
holders of subsidiaries BEAZFIEB (@) 14,320 14,864
1,117,538 1,146,488
Impairment allowance B S (e) (68,552) (68,552)
1,048,986 1,077,936
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The amount was an investment deposit and partial consideration paid in
connection with the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of CCCC
Development Limited (the “Target Company”).

On 4 November 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the "Original Agreement”) with China Chengjian Investment Limited (the
“Vendor"), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Vendor conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of the Target
Company at a cash consideration of HK$660 million (the “Acquisition”). At the
material time, the Target Company held 50% equity interest in each of the two
PRC construction companies, namely F3 2 E M TR BEBAR AR (“CCCC
Fourth”) and FHEFE+=TRBABMRAF] ("CCCC Thirteenth”). The Target
Company and the two construction companies were principally engaged in
municipal construction, building construction, and construction of build-transfer,
build-operate-transfer, public-private partnership projects, property development
and investment in the PRC. An investment deposit and partial consideration
(collectively, the “Deposit”) of HK$198 million in total was paid to the Vendor at
the original completion date of the Acquisition.

The Acquisition was subsequently rescinded on 31 March 2017 pursuant
to a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) which was
entered into between the Group and the Vendor on 25 August 2016, and was
approved at the Company’s special general meeting on 31 October 2016. In
accordance with the Supplemental Agreement, the Vendor shall refund the
Deposit to the Group and the Group was entitled to take steps to protect its
interest, including selling the shares of the Target Company in part or in whole
to a third party and claiming any shortfall, loss or damages directly against the
Vendor and its shareholder (as guarantor in the Acquisition) should the Vendor
fail to fulfil its obligations to repay the Deposit to the Group. Further details of
the Supplemental Agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement and
circular dated 25 August 2016 and 30 September 2016, respectively.

The Group was able to recoup HK$50 million as part of the refund of the
Deposit, but the larger portion of the Deposit, being HK$148 million (the
“Outstanding Amount”), remained unpaid as at 31 March 2019, despite the
Group's repeated efforts to pursue the Vendor for refund.

On 19 June 2019, for the purpose of recovering the Outstanding Amount, the
Group entered into two conditional sale and purchase agreements (the “Sale
Agreement(s)”) with an independent third party (the “Buyer”). In one of the Sale
Agreements, the Group agreed to sell to the Buyer the shares of a subsidiary
of the Company which holds the equity interest in CCCC Thirteenth for a
total consideration of HK$74 million. The transaction was completed and the
consideration was fully settled during the prior year.

In the second Sale Agreement, the Group agreed to sell the shares of the
Target Company to the Buyer for a maximum consideration of HK$74 million.
If the Group is not able to procure the equity interest in CCCC Fourth to be
placed under a subsidiary of the Target Company on or before 24 June 2023
(as extended pursuant to a supplemental agreement dated 24 June 2021), the
consideration will be reduced to HK$22.2 million.

26. RFE -RERHEME

= .
Y FRIE

(@)

ZEER/RBEPRRTERARAA
(TERAR]) 22 HE BITRAM Y
—HRERSRBANRE-

MR2015F 11 A48  REBBEFBEIRERE
BRAR (BRI HEERZ ([R
WaEl) B AEBEGEREWE M
BHEKRHREREERARZ2HBEER
1TRE A 314 XK {8 £660,000,0007 7T (U
BEHE]) ER BEEARBANETEH
BEAR DRATHEENIREER
BERAR([RPHESHIRER]) RF K
BET=ZIRRERAR ([FHEE+=
IRRB])&EB250%BiE BIZAA ki
MERERAREERPEAREMERESE:
BFRE RNER-BR fE-2E—
BR ALAEBEEER MERRRE
B-BBERSRIFINRE(RBAREE])
$£51198,000,0007% 7T B A M B F I8 2 R 2R
ERBHEINTFES -

RIEA LB HEE 5 R20169F8F258 5 7]
WEEARRAR2016F10A31B BT 2
RERIAE FREREZ — DT HE ([
Fiazl) W EIEEERN2017F3A31
RERE REFTHE EHARERS
FAEE UREEHREBITHARSE
EEERSNELN NEEFERIUE
MAREEEZ  BEZEEZEARMNDBS
FEHBRHNEETFE=H TEEREH
REBKE (FAKEEENERA) REE
A ZRE BARNEE AT HENE—
HHBEHBIFHN A QR B A2016587
25H MR 201649 A 308 K@ K ©

7N £ @ g W [B150,000,0008 T AR &
ZHENRF-REAEECHELZESH
MEHBTRR EiRE 28R A5 (B
148,000,000 7t) ([REEEFE])R
201943 A31ANAM K FIAZ o

M201966 419 ' gtk EIREE LB M
AKEE-ZBUE=H(TEH]E
MM ERGHEHEREERE ([HEWH
Z) - REF—HHEEHRZE AEERE
MEAEEARRR —MHBAR (EFH
FHEET=TREZKE) 2’G  #R
{8 A74,000,0008 L - X HERBAEFE
RNERK BREEEERER -

RE-_NDHEEHZ AEBRERE
FHEBEZRARZKRG RaREA
74,000,000/ 7T © fi# 7~ 52 @ 7A2023F 6 524
B (R B HA202156 A24H M 7t 1
BELER)KZAIRERRPWESENT
BRZEEGEBZEAA —HHMBAR
& EREEER L 222,200,000/ 7T
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

()

(continued)

In prior years, after taking into account the Sale Agreements and the possible
reduction in consideration in the second Sale Agreement as mentioned above
and the costs incurred to execute the actions and agreements, the Directors are
of the view that a total of HK$52.5 million was not expected to be recoverable
out of the Outstanding Amount and hence an impairment loss against this
amount was recognised in profit or loss in prior years.

The loan receivables, which are loans provided to some independent third parties,
bear interest at rates ranging from 8% to 15% per annum (2021: 8% to 24%
per annum) and are repayable within 1 year. The loan receivables are secured
by (i) certain trade payables owed by the Group to the business partners; or (ii)
shipping vessels and properties held by borrowers.

The Company has assessed the impairment of its loan receivables on an individual
basis based on internal credit rating and ageing of these balances. ECL is
estimated based on historical observed default rates of debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. An
impairment loss of HK$5,877,000 against the loan receivables was recognised in
profit or loss in prior years.

At 31 March 2022, the balances mainly represented the outstanding
consideration of HK$73,267,000 arising from the disposal of 51% equity interest
in Shijiazhuang JunJing, details of which are set out in note 43(a) to the financial
statements.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. At 31 March

2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of other receivables is as
follows:

26. EARE -HREREHME
l‘l& ;_':7\ IE (%)
MsE: (48)

(a)

(b)

(&)

NBEFE EEBHE SR LR E—
MHEHEEBREZRERLD URA
HOTZTORBEMEE KA EFR
738 #£52,500,000/8 7T 2 A (H I8 © FTRH
AR E - F %2 RN B EFENRR
NHERRBERIR

BURERTERETBLE=HRHEOE
FBERN T8% E15% (2021F : G4
8% E24% )M MR B RAR—FANE
BoERERN()AEEEREBBF
ZETESEMNFRE (B risazMm
D EZES i

ARRERBEABEETREZEERD
R e S LB R OB (B 1T {8 B AT A - TR
HMEEBRDENEEANBEERRME
BOXRGE IREFTBERAKE N
ARG ERETT AR - ERER
Z BB R5185,877,0008 TERNBEFER
BENER -

MR202293A31H E£HETEAREE
ARFERSI% RIEMELNRGTRE
73,267,000 7T ' B BB E RN M R K
Mf5E43(a) ©

ZEFIEAEERR 2B RARERMEE-
720224 [2021F3 310 @ 18 B
FEBEM-

Hpth U TR E B R R BB T

At beginning of year REH) 68,552 63,436
Impairment loss recognised B R REEE - 5,116
At end of year RER 68,552 68,552

In addition to the impairments as detailed in notes (a) and (b) above, allowance
for impairment of RM2,732,000 (equivalent to HK$5,116,000) was made against
a profit guarantee income receivable during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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27. PROMISSORY NOTES

On 9 May 2019, the Group subscribed promissory notes issued by a
then shareholder of the Company with a total principal amount of
HK$180 million. The promissory notes were unsecured, bear interest
at an effective rate of 8% per annum (after taking into account the
entitlement to an arrangement fee) and had a term of 364 days. On
7 May 2020, the promissory notes were fully redeemed by the issuer.

28.

Further details of the promissory notes are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 May 2019.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Debt investments at fair value

BRFEABRRZ

27.

28.

R

R2019F5A9R  AEERBEAA R
AER —ERRBTZ2ACEBEAR
180,000,000/ Jt 2 7 5 Z % - A g &
HERAERE RERFF L% 5T
B (LA RAZELHE Z#ER) A
Hi364K - 702020F5 78 » 17 A&
B REIA R Eigo

BFAAREBEZEZFHBEIHNARA R
HEA2019F5A9H 2 A& -
BATVEFABEZ R
BE

through profit or loss BEERE (a) - 3,642
Equity investments at fair value BATFEGFABRRZZ
through profit or loss AR E ) 5,623 1,868
5,623 5,510
(a) Debt investments at fair value through profit (a) BAFEFTABRZERE
or loss RE
Debt investments at fair value through profit or loss of the R2021F3A318 R QA FEET
Group as at 31 March 2021 were convertible bonds and ANBmcBREEKRERABRRES
convertible promissory notes as their contractual cash flows are R AREE  TTAREE
not SPPI. HWIRERBYFFARINARE R
IS
(b) Equity investments at fair value through profit (b) HAFEFTFABRZZRA

or loss

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the
Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were equity investments
listed in Hong Kong and overseas (2021: Hong Kong and
overseas), which were classified as held for trading and stated
at fair value determined based on their quoted market prices
(Level 1 fair value measurement).

rE

720224 K%2021%3831H ' &~
EEZEATFEFABZ ZBRAEK
BREBEBREIHINQ2021F :FH
RGN EmMRAKRE - HNHE
AREEEEVRERNMSEHREE
EMAFE(BE —HAFER
2)58k.

DM A EEIERARAR 202122F #)
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29. RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS 29. ¥R4IREREEHFER

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

Fi#% FET

Restricted cash for issuance of guarantees HL3 HIER 2 TR HIIR & (a) - -
Pledged deposits for general banking H—RIBITRLE 2 B HER

facilities 75K (b) 16,009 14,294

Restricted cash and pledged deposits ZRHE e REERER 16,009 14,294

Notes: M et :

(a) In respect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC, the Group (a) RRPEREREMECHEN S &E
entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC to arrange mortgage B EE FRITEI LG AASERF
loans to eligible purchasers of the Group’s properties held for sale and pursuant EHEMEZEERERTHRBER -
to which, the Group is required to place at designated bank accounts certain Bt AEEBAEEERTPATAET
amounts as guarantee deposits for potential default in repayment of mortgage B ERMEBREGARBREERE
loans advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be released B ZIRBERE 2 ERTR - ZEER
after the property ownership certificates of the relevant properties have been FRENRBEDEZMEREREIZDE
passed to the banks. At 31 March 2021, such guarantee deposits amounted RIRITE BERR - R2021F3A318 B4
to RMB8,071,000 (equivalent to HK$9,551,000) and were included in disposal ERTF 7R E AR 8,071,000 (HHE R
group classified as held for sale (note 31) as at 31 March 2021. 9,551,000 7T ) W 7202143 A31HEF A

DERFEHE L HEEE (FHaE31) -

(b)  The pledged deposits have been placed in designated banks as part of the (b) BEMPEXRFRREERT ERERA

security given to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
34(d)).
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30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

30 ReEREBEEEEEE

Cash and bank balances other than Re RIRITHER
time deposits (TEREERER) 1,383,164 1,491,477

Time deposits EHTF K 72,902 79,399

Total cash and bank balances He RIRTTHEBRRE 1,456,066 1,570,876

Less: Restricted cash and B ZREIR S REER

pledged deposits (note 29) T3k (H7E29) (16,009) (14,294)

Cash and cash equivalents Re kBB EEFEER 1,440,057 1,556,582

Notes: B 5

(a) At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group ©) RREBR AEBUAARE (AR
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$66,591,000 (2021: FHEZ B & R IR 1T 4582 /266,591,000 7T
HK$77,109,000), of which HK$64,948,000 (2021: HK$75,093,000) in total was (20214 : 77,109,000/ ) " E R A 5
deposited at banks in Mainland China. The RMB is not freely convertible into 64,948,000/ 7T (20214F : 75,093,000
other currencies, however, under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations T0) B A B A 2 $R1T o AR 8L
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange BB EME A BIE (PEA
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies REMBEINEERIEH) R (HE - FE
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. RAEEREE)  AEEAFEBERE

MEINEER 2 RITIEARE L BRKE A
(.-

(b)  Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit b)) RORSREARTERFNEXFTEZEZH
rates. Time deposits are made for 7 days depending on the immediate cash MEEREA S AR FAKBEIRR S F K
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time EHERZERBATR WiREREHTE
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no ME R ERIF S - RITERTDFER

recent history of default.

IEHIY I R R e AEBRTT

DM A EEIERARAR 202122F #)
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31. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD

N. TERBEHEZHESR

FOR SALE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$°000
FETT FAET
(Note (b)) (Note (a))
(Ft3ED)) (KizE@))
Assets of disposal groups PEAFEHERZ
classified as held for sales: HEEBZEE:
Property, plant and equipment Y HEE R 15 16,206 =
Right-of-use assets ERAREEE 17(a) 3,899 =
Properties under development BRBPYE - 372,104
Properties held for sale FEHE W% - 714
Inventories TE 2,239 -
Contract assets EHEE 8,353 =
Trade receivables B 5 e RIE 12,100 =
Other receivables H fth FE UL SR IE 19,253 12,391
Income tax recoverable AR E TS H 918 =
Restricted cash and pledged deposits ZRHEE REERER 440 9,551
Cash and cash equivalents He hEBSEFEMEIER 6,913 5,187
70,321 399,947
Liabilities directly associated with HOBABEHEZ
the assets of disposal groups HEEBZEE
classified as held for sale: EEEBNEE:
Trade payables B 5 FIA 15,307 =
Contract liabilities EHEE - 54,092
Other payables H fth FE < R IE 9,367 14,216
Bank borrowings RITIE 34,908 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 4,043 =
Income tax payable FESRFT 1SR - 8,760
63,625 77,068
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31. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Shijiazhuang Junling, a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, was
accounted for as a disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2021
as the management had been in negotiation with interested parties for the sale
of the Group’s controlling interest in Shijiazhuang JunJing during the year ended
31 March 2021 and a memorandum of understanding was entered into between
the Group and an independent third party before 31 March 2021.

On 6 April 2021, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement with the
independent third party for the disposal of 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang
Junling for a total cash consideration of RMB180 million (equivalent to
HK$219,780,000). Shijiazhuang Junling holds the Group’s properties under
development and properties held for sale in Mainland China. The transaction was
completed on 18 November 2021 (note 43(a)).

Due to the under-performance of JA & Associate Corporation (“JA”), a 50.99%
owned subsidiary of the Group, and its subsidiaries (the “JA Group”), the
management had been in negotiation with the non-controlling equity holder of
JA for the sale of the JA Group and therefore the JA Group was accounted for as
a disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2022.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 30 May 2022, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the aforementioned
non-controlling equity holder for the disposal of the JA Group. The transaction
was completed on the same date.

3. 7 HEARFHEZHESR

(b)

ERHER (REAERER—HE2EHE
MIEBAR)M20214E3A31BIEAD AR
EHEZ —MEEEEAK THRERE
BREE2021F3A318 LEFEREHH
EREERERHESHERESEAE
MATHITER  MAEEER202143A
31ARE— BB = AR — DR

ANEBMP2021F4A6E R ELARER
2251 % RIEEZEBILE= I —
DRHEBERE EREREAARE
180,000,0007T (#H & #219,780,000%
T AREESHRAEAEERBEAM
WERMERBEHEENE -XHER
2021411 A18A 526k (KisE43(@)) °

B JA & Associate Corporation ([JA] A&
NEBPEH50.99% s KB AR) RE
MEAR (NARE])RETE EEBE—
HEHEIANFERREZSEARLEIAS
B TR - B A £ ER202243A31
AERYBARBEREZ —HMEEEEA

REREH% - ANEER2022F5A30H &

MIFERR AR A AR HEIARBAT S —
NEERHE XFERFBETK -

T A

BT 2021225 5%
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32. TRADE PAYABLES 32. EZ B FIR
2022 2021
Notes HKS$'000 HK$000
k23 FET FHET
Trade payables other than B 5 RIA
retention payables (ERRESRIN (a) 988,458 885,774
Retention payables FERRE & ) 688,101 619,338
1,676,559 1,505,112
Notes: fteE -
(@  The Group's trade payables (other than retention payables) are non-interest (@ AKEEZEZEMTKE (EHRESBRIN
bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. ReBIWBEIRI0KABER -
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables (other than retention payables) RBEBMR ANEBZE S EMNFIE (B
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HRESKRINAEZBRRELEFEZ

BRECA DB T

2021

HK$000
FET

Within 1 month —fEAR 284,993 325,061
1 to 2 months —Z=M@EA 198,600 154,365
2 to 3 months ME=A 143,419 100,455
Over 3 months =@ANRE 361,446 305,893
988,458 885,774
(b)  Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group's construction (b)) AEEMFEENRES NELEGASE
services business and are settled to subcontractors within a period ranging ZREERBER WREBESBIRELM
from one year to three years after the completion of the contract work by the RE ROBETKEAREEIRENT
subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts. —FE=FAMDBEER-
The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention payables as at the end of BEREHR AEBEMRE SO E
the reporting period was analysed as follows: BOMfET:
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Due within one year —FAEH 529,323 564,425
Due after one year —F LA B H 158,778 54,913
688,101 619,338
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33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 33. Hftt B RIBE R EFTRIA
2022 AOVA|
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Accruals &t /IR 591,512 602,747
Deposits received BRI S 10,131 8,171
Other liabilities Hih B & 68,088 90,429
Consideration payable for the acquisition WHEM B AR 2 BRRE
of subsidiaries 9,659 22,034
Consideration payables for the acquisition W A2 R RE
of associates 1,516 1,516
Client money received incidental to the BLR (B B B TR AR 5 AR
provision of tunnel management services 2 BP IR - 3,267
Due to associates FETEE & A B 2 IR 44,594 28,688
Due to other partners of joint operations ENaEEKEMBENE L
I 117,715 90,843
Due to a fellow subsidiary of other partner B —MEEEEHEMBE
of a joint operation ZERMBARZHIEA 25 =
Due to non-controlling equity holders FEATBfT B8 & B A9 FE 158 AR AR
of subsidiaries B AZRIE 9,610 16,302
852,850 863,997
Note: The amounts due to associates, other partners of joint operations, a fellow Mizck: BABMEAR AEXEBEMBE —H
subsidiary of other partner of a joint operation and non-controlling equity holders EEEBEMBHEZRRWE R B XM B
of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. R AR IR R B A 2 TR A B
GERARERER-

TN A R AR AT 2021/2268% 243
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34. BANK BORROWINGS

34. RITHE

Bank borrowings comprise: RITERBIE: (@), (b)
Trust receipt loans, secured ErEBIREER - A 13,890 22,310
Trust receipt loans, unsecured ErEBUR E R - IR 199,084 110,841
Bank loans, secured RITER  BEA 319,142 402,663
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - EIEA 2,584,908 2,719,533
3,117,024 3,255,347
Less: Unamortised ancillary costs WBRITERLHELEZ
incurred in connection with the AR S 8 B M AR AR
arrangement of bank loans (23,696) (40,249)
Total bank borrowings IRITIERBEE 3,093,328 3,215,098
Analysed into: DT
Repayable on demand RIREREER © 778,988 3,172,700
Within one year —FR 1,508,124 6,319
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ERF (BEEEMS) 786,036 16,121
Beyond five years HEEME 20,180 19,958
Total bank borrowings RITIE AR 3,093,328 3,215,098
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARSHEE IS (2,287,112) (3,179,019)
Non-current portion ERBEL D 806,216 36,079
Notes: FifzE -

(a) Except for certain bank loans of approximately HK$4,151,000 (2021:
HK$8,619,000) and HK$161,976,000 (2021:HK$112,070,000) which are
denominated in Singapore dollars (“SG$”) and RM, respectively, the Group’s

bank borrowings are denominated in HK$.

(b) The trust receipt loans of the Group denominated in HK$ and RM carry interest
at floating rates ranging from one-month HIBOR plus 1.4% to 1.7% (2021: one-
month HIBOR plus 1.4% to 1.7%) per annum and at rates ranging from 6.95%
10 7.14% (2021: 6.95% to 7.14%), respectively.

The bank loans of the Group denominated in HK$, SG$ and RM carry interest
at floating rates ranging from one-month HIBOR plus 1.25% to 2% (2021: one-
month HIBOR plus 1.25% to 2.5%) per annum, at fixed rates of 1.88% (2021:
fixed rates of 1.88% and floating rates of SIBOR plus 2%) per annum and at
rates ranging from 3.25% to 8.85% (2021: 3.25% to 8.85%), respectively.
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34. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

At 31 March 2021, the Group did not comply with certain financial covenants of
bank loans with an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,620 million and hence
these bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities and grouped into the
“Repayable on demand” category in the bank borrowings repayment analysis
disclosed above. Consent waivers of non-compliance with financial covenants
have been received by the Group on 28 June 2021 and, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Group has since then been able to comply with all financial
undertakings in connection with the Group’s bank borrowings. In addition,
certain of the Group’s bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause
that provides the banks with an unconditional right to demand repayment at
any time at their own discretion. Due to the repayment on demand clause, such
amount of bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities and grouped into
the “Repayable on demand” category as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The expected repayment dates of the Group’s bank borrowings that are grouped
under “Repayment on demand” category, with reference to schedules of
repayments set out in the term loan agreements, are as follows:

34. RITHERK

M (&)

(@]

M2021F3 8310 - "EBREETEAER
%8 52,620,000,000 T Z SRITE M E T
MERE MZERTERESEARD
BEIN EXHEZBRTEREESHTF
HEAIEREREE] - HR2021F6H28
H ASECEERGEETUBREOZRA
ERRRBESHRA ALASEES
—HETRAEERITEREGHENIA Y
BEE o MIN AEBE TRITEREE
REREEGTR B FRITBERATAT
ERERAEARMGER - AR IR EREE
1R 5% FIRIT 18 ;R 20224F K202143
A3ARSBARBEBEYRER AR
ER(EE] -

SEEBERGRARERBHE A%
ESEAARERME] 2 BITHKZ
FEERE BT

Within one year —FR 772,821 1,124,012
In the second year FF 633 1,260,332
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZERF (REEEMRSFE) 1,974 784,581
Beyond five years AENUE 3,560 3,775

778,988 3,172,700

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged to secure
the banking facilities granted to the Group:

(d)

RBEHR BERUTEE FREAE
BERRITRE 2 ER

Property, plant and equipment W RBRZE 15 81,170 83,453
Investment properties "EYHE 16(a) 11,176 11,256
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 119,308 123,963
Bank deposits RITFER 29(b) 16,009 14,294

227,663 232,966

In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has pledged
the equity interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary to secure a banking facility
granted to an associate.

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's bank borrowings in the total
amount of HK$4,151,000 (2021: HK$8,619,000) and HK$194,809,000 (2021:
HK$138,448,000) were guaranteed by the non-controlling equity holders of a
subsidiary and shareholders of non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
respectively.

Br £ STHN 20224 202143 A31H » K
SEEEF—HEERAENB AR ZRE-
BB — & QR ERIBTREZ BR-

7202293 A31H « ANEE 45 54,151,000
Bt (20214 :8,619,0008 7t ) &
194,809,000 7T (20214F : 138,448,0005%
TIZETRITERDBIE—EHEAR
ZIEPR R AR AR A A K MY B A R FEHE AR AR
A AZBREER-

TNEAERERER AT

2021/224F %
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35. PROVISIONS

35. & &

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAETT
Provision for construction works EET IR 7 B (@) 115,920 103,695
Provision for litigations SR EA 2 B ) 5,000 272,010
120,920 375,705

(a) Provision for construction works (a) BEIRZEE

2021
HK$'000
FET
At beginning of year REFA) 103,695 130,323
Additional provision KOMNEAE 123,234 93,619
Amounts utilised during the year FREHEEHE (69,053) (108,810)
Reversal of unutilised amounts BOAREALE (41,956) (11,437)
At end of year RER 115,920 103,695

The Group recognises provision for construction works when
the unavoidable costs of meeting the performance obligations
under the construction contracts exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received. The amount of provision is estimated
based on contract costs to completion and contract claims. The
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised
where appropriate.

(b) Provision for litigations

(b)

BEBEESHENEENTH
MRRABBREEES OB
7% B AT O 48 08 ) 2 s - AN 5% [
RERTRZBE-BRBETER
BERANKRAREGRRER
H-AKEFERBTER
WHEEEBRTERERT -

Rz B

At beginning of year REH 272,010 =
Additional provision REONEEAE - 272,010
Amount utilised during the year FRNEHAEE (93,250) =
Reversal of provision B O B s (173,760) =
At end of year RER 5,000 272,010
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35. i 0
(b) =RFBZHE (2)

35. PROVISIONS (continued)

(b) Provision for litigations (continuead)

In or about December 2013 and March 2014, a plaintiff
commenced two separate legal proceedings against the Group
alleging that the Group's termination of a proposed transaction
in relation to the sale of a commercial development at No.
8 Clear Water Bay Road and 49% interest in the car park
development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay Road (collectively, the
“Properties”) was wrongful and in breach of a memorandum
entered into between the plaintiff and the Group in September
2013 (the "MOU"). The plaintiff claimed against the Group for
the loss of capital appreciation of the Properties.

On 16 June 2021, the Court of First Instance in Hong Kong
(the “Court”) handed down its judgments on the two legal
proceedings against the Group and decided that the Group’s
termination of the proposed transaction in relation to the sale
of the Properties was wrongful and in breach of terms and
conditions of the MOU (the “Judgments”). The Court therefore
ordered the Group to compensate the plaintiff's loss in the sum
of HK$164.0 million plus interest and the plaintiff’s legal costs
incurred, which was estimated to be approximately HK$272.0
million in aggregate as at 31 March 2021.

As advised by the legal advisers to the Group, having
considered the Judgments, the Group has a merit in
successfully appealing against the Judgments, and, therefore
lodged the Notice of Appeal for the two proceedings to
the Court of Appeal on 13 July 2021 and 14 July 2021
accordingly. In order to stay the execution of the enforcement
of the Judgments pending appeal, the Group also made the
applications for stay of execution of the Judgements on 2 July
2021 and 8 July 2021 accordingly. The stay of execution would
be determined on paper and all submissions were filed to the
Court in end December of 2021. The Notice of Appeal for the
two proceedings and all applications relating to the stay of
execution of the Judgements filed to the Court of Appeal are
collectively hereinafter referred to as the “Legal Actions”.

KAFH2013F12 A 2014531 -
—ZREAAAEBRAMRTE
BHRA BEASE 2KRIEEH
SHEMNIBKEBESR 2%
BRBEKEESE ZIFHEIGER
249% Em (BB [ZEmE])
JEERFIBHER WTHERIR
H ANEREER2013F98 5L
2B ([BE=e]) - RE AR
ZEMEERNAEMSI R ZIEX
MAKERERE-

EBRMERE ([JERE]) 12021
FeAIGBMZMTEAERRE
FAZEEFARENSHH R I
HAAEEZRIEBEBHEEZ
EMEZRERIDBIER BE
RAE =8 A 2 G R AR ([H)
R EERLBES ANE B EE
164,000,000 7T hl & B tE A&
BEAZBARBREABNEZ
FABRH FiTEEEEAER
202143 8318 A #9272,000,000
BT

BUOAKREEAEZBERCER &
EEHRE AEEBBEESU
BT 3L FR TR B AR E R
202197 A138 &2021F7 8 14H
BLEZ M R E R SR AE B[R _E R
EREERZ FFFRBA - AR EFFE
MEERAITHR RNEE I EE
202197828 Kk202147 A8H
MEERATHIRIBL RE T &
WITAEBAENET FTEXH
BR2021F12 8RB R ARE < %
W SR OA R B FARY B BF R &1 LA K A)
FREEERNEE&ZNITH
RIEEEREBR TIXRBA AR
78]
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35. PROVISIONS (continued)

(b) Provision for litigations (continuead)

On 24 March 2022, the Group and the plaintiff entered into
an agreement in full and final settlement of the Legal Actions
and all related matters with settlement amount of HK$93.3
million. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the Group and
the plaintiff have been fully and absolutely discharged from
all or any liabilities and claims and/or counterclaims, remedies,
cause of action of whatever nature, interests, costs, rights and
entitlements arising out of or in connection with the Legal
Actions, all related applications and appeals as well as the
subject matter of the Legal Actions.

36. DEFERRED TAX

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

3&ﬁﬁ@>

(b)

2 B ()

E’\\\2022¢3H24EI $%E‘ﬂﬁ%
AERERITHRMEMEBEEER
IV EERGRENE RS BE
4 %A /593,300,000 7T ° 1R 45 A0
i AEEERE ARER
TEYMEE £ E 2 AR PTA
FREARRER SXREE-
%ﬁ%‘ EAEERNFRAES - F

oA R REZERS FT
ﬁifﬁﬁéﬂﬂp M EFARERITE
FralBzEXRERNEEE TSR
R 4B i s o

36. IEEFIE

R B MBI KRR ELETHE
ERBEFENT

Deferred tax assets RIEFEIEE E 2,592 1,648
Deferred tax liabilities FRIEFRIEA E (2,043) (3,703)
549 (2,055)
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36. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their
movements during the year are as follows:

36. IEERIE (&)

AFEERN BERBEE/ (AE)Z

MARE D R EBBINT

Attributable to
L
Depreciation
allowances Other
in excess taxable  Net deferred
of related Tax temporary tax assets/
depreciation losses differences (liabilities)
EERE
RERHE HitERS &E/(8f)
BREENE HEER ERHER R
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FEL FET FET
At 1 April 2020 #202054R18 (20,685) 20,334 (2,227) (2,578)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR 42(3) = = 278 278
Consolidation of subsidiaries WBARRNERNRSE
upon resumption of control EHIRELA AR 42(b) = = 634 634
Deferred tax charged to FRBRINR 2 EERE
profit or loss during the year 12 (156) - (233) (389)
At 31 March 2021 and 2021434318
1 April 2021 R2021F4 18 (20,841) 20,334 (1,548) (2,055)
Deferred tax credited FRBRTAZELERE
to profit or loss during the year 12 716 1,867 21 2,604
At 31 March 2022 2022434310 (20,125) 22,201 (1,527) 549

DME S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %
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36. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 36. IEAEBIIE ()
Notes: FtsE -
(@) At 31 March 2022, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of (@ H2022%F3A31A HMERKDHEM

unused tax losses of HK$1,117,643,000 (2021: HK$1,048,788,000) as they
have been arisen in certain subsidiaries and joint operations that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not assured that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised.

(b) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied (b)
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
PRC.

At 31 March 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC (2021: Nil).
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.

(a] There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by (0
the Company to its shareholders.

B E5181,117,643,00058 7T (20214 :
1,048,788,0007% 7T ) T SR IR SE 7 18 & B
RAEHELAETHBARIRGEEY
HER—EREARBERE BEARTE
HEEE R BRI A B IBE R 2 ERH

A

RIBFBEDEREBOE  RP B Z 5
BRERAIIBEREET KRS ABEKI0%
BB - EEAEIRREEZ AR
REIE R A BSR4 R AR BUR FEAN B
BB -mAEEME EARKXR% X
10% ° Bt AN E B AN A B Z %
SB AR D IR B EHRIENH

7202263 A31H - HE4E pL A SR B A A BB
VUZWBARZ RBERF (ABMTEN
i) 2 A TE T MERIEE R I8 (20214 ¢
) - EERA HZEWEA R AR
A RARDEBBAAF -

AARMBR A RS BREASHETE -

37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. lRZ
(a) Shares (a) &
Authorised: JETE -
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000 A%
HK$0.1 each FREEONATL LB 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE:
1,802,677,847 (2021: 1,820,127,847) 1,802,677,847/%
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (20214 : 1,820,127,8478% )
SRAENB T EBR 180,268 182,013
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(a) Shares (continued)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share
capital and share premium account during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

37. BRA& (&)
() B4 (#)

REL 20229 K2021F3A31H
EFE - AREEBITRARK
DHRERZENPBMT

Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account
2RT
EERYE BRTRA B4R E R e
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TFET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 202064718 1,838,325,847 183,833 760,071 943,904
Cancellation of HEEEER R
repurchased shares (note) (B =) (18,198,000) (1,820) 9,171) (10,991)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3A318 &
1 April 2021 20214818 1,820,127,847 182,013 750,900 932,913
Cancellation of IRt AR )
repurchased shares (note) e (17,450,000) (1,745) (8,526) (10,271)
At 31 March 2022 #2022%3A31R 1,802,677,847 180,268 742,374 922,642

Note: During the year, the Company repurchased 17,450,000 (2021:
18,198,000) ordinary shares in total on the Stock Exchange at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$10,271,000 (2021:
HK$10,991,000) and all these shares were subsequently cancelled on or
before the year end date. The premium of approximately HK$8,526,000
(2021: HK$9,171,000) paid over the nominal value of the shares
repurchased was debited to the share premium account. The repurchases
were effected by the Directors with a view to benefiting the shareholders
of the Company as a whole by enhancing the Company’s net asset value
and earnings per share. Details of the repurchases are summarised as
follows:

Mad: AFERN A2aABKRE
#910,271,000/ JL (20214 =
10,991,000 Ju ) M B 2 F7 i
@& #£17,450,0008% (20214 :
18,198,000 ) H@MR - BB %%
R EBORFELB K AT
BROZEROEZ N ZBRKEE
K 5% {8 #98,526,00078 7T (20214 :
9,171,000% 7T ) B M B 17 )% & fR R
M-FHEBOEESHET B
BRIERAAREEFERTRER
ML ANRRRERTE O
BT

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 37. BRA ()
(a) Shares (continued) (a) B#p(#&)
Note: (continued) MizE: (&)
Year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022F3A31H L E
Number of Purchase price
ordinary paid per share Aggregate
shares SREABER consideration
Months of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest paid
2iEeE 21t
BE A5 EEREE B& BIE #BRE
HKS HK$'000
BT j FET
April 2021 2021F4R 610,000 0.60 0.59 360
July 2021 20214 7R 4,496,000 0.60 0.55 2,611
August 2021 202148 420,000 0.59 0.59 248
September 2021 2021494 3,914,000 0.60 0.58 2,298
October 2021 2021410A 1,206,000 0.60 0.59 21
December 2021 202112 2,110,000 0.60 0.59 1,251
January 2022 2022%1H 460,000 0.60 0.59 274
February 2022 2022424 974,000 0.60 0.60 584
March 2022 20224 3R 3,260,000 0.60 0.59 1,924
17,450,000 10,271
Year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3HA31BLEE
Purchase price
Number of paid per share Aggregate
ordinary shares SRERBER consideration
Months of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest paid
BEEE Ef
BE AL Epelie = 545 i BRE
HK$ HK$'000
BT TET
April 2020 20204H 3,798,000 0.66 0.64 2,437
August 2020 2020%8H 558,000 0.61 0.61 340
September 2020 202097 6,450,000 0.60 0.57 3,825
October 2020 2020104 1,862,000 0.60 0.60 1,117
December 2020 202012 A 1,126,000 0.59 0.58 662
January 2021 202141 A 3,256,000 0.60 0.59 1,927
February 2021 2021424 586,000 0.59 0.59 346
March 2021 202143HA 562,000 0.60 0.60 337

18,198,000 10,991
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37.

38.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(b) Shares held under a share award scheme

Details of the Company’s restricted share award scheme and
the shares held under the scheme are included in note 38 to
the financial statements.

(c) Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 39 to the
financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board approved the adoption of a restricted share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”) with effect from 1 August 2017 (the
“Adoption Date”). The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are
to encourage and retain the selected participants (the “Selected
Participant(s)”), including directors of the Company, to work with the
Company and to provide incentives for them to achieve performance
goals with a view to achieving the objectives of increasing the
value of the Company and aligning the interests of the Selected
Participants directly with those of the shareholders of the Company
through ownership of shares of the Company. Unless otherwise early
terminated by the resolution of the Board, the Share Award Scheme
is valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption
Date.

The Share Award Scheme is operated through a trustee which is
independent of the Group. The shares to be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme will be acquired by the trustee from the open
market after the notification and instruction by the Company. The
trustee shall not hold more than 10% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company.

All share awards granted on 2 August 2017 were vested on 2 August
2018 and there were no share awards outstanding under the Share
Award Scheme as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

37.

38.

BRAR (s

(b) RERGEBFEFEN
i gi)
AR )RR I B 4D B2 B T 8 AR
BRTEBANRD 2 F BN
BT $RR P L3S

() BBk
RN PR R T 8 AR IR AT B 3%
T2 B FIBRARN T HRE
B FE39 -

R 17 88 B 5T &

E=RCHERMAZR GBI RE)
2 (Mhfn 2Rt &l1) - 5201748 A1
B ([5R48 B H ) e 4 - sz I fn 22 B
AENRERSBREEE2EE
(FEE2RE]) (BEARAESR)
EBRRARE LA EFREED K
BB AERENARFE
BRSEE2AENGEBEELRR
AR EREARR A REME —
BR-RIEZTRREARRENRL B
AR 1D 22 Bh =T &) B SR B B SH106F
HAR A R S A o

Bt REET BB B — R BN AKE
M) S FEA &8 - IR I 0 BB T 81
HEBRO K EEEARKIRNAFR
MREREABRAMB EBA R
AFFERNDENEEFAARAD &
TR #BEZ210% °

MR2017F8A2A B L 2 R BB E &
2 FR2018F8H2H 57 B © M 20224F
K2021F3A318 ' &5 2@ & T #
M ARITE 2 B (D 82 -

DNBAERERERAE 2021/224F )
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38.

39.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The movements of the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme account (not yet granted) during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

38. R REIETE (&)

H E20225F K2021E3A31B LEE
AARIRERMERTEEE THE
MRS (WA 2 E8hnT -

P2020F4 418 - 2021634318
202154718 k2022934318

12,452,000 10,643

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing eligible personnel
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company,
which will encourage the grantees of such options to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Board will
set out in the offer the terms on which the option is to be granted.
Such terms may include (i) minimum performance targets that must
be reached before the option can be exercised in whole or in part;
and/or (ii) such other terms (including the vesting period) as may be
imposed at the discretion of the Board either on a case-by-case basis
or generally.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes of
the Company (if any) must not exceed 30% of the ordinary shares
in issue from time to time (the “Share Option Scheme Limit”). No
options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme at any time
if such grant will result in the Share Option Scheme Limit being
exceeded.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) %HX* H-I'E

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all other
share option schemes of the Company (if any) shall not exceed 10%
of the ordinary shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit”), subject
to the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit.
Options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Share Option
Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any eligible personnel (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue without prior approval from the
shareholders. An offer of the options shall be deemed to have been
accepted by way of consideration of HK$1 payable by the eligible
personnel within 30 days from the date of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
on the relevant date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further
grant of options must be approved by the shareholders.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and will be notified to the eligible personnel in
the offer and shall be no less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i)  the average of the closing prices of a share as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iiiy  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the adoption date of 3 September 2012.
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UEERZEALZERE(BEE
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1%  MZABRBBEATRIEEE
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=
39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 39. BiIRERTE (»)
Details of the movements in share options granted under the Share 1R HR BB AR R 5T 81 5% I A BB IR P 4 B et
Option Scheme are as follows: BT
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3A31HLFE
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
Category of price as at during during as at
eligible participants Exercise period per option 1 April 2021 the year the year 31 March 2022
R2021% 120225
BHiERE 4518 £ R 3A318
REKSEEZEH TkE R AT BRI B&H o R AT
HKS
AT
Executive directors 5122017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 3,060,000 - (3,060,000) -
7E% 5/1212019-4112/2021 102 3,060,000 - (3,060,000) -
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 4,080,000 - (4,080,000) -
31132022 31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 4,200,000 - 4,200,000
31/3/2024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 4,200,000 - 4,200,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 5,600,000 - 5,600,000
Non-executive directors 31132022 31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 600,000 - 600,000
*HTES 31/312024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 600,000 - 600,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 800,000 - 800,000
Independent non-executive directors ~ 5/12/2017  5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 540,000 - (540,000) -
BUFHTES 5/1212019-4112/2021 102 540,000 - (540,000) -
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 720,000 - (720,000) -
31132022 31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
31/3/2024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 1,600,000 - 1,600,000
Employees 51202017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 4,314,000 - (4,314,000) -
B8 5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02 4,314,000 - (4,314,000) -
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 5,752,000 - (5,752,000 -
3132022 31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 5,400,000 - 5,400,000
31/32024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 5,400,000 - 5,400,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 7,200,000 - 7,200,000

26,380,000 38,000,000 (26,380,000) 38,000,000

Number of options exercisable at PSR AT 2 BRiELE

the end of the reporting period 38,000,000
Weighted average exercise METHTEE (B (BR))
price (HK$ per share) 1.02 0.60 1.02 0.60
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

Category of
eligible participants

RERZEE RS

Executive directors

978%

Independent non-executive directors

BUFNTES

Employees

E&

Number of options exercisable at
the end of the reporting period

Weighted average exercise
price (HK$ per share)

Notes:

Date of grant

HHAH

51212017

511212017

511212017

39. BRESE (2

Exercise price

Exercise period per option
BhERE

TEH TEE
HKS

A

5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02

REERRATE BREHE

mEFATEE (Br (8R))

(a) The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to the first
exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined by directors of the
Company at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme may only exercise their options during
the exercisable periods as follows:

Date of grant

EHBH

5/12/2017

31/3/2022

Exercise period

TTEH

BE2021F3A31B L EE

Number of share options

EREHE

Qutstanding Lapsed

as at during

1 April 2020 the year
#2020

4R18 R

HATHR BXX

Qutstanding

as at

31 March 2021
#R2021%
3A31H
WARITE

Maximum percentage of
share options exercisable

3,060,000 - 3,060,000
3,060,000 - 3,060,000
4,080,000 - 4,080,000
540,000 - 540,000
540,000 - 540,000
720,000 - 720,000
5,142,000 (828,000) 4,314,000
5,142,000 (828,000) 4,314,000
6,856,000 (1,104,000) 5,752,000
29,140,000 (2,760,000) 26,380,000
26,380,000
1.02 1.02 1.02

B & -

(@ ERBREZFEHELBASEFMET
TEAREM)IAARTNEERNRES
BREEET REEREASRLZE
g2 B ANERRATITRARTEE

R AR HE -

5/12/2018-4/12/2019
5/12/2019-4/12/2020
5/12/2020-4/12/2021

31/3/2023-30/3/2024
31/3/2024-30/3/2025
31/3/2025-30/3/2026

up to 30% T Hi830%
up to 60% T Hi860%
up to 100% T #8i8100%
up to 30% NiEE#B30%
up to 60% T #8i860%
up to 100% N iEBiB100%

Tl e ERERER AR

BRI 1T R B A

ZRE AN

2021/224F %
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

()

During the year, the Group recognised a share option expense of HK$7,000
(2021: HK$1,048,000) in relation to the share options granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme in prior years.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was
estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial option pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield fig 2=

Volatility R 8

42 3 B | 3

B IR A A HR
I TEHRRE

Risk-free interest rate
Effective life of options
Weighted average share price

40. RESERVES

(@)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The capital reserve mainly includes:

()  a debit balance of HK$7,340,000 recognised in prior
years, which represented the aggregate amount of
the non-voting deferred share capital of Chun Wo
Construction and Engineering Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company and the aggregate nominal amount of
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
a group reorganisation undertaken in 1993.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22
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MiaE: (&)

(b) RAFE AEBERBTFEARQRIR
TR B AR A AT B 45 7 R R R B AR R
27,0008 7T (20214F : 1,048,000/ 7T ) °

@ REFERHZUABASEEZBREZA
FEDINREASER _AABRECE
B E WET R B AR 2 SRR K
e TRBIFERRA Z 8 ARE:

1.47%

23.30%

2.06%

4.0 years F
HK$0.60 per share
S 1%0.607%E T

40. F#1E
(@) AEEBRAFENRBAFEZRE
BLENEEHRN AR
HBERET

b) EBEAXREIZEE:

)y MREAFERRAZEBEE
#:7,340,0007% 7T+ BN & AN
BETIEBRAA (KK
BE2EHEHMNBARR) &
WERBELERA  ARAA
A BT 2 RAHE B B K E
1993 F EFEEAHMBAZ
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40. RESERVES (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

a deemed contribution of HK$10,240,000 recognised
upon the acquisition of the remaining 62% interest in
Mandarin Group Limited (“MGL") from a then director
and a then controlling shareholder of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2010. MGL was
deregistered during the year ended 31 March 2021, the
aforementioned capital reserve of HK$10,240,000 was
transferred to retained profits.

the amount of profit capitalisation upon allotment of
share capital of Chun Wo Foundations Limited (a wholly-
owned subsidiary) during the year ended 31 March 1997.

a deemed contribution of HK$6,961,000 recognised
upon the acquisition of a 40% interest in CPL from a
controlling shareholder of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020, which represented the difference
between the consideration paid and the acquisition-date
fair value of the net assets of CPL attributable to the
Group.

a gain of HK$4,615,000 recognised upon the disposal
of a 5% interest in the Relevant Subsidiary to an
independent third party during the current year, which
represented the difference between the consideration
received of HK$6,000,000 and 5% net assets value of
the Relevant Subsidiary attributable to the Group of
HK$1,385,000 as at the disposal date.

40. f##E (#)

(b)

(%)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

HRNE E£2010F3/831H
EFERAARAR—RBER
EEREHIERBRERE
Mandarin Group Limited
(IMGLJ)®% T62% #
mMERZERIEIE
10,240,000/ 7T > MGL 2
REE2021F3A318 IEF
EAREEM WRIRB
i A B A LA E B ARG
10,240,000 7T ©

REZ=1997F3A318 L&
EREBEMBETREAR
AE(—HE2EELAWB
NaE)) 2 BAREARLZ &
F o

ARE 22020638318 1
FEmEARR — B ERR
HULE CPL 2 40% HE2S T #E
R 2% R 1E)E E6,961,000
B AEREMREERK
A ASEEEECPLEE
FEZAFEZESE-

RAFERABILE=FH
ERIEBEHE R F5% #
= 18 TE R M L 254,615,000
BT oHEEREBRE
6,000,000 JT 81 7K £2 B 7
TERBELERBRE A
A)5% Ky & EE)F 181,385,000
BT Z R ERE-

SHEERAR AT 202172245
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 41. 8BRS RER 2K
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions () EXFHEXRS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had non- REE2022F3A831BILEE
cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of N AEBERSEEEHER
HK$34,403,000 (2021: HK$12,429,000) and HK$34,403,000 et REEENMEEREBEZ
(2021: HK$12,429,000), respectively, in respect of lease FRMEAE D B A34,403,000
arrangements for various assets. 77T (20214F £ 12,429,0007% 7T)

}.34,403,000/ 7T (20214 :
12,429,000 7T ) °

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other major BREXHBEBREIN REBE
non-cash transactions of investing and financing activities 202245 Kk202153A31B L F E
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. N AEBTAREEMBERKRE
REEEHIHRER G-
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZBELEZERES
activities )
Bank Lease
borrowings [ELIIE
RITER HESE
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000
i3 FE7T FE7T
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ2022F3R31ALEE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4R18 3,215,098 55,805
Transfer to liabilities directly associated with BRZENEAREREY
the assets of a disposal group classified —RHEEEY
as held for sale BEBEAENEE 31 (34,908) (4,043)
Changes from operating cash flows BEREREZEY - -
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREZED (158,230) (39,078)
New leases e - 34,403
Interest expense MERX 8 55,596 2,050
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred BRARITERRHEEZ
in connection with the arrangement WA AR
of bank loans 8 16,553 -
Exchange realignment B % B (781) (17)
At 31 March 2022 $2022%3A31R 3,093,328 49,120
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

M. GZERERERZHFE »)

(b) MEZBMELEZRES
(&)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
AT HEBE
Notes HK$000 HK$ 000
Hizt FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ2202153A31B L E
At 1 April 2020 #®2020F4H1H 2,853,205 65,264
Acquisition of subsidiaries LA =N 42(3) 23,312 6,112
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon MHEBARREFRRSG
resumption of control TH LA AR 42(h) 96,886 6,611
Changes from operating cash flows BEReREED - -
Changes from financing cash flows REREREZEE 161,957 (36,719)
New leases FHE = 12,429
Early termination of a lease RAKE—BHE = (215)
Interest expense FISRAY 8 59,651 2,300
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred BRARITERRHEEZ
in connection with the arrangement B AR
of bank loans 8 19,011 -
Exchange realignment X AR 1,076 23
At 31 March 2021 $2021%3A31H 3,215,098 55,805

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated

statement of cash flows is as follows:

() HERSRHMAE
SAGARSRBRZEERS
T REmT

2021
HK$000

FET

Within operating activities EFREEFEFR 2,050 2,300
Within financing activities Z2YRRLEEE 39,078 36,719
41,128 39,019

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL

(a) Business combinations

The Group had the following business combinations during the
years ended 31 March 2021:

(i)

(ii)

In July 2020, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company acquired a 84% equity interest in
Prosperouse Education Consultancy Limited (“PECL")
from an independent third party for a total consideration
of HK$2,500,000. PECL is principally engaged in the
provision of school management services.

On 8 October 2020, an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary owned as to 92.73% by the Company, as
a subscriber and a purchaser, entered into a share
subscription agreement and a sale and purchase
agreement with JA and a vendor, both being
independent third parties, respectively, for the acquisition
of not more than a 55% equity interest in JA for a total
cash consideration of HK$27,500,000.

Following the completion of the acquisition taken place
on 4 November 2020, the Company held 50.99% of the
entire issued and paid up share capital of JA.

In accordance with the aforesaid agreements,
HK$15,125,000 out of total cash consideration were
paid in October and November 2020 and the remaining
balance shall be paid upon fulfillment of the profit
guarantee provided by the vendor. The contingent
consideration was an embedded derivative instrument
which was measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of this
embedded derivative was not significant as at the date of
completion of the acquisition and 31 March 2021.
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

(iif)

On 20 October 2020, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group had conditionally agreed
to purchase, and the independent third party had
conditionally agreed to sell, the entire issued share capital
of Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited (“HKCL")
for total cash consideration of HK$64,000,000. HKCL
is principally engaged in the production and sale of PET
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use.

Completion of the acquisition took place on
3 November 2020 and HK$60,000,000 of the total
cash consideration was paid to the independent third
party in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the sale and purchase agreement on the completion
date. The remaining balance of HK$4,000,000 shall
be paid upon the fulfillment of the profit guarantee
provided by the independent third party. The contingent
consideration was an embedded derivative instrument
which was measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of this
embedded derivative was not significant as at the date of
completion of the acquisition and 31 March 2021.

Further details of the acquisition were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 20 October 2020
and 3 November 2020.

2. EBEHEMBRARARE

Z= )
(A5 )

EUE

EHERSRE AR

() EBE/ (2

(iii)

TMEE S EZERER AR

20206 10A20H - —
RpRlzBEE2EHRE
MBARE —BBYE
=HAMN—MEBEmE-
Bl AKREERERE
BELZBIFEF=HF
&4+ A & & Hong Kong
Cyclotron Laboratories
Limited ([HKCL]) 2 E
BIREK BRERER
64,000,0007% T ° HKCL
ENRFELEERBEELEET
T M YA ER &
Ri&-

U i =15 B 70202011 A
3B 5 60,000,000 7T
Z2RESREENTHK B
HIZE B HaE 2 R R
HRZBLE=Z I F 5%
484,000,000 7T B B B
VEZHAREZEMNRE
ERNE ST BB ARE
BEAFEFABEIE
ZBARPTET A -EER
B ZBmARITETERK
B E I\ B 8 202143
A31BZ AFBEITEK-

FREWESENE—PF
FE R ARQ A B EA2020
F10H208 &2020F11 83
BZR&e
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND 2. B EHEMBRATARE
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON MG EHRRES AR
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued) (#&)

(a) Business combinations (continued) (a) ¥%a6t(#)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the ERBEER SN EERAR
entities acquired as at the date of acquisition were as follows: U B2 A ER T

PECL JA Group HKCL Total

= AEE HKCL k)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T8 FET FET FAET

Property, plant and equipment 1% - #3 R RE 15 - 4,553 4,089 8,642
Right-of-use assets RRBEE 17(a) - 3,197 2,653 5,850
Deferred tax assets EREBIBEEE 36 - = 278 278
Inventories FE - 4,606 2,468 7,074
Contract assets BHEE - 10,303 - 10,303
Trade receivables Z S EWHIE - 6,513 6,528 13,041

Prepayments, deposits and BRHRE Re REM

other receivables FE WA 12 22,646 1,902 24,560
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREZERA 35 8,686 5,477 14,198
Trade payables B SRl FE - (5,156) (226) (5,382)
Other payables and accruals Hoh FE < 58 R FE AT IE (19) (6,849) (385) (7,253)
Bank and other borrowings FATREADER - (23,312) = (23,312)
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) - @3, 534) (2,578) (6,112)
Income tax payable EHMEH - (3,053) (3,053)

Total identifiable net assets at BATEFEZ

fair value AHREEFEER 28 21,653 17,153 38,834
Non-controlling interests FeE RS @) (9,746) = (9,750)
24 11,907 17,153 29,084

Goodwill on acquisition Wgrs 2 2 18 2,476 15,593 46,847 64,916
2,500 27,500 64,000 94,000

Satisfied by cash EXARARELM 2,500 27,500 64,000 94,000
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

2. XEBEHEMBARRE

MG EFEREZES AR

(%)
(a)

EBRest#)
WIEMB AR 2B REDTN
T

PECL JA Group HKCL Total
B JASE HKCL B
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FET T FHET T
Cash consideration HerE (2,500) (27,500) (64,000) (94,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BlE R RERS
ZEER 35 8,686 5,477 14,198
Add: Outstanding cash consideration as at M RERHRERZ
the end of the year ReNE 230 12,375 4,000 16,605
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents WEHRBRRAIZEE R
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries RS EEEA
R (2,235) (6,439) (54,523) (63,197)

Since the acquisition, the acquired entities contributed
HK$58,903,000 to the Group's revenue and incurred a profit
of HK$8,029,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Had the above business combinations taken place at the
beginning of the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's
loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have been
HK$181,001,000 and the Group's revenue would have been
HK$7,552,746,000.

BElESEUAR BRER
ARAEB 2EXEAERT
58,903,000/ 7t ' W R & £2021
FIAMBLEFEE £ &
8,029,000/ T °

fisi £l 75 & BFR20214F3 A31
BIEFEZFNEL AEER
2021F3A31HILFEEEE A
181,001,000 7T » T A E A &
¥ 5B 15 57,552,746,000/8 TT ©

mNEE A EREERAR AR 2021/22F 3R
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2. EBEHRHMBRARARE
HIGEHEESS AR

42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(b) Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption

(b) BT HE HEE s

of control

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s
construction and other professional services operation in
Malaysia had been negatively impacted by the outbreak of
Covid-19 pandemic. In order to provide the relevant operating
entities of these operations with flexibility, ECO Group Holdings
Sdn. Bhd. ("ECO"), to make decisions and introduce measures
to improve their operating performance and efficiency, the
Group entered into supplementary agreements in the first
quarter of 2020 with the minority shareholder of ECO who
has expertise and experience in these operations in the local
markets such that the control of this entity was temporarily
passed to the minority shareholder of ECO for a period of
4.5 months, from the respective date of the supplementary
agreement. In the opinion of the Directors, this arrangement
was in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole amid Covid-19 outbreak.

As a result of the aforesaid arrangement during the second half
of the prior year, the Group lost control over ECO and hence it
had been accounted for as associates of the Group since then.
Accordingly, the ECO and its subsidiaries (the “ECO Group”)
were deconsolidated in March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group executed
its right to resume control over ECO, in accordance with the
terms of a supplementary agreement entered into between the
Group and the minority shareholder of ECO in March 2020.
Accordingly, the Group’s investment in ECO was reclassified
from an investment in an associate to an investment in a
subsidiary during the year ended 31 March 2021 and financial
statements of the ECO Group have been consolidated since
then.

In accordance with the share sale and purchase agreement
entered in November 2019, RM2,983,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,659,000) out of the total cash consideration shall be paid
upon fulfillment of the profit guarantee provided by the seller
of ECO from 2021 to 2023. The contingent consideration was
an embedded derivative instrument which was measured at fair
value through profit or loss. In the opinion of the Directors, the
fair value of this embedded derivative was not significant as
at the date of resumption of control over ECO and 31 March
2021.
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(b) Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption
of control (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
ECO Group as at the date of resumption of control were as

2. XEBEHEMBARRE
HESE4IEESE AR
(%)

(b) M RAREHEGESF
SRS AR (#)

EeEEARNEENBBENE
MBS EG# B ZRFED

follows: T
2021
ECO Group
EasE
HK$°000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y3t - 2SR 15 47,452
Investment properties wEMZE 6 11,790
Right-of-use assets FHEESE 17(a) 12,276
Deferred tax assets RIEF IR & EE 36 634
Inventories 5E 631
Contract assets EHEE 46,406
Trade receivables =Y e e 27,880
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AN RRIE - R e R EHA
& Wk IE 13,353
Income tax recoverable AR [O] FTiS R 1,346
Cash and cash equivalents BeRHRSEEIER 16,006
Trade payables B SRR (15,329)
Contract liabilities EHEE (1,387)
Other payables and accruals H At S R8I e 5T RIR (25,608)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBERK (96,886)
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) (6,611)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATFEFECAHAEE
FEARE 31,953
Non-controlling interests FEPERRAE (15,657)
16,296
Goodwill on acquisition W EERr 2 2 18 14,044
30,340
Satisfied by: ER TR
Reclassification from interests in associates HEE R AERENSR
to interests in subsidiaries =1 NGRS 26,847
Gain on remeasurement of a pre-existing EIFTER —HEE QR
interest in an associate BA#EZD WS 7 3,493
30,340

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND 2. EBEHRMBRARARE
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON MG EFERSS AR
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued) (%)

(b) Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption (b) MIBARREFHFIGSES
of control (continued) ERGZEAR#®)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the resumption of EHEFNSESEHEZRE
control of ECO is as follows: AT :
2021
ECO Group
EasE
HK$000
FET
Cash and cash equivalents consolidated HREANRZRSRERSEMEEE 16,006
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in Bt B8 X B PA BB 3T HRAS 2R il i
respect of the consolidation of subsidiaries iR ARz R e KR
upon resumption of control ReFEHEBERAFRE 16,006
Since the consolidation of the ECO Group upon resumption REFIMEEGERLEGS ARE
of control, the ECO Group contributed HK$46,451,000 to the BEE% BB AREEE
Group's revenue and incurred a loss of HK$ 13,546,000 for the F2021F3A3IBLEFENEE
year ended 31 March 2021. % & $146,451,0008 0 W E A

[E51813,546,0007 7T ©

Had the above resumption of control over ECO taken place at fig Ll EFEEE S ZESER
the beginning of the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's 20215F3A31B LR 2 F W&
loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have been £ REBRNE E£2021F3A31
HK$196,705,000 and the Group's revenue would have been BIEFE B8 A196,705,000
HK$7,559,568,000. AL AEBNEXRERR

7,559,568,000/% JT
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Sales of property interests (a)

43. HEHE AT
LB §

The Group completed the sale of the following property
developments through disposal of subsidiaries during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

Year ended 31 March 2022

On 6 April 2021, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with the independent third party for the
disposal of 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang Junling for
a total cash consideration of RMB180 million (equivalent
to HK$219,780,000). Shijiazhuang Junling was classified
as a disposal group held for sale as at 31 March 2021, as
further detailed in note 31 to the financial statements. As a
result of the transaction, a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$117,681,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the
year upon completion of the transaction on 18 November
2021 and the consideration of RMB120 million (equivalent
to HK$146.5 million) was settled as at 31 March 2022.
The remaining consideration of RMB60 million (equivalent
to HK$73.3 million) will be settled in accordance with the
payment schedule as set out in the share transfer agreement.

Year ended 31 March 2021

On 13 March 2020, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with the joint venture partner of a
joint venture for the disposal of the Group’s entire 50%
equity interest in the Mega Champion Enterprises Limited
and its subsidiary (the “Mega Group”) through disposal
of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for a
total cash consideration of HK$116,900,000. As a result
of the transaction, a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$11,515,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the
year upon completion of the transaction on 30 June 2020.

REBRNE £202245F 202143
A31BEFEREESE B EH
BARSERHE T MFEENME
TR

B ZE2022F3A31HILEE

AEBR2021F486B M EER
KRS 251% IRAEERZ 2B
BEZHRIN— RO EERE
438 & R E A AR 180,000,000
7T (#8 & $2219,780,000/ 7T ) °
AREESMN2021FE38318 %
SEABEHEL —RHALEES
E— T HBERPEREN
31 5% X 5 M2021511 18R
RETEKE  AFEBZIRNER
& U 25 49117,681,0007 7T 4%
B 4& A R#%120,000,0007T (HHE
146,500,000 7T ) B 720224
3A3EY BRTREAARE
60,000,0007T ( #8%& 773,300,000
B BEBROEE G ET B
B B RS R S A o

BZE2021F3A831HILEE

20203138 ANEEE—H
BERNAIZEERBHIT L —HE
Bf# SRHEARA—HE
& W B A A H B A& B R Mega
Champion Enterprises Limited &
HEWMB AR ([Megate @) 2
T EB50% ikt IR EKER
116,900,000 7T HRN BB 5
B R2020F6 A30A =k ' HE
U #911,515,0008 TERFE A
ZIEm PR

SHERRARAT 2021/2246 8K
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HENBE QT (2
(a) Sales of property interests (continued) () HEWMERER (&)
An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result B bt EEEMEUE#ER
of the above disposals is as follows: BEHGEITEOT:

Net assets disposed of: HEEEZFE:
Land held for property development 5 {E¥ ¥R 2 i 408,174 -
Properties held for sale FEHEWSE 737 =
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERRIZIKE - 105,205
Prepayments, deposits and other AR B e R EA
receivables JE W 3R IE 14,000 =
Cash and bank balance He RIRTTEH 15,725 =
Other payables and accruals H th FE AT 50 IE R FE ST R IE (106,242) =
Income tax payables RS (26,279) =
306,115 105,205
Expenses incurred for the disposal HEMEECHE 4,254 180
Gains on sales of property interests BRTEWNBEAT HEME
through disposal of subsidiaries WS 2 W 7 117,681 11,515
Exchange fluctuation reserve realised & %38 2 SME K B4 & (38,356) =
389,694 116,900
Satisfied by: ERARA:
Cash consideration HeERE 219,780 116,900
Reclassification of investment in BRR—HEMNEARZ
a subsidiary to investment in REEMDER
an associate R—HEBERRZIRE 169,914 =
389,694 116,900
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Sales of property interests (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a

result of the above disposals is as follows:

43. HEWB AT (&)

(a) HEVXEER &)
B E P EEEREL Y B
RERSSEEE 2 RAFES
T

Cash consideration ReRE 219,780 116,900
Outstanding cash consideration HMAEBEZRENRE (73,267) =
Less: Sales deposits received for sale of B HE—EREHEEZ
a non-current asset held for sale FRBEEZEW
HERE - (11,690)
Cash and bank balance disposed of BHE 2R e RIBITER (15,725) =
Expenses incurred for the disposal HEMEEZHAY (4,254) (180)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BRLEMBRARILEME
in respect of sale of property interests Emc R RERSEE
through disposal of subsidiaries HE RN 126,534 105,030

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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202293 A31H
43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEM B QB (&)
(b) Other disposals (b) HHE

In addition to the above disposals of subsidiaries as set out in
note (a) above, the Group also completed the disposal of two
immaterial subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2021.

As analysis of the assets derecognised as a result of the

B EXHiFQFEMBARZ S
EFH KANEETRBE20215F
3A3EEFERK L ERMEIE
BEAMBAR -

B 6 R e B B 2 R i BUH

disposal of the two subsidiaries is as follows: RZBESWWT
Net assets disposed of: HEBEEZFE:
Goodwill BE 18 2,476
Inventories rE 133
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BT FIE & & & E b fE U 2008 533
Cash and cash equivalent REMHEBSEFEIEE 425
Trade payables B ERNRIE (56)
Other payables and accruals H At &< 5138 S FE R RRIE (1,084)
Non-controlling interest FEfE AR A 2 (74)
2,353
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries LB AR EE 9 (349)
Exchange fluctuation reserve realised B8 2 INE IR B B 106
2,110
Satisfied by: ERAAA:
Cash consideration REaKE 1,880
Other payable assumed Fr & 2 B M FE 5 5RI8 230
2,110
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

Other disposals (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a
result of the above disposals is as follows:

43. LEHRB A B (&)
(b) EftHE )

AL EmMEELE RS RER
SEEBRBZRAFESNAO
T

Cash consideration ReRE 1,880
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHEZRE MIRITER (425)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEMNBARZE S KA

in respect of disposal of subsidiaries REFEBEBERAFE 1,455

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

44. SARBE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RIEBR REEF AT @R
contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the BHRERTIRBEBZIAREE:
financial statements:
(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds (a) EfFHZRARIERREN
given RE
2021
HK$ 000
T
Indemnities issued to financial institutions ~ BLAER L TR M BE RS
for performance bonds in respect of ERHZEHREMMAEH
construction and professional services HEIEL 2 R
contracts undertaken by:
— subsidiaries NG 963,631 1,022,183
— joint operations —BREEB 96,044 107,285
— a joint venture ——MEEAH 41,173 40,445

1,100,848 1,169,913

Guarantees issued to financial institutions

to secure credit facilities granted to
associates (note (ii))

Guarantees for property development
projects given to banks which granted
facilities to purchasers of the Group’s
properties held for sale (note (iii))

MEE N EREERE
e S REEIEL 2
R (HIsEG)) 1,013,564 1,527,275

IHERBERABABEEAEE
FEHEMFEZ ALRRHE
BEZRITIRHZER
(B & Gii) ) - 14,835

2,114,412 2,712,023

mNEE A EREERAR AR 2021/22F 3R
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44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds
given (continued)

In addition to the above, corporate guarantees were provided
by the Group to two parties to indemnify them any losses
and liabilities that they may incur in connection with certain
construction works of the Group in which the two parties
have involvement. In the opinion of the Directors, the financial
impact of the contingent liabilities that may arise from these
arrangements is assessed to be minimal.

Notes:

0}

(ii)

(iii)

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the financial guarantee
contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial recognition and the
possibility of the default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly,
no value has been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of these financial guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2022, the banking facilities granted to associates and
guaranteed by the Group were utilised to the extent of HK$692,911,000
(2021: HK$1,045,605,000). As at 31 March 2021, the other shareholder
of an associate provides to the Group a counter-guarantee in respect of
the amount of banking facilities in excess of the Group's pro rata share
based on the Group’s equity interest in the associate.

At 31 March 2021, the Group provided guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group's properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, and the Group is entitled
to take over the legal title and possession of the related properties
through taking legal actions. The Group's guarantee period starts from
the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and discharges upon
the earlier of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the
purchasers; and (i) the fully repayment of the relevant mortgage loans by
the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the Directors
consider that in the event of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties and
therefore no provision has been made in the financial statements for the
guarantees.
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44. R EE (&)
(b) HE
AEEFASENHAHSRA

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Litigations
The legal proceedings arose from four sets of Sale and

Purchase Agreement dated 4 August 2011 and 3 March
2012 respectively (the “SPAs”), pursuant to which the
Group purchased four flat top barges (the “Vessels”) from
a plaintiff. The SPAs stipulated that the plaintiff should buy
back the Vessels from the Group in the total consideration of
HK$15,150,000 (the “Buyback”) after 36 months from the
Vessels' respective delivery dates (the “Buyback Dates”). The
Buyback did not take place on the Buyback Dates nor after
rounds of negotiations in 2015. In May 2018, the Group
disposed of the Vessels to a third party.

In June 2021, the plaintiff commenced the legal proceedings
alleging that the Group was in breach of the SPAs and claims,
inter alia, for (i) loss of rental charges beyond the Buyback
Dates and (ii) loss of difference between the market price and
the buyback price of the Vessels.

The Group counterclaims against the plaintiff for, inter alia,
(i) the difference between the buyback prices under the
SPAs and the selling price to the third party and (ii) the costs
of maintaining the Vessels beyond the Buyback Dates until
disposal to the third party.

The plaintiff is now claiming loss and damages in the sum of
approximately HK$9,511,000 against the Group while the
Group is counterclaiming loss and damages in the sum of
approximately HK$17,496,000.

As advised by the legal advisers to the Group, the Group has
a reasonable chance of success in counterclaiming against the
plaintiff.

201198 A4H K2012F3A3H K
BEEW= ([EEWHE]) TSI
Bt AEERRSEABE TIH
EFEMM (THm)) BEEHZ
HE REABEMMASEZR
TEHER36ME AR ([EEAH])
MALEERBERER EARER
15,150,000/ 7 ([[EEE]) - [@
BIAREEBHET TRR
20155 Z gk H 18 # 17 - 782018
F5A AEEBMMEETE=
Eo

M2021F6 A ' REARAEERE
FEARFD BREASEERE
EpZEIRE HREE ()2E
H 8 A £ 1B K K (i) S e
BEROEE M EREEX-

AEEHREAROIRRE H
PR () EEHEE NHERE
BEETE=-THNERZHENZE
B RiVEMBARKEILE
FE= D ZHERMNER-

REEARBMAEBRREY
9,511,000 THIIBRA RIEBE T
AEE AR EEX17,496,000/%
TTHBAKREBE-

BMAEBERBRZER X
SEEREMKINEERRE A
RERRE-
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45. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

(a) Capital commitments

Contracted, but not provided for:
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

EATRERER:
BEVE HERE

45. & iE
PR EEIR  AEE BT RE:

(a)

BRERE

2021

HK$'000
FAET

- 7,387

(b)

Property development commitments

Contracted, but not provided for:

Residential developments FEERE

EATRERER:

(b)

VIR RAYE

2021

HK$'000
FAET

59 745,191

(c) Commitment for sale of a property interest

On 6 April 2021, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party for the disposal of
a 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang Junling. Details of the
commitment for the sale of Shijiazhuang Junling are set out
in note 31(a) to the financial statements. The transaction was
completed on 18 November 2021 and such commitment no
longer existed as at 31 March 2022.

(d)

Commitment for sale of an equity interest

On 30 May 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the non-controlling equity holder of JA for the
disposal of the Group’s entire 50.99% equity interest in JA.
Details of the commitment for the sale of JA Group are set out
in note 31(b) to the financial statements.
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46. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material transactions with related parties during the year:

Associate: il W/NCTE
Management fee income (note) ERE

WA (FEE)

6. BEFHE

@ BRFVBHREEMBEOFLZ
RO NEBRAFE A LR
BHAINATEARS

1,623 1,294

Note: The transaction prices were determined by reference to the then
prevailing market rates.

(b) Outstanding balances and other transactions with related
parties:

(i) Details of the balances with associates at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in note 21(b) to the
financial statements.

(i)  Details of the trade receivable balances with other
partners of joint operations at the end of the reporting
period are disclosed in note 25(b) to the financial
statements.

(i) Details of the guarantees provided by non-controlling
equity holders of a subsidiary and shareholders of non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries in respect of
certain bank loans of the Group are set out in note 34(d)
to the financial statements.

(iv) Details of the corporate guarantees and performance
bonds given by the Group in connection with the
operations of joint operations, a joint venture and
associates of the Group are disclosed in note 44(a) to the
financial statements.

(v) Details of the purchase of patent from a connected
person of the Company are disclosed in note 19 to the
financial statement.

This transaction constitutes connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but
is exempted from announcement, reporting and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

M XRSZERLSEERERZTHE

TBEE -
by HEERFZARNHRBEREAMR
5
() R|MEHR EEBENEZ
BREE AT 1B B S I R M A
21(b) HEE -

(i) Eé%&%ﬂ;ﬁifi'éﬁié“%ﬂ&
EmEHE S ERR
ERR B B T W E%Bﬁ?
25(b) # 55 o

(i) — M QR IR A
FAARKERAFZER
BRERA A ZBRRIAE
BETRITERREHER
2 BE B S R M
34(d) °

(ivy AEERAEEEERT
—fH& % RE RE QA
BB 2 RAER
KRBHREZFH BRI
R M aEa4(a) HREE o

(v) MARFBEEALTEBER
FMZzFBRERYBERE
BgFE19 o
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202243 H31H
46. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 46. AE L R E (#)

() Compensation of key management personnel of the Group © ZAEBEFEEEABZFHHN
Short term employee benefits REEEEA 45,121 59,824
Equity-settled share option expense AR 48 2 B &2 5 662
Other equity-settled share-based payment — HAMLARALE 2 UKD A

expense ERSRHAZ 2,403 777
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRERET B 624 793
Total compensation paid to key management [\ £ 2 &2 A 8 2 {79 5 B

personnel L] 48,153 62,056

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
10 to the financial statements.

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Except for debt investments and equity investments being classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as disclosed in
note 28 to the financial statements, all other financial assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are classified
as financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.

48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

o the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
included in the Level 2 and Level 3 categories have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the
most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the
credit risk of counterparties.
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Directors consider that the fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices)
or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

Debt investments at fair value 1ZAF(EzT Az

through profit or loss L ERERE -
Equity investments at fair BRAFEFAER
value through profit or loss 2 IRAK & 5,623

48. SMI A AFER AT

BEEBR &)
BERE R —ENH KR
CARMAERSRMABI ATEES
BEEERE TEERMETA
R AEE -

REAMBRARERZ AT
e
TREHGRERBRADFEFEZ
ERMIADH RRABRAFERE
BAR—E=#-

o E-—RAFEFAEDRBREE
KB ERNERM ST ATRER (R
TR -

o  E_MAFEFEDIRE A
AZBEIN REEEXBER
B (AER)REZ (MaER
TE)BRBABESL -

s  F=MAFEEDNFALIR
BABEMSEE CEUBERE

ABR)ZEERBBZHEER
B/

- = 3,642 3,642

5,623 1,868 = 1,868

5,623

5,623 1,868 3,642 5,510

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer
into or out of Level 3 in the current and prior years.

RAFERBEFE F—REAE—
BB EEMERRIEHE =R
BAREL -

DN A ERIERER AT 2021/225F
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
debt investments and equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss, balances with joint ventures, associates, other partners of
joint operations and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes to the financial statements. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below:

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Most of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in
HK$ or RMB, which are the same as the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities. The Group undertakes certain
transactions denominated in foreign currencies, and hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group
does not expect any significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge against
its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rate.

(ii) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank borrowings and bank deposits
with floating interest rates which are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk. During the year, the Group has not hedged
its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks. The Directors
consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on
the bank deposits is insignificant as most deposits bear variable
interest rates which have not significantly fluctuated in recent
years.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A
100 (2021: 100) basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2021: 100) basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 would have
decreased/increased by approximately HK$25,369,000 (2021:
HK$26,257,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
Directors consider that the Group's exposure to interest rate
fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

m
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBIJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors and
amounts due from other partners of joint operations. The Group is
exposed to credit concentration risk as a substantial portion of its
trade debtors are generated from a limited number of customers.

At the end of the reporting period, three (2021: three) customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 61% (2021: 47%) of
the Group's trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. To mitigate credit risk arising from
guarantees provided to banks in respect of credit facilities utilised
by associates, the Group has delegated a team responsible for
assessing credit standing and limits to the guarantees to be made. In
addition, management considers the credit risk exposure to financial
guarantees provided to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading over a number
of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from joint
ventures, associates and other partners of joint operations,
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from default of the
counterparty is limited as the counterparty has sufficient net assets to
repay its debts and/or a good history of repayment.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. M EEEREEERBEE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4 )

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRITERAEBEERENEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which EERSGAEERRBRHKO ZEER
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REZENBANEURER (BRIFH
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HEREFFEH T UENKRLE N
classification as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The amounts presented BRI 15 ) LA R AL 20224 k20214
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. SANEBMFEREZBERDE-FTE5 &

BREMEEZREAE-
At 31 March 2022 R202253H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B A
W TR HA
BEEE 2HBEHEEREE

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F-HER F-ER F=ZER 5

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET FHET FHET FHET

Contract assets* BREE* - - - 3,750,214 3,750,214
Trade receivables* Z 5 W RIE * - - - 719,207 719,207
Financial assets included in 5t AJ&{F7RIE -

prepayments, deposits Re R HEAEY

and other receivables HENEREE

— Normal** —IEFE** 1,002,731 - - - 1,002,731

— Doubtful** — A] B ** - 88,044 - - 88,044
Restricted cash and pledged R %134 K&

deposits B AE R

— Not yet past due —# R 8 Ef 16,009 - - - 16,009
Cash and cash equivalents  R& K HEIRE

%EIEH
— Not yet past due — e A 48 HR 1,440,057 - - - 1,440,057

2,458,797 88,044 4,469,421 7,016,262
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. KRR EEBEZERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERR &)
At 31 March 2021 A2021563H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A A
Y 78 5f
=EEE FHEH{EEEE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—HER FIBER F=BR Ex B
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET TFET T TFET T

Contract assets* BREE" - - - 3,331,161 3,331,161
Trade receivables* B 5 R MWRIR * - - - 783,551 783,551
Financial assets included in &t AFEfFZRIA -
prepayments, deposits Ze R EAMEY
and other receivables HIEHCREE
— Normal** —IEF** 1,009,283 - - - 1,009,283
— Doubtful** — ] R ** - 88,044 - - 88,044
Restricted cash and ZRHFEE K
pledged deposits [
— Not yet past due — A A 481 HR 14,294 = = = 14,294
Cash and cash equivalents  3R& R EIE S
£HIER
— Not yet past due — MR8 E 1,556,582 - - - 1,556,582
2,580,159 88,044 - 4,114,712 6,782,915
@ For contract assets and trade receivables to which the Group applies the @ RAEERAGELETRENSNEE
simplified approach for impairment, information based on historical observed LRESEWFEMNS EREBAGEF
default rates over the expected life of debtors and adjusted for forward-looking HANBAEBEMENENRGE Wit
information as disclosed in notes 24(a) and 25 to the financial statements, RIBE M ERIEITRABNER 5 BRI 5]
respectively. R FE24(a) K255 T
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and * BERBEMNFRIE R REOERKIEN
other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due CREENEELEN A YAET
and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant AIPFREAZERMEE B BRHERURE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the FERBEBREZLENHERB/IEE] B
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. Al ZeREENEEEEWRA (A -
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the

utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings and equity financing as
significant sources of liquidity. Details of which are set out in notes
34 and 37 to the financial statements.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that cash flows
are at floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from the
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity and interest risk tables
At 31 March 2022

MEEEEREEERBEE

(%)
REBE S @R

EERRBDESRRIA ~A5E%
EREF—EKRFzRERER &S
BER MEERERREEZUNAELE
BELERTEESRENBEESRE R
FE EREEERITERHER
SR R IB ST E SR -

NEBMEERITERLREABEES
HIBRHEL KR BEFBHN
BA TSR R M 534 X% 37 ©

TRANAEBFETES R B BRI
FEEERGRIMZRBREHNFER-T
XEBEAEEREFTEERNZ AR
SRHEBBEZAMBERSRERE %
ﬁﬁ”i‘%ﬂE#@Tﬁ%”/@\&zﬁﬁzfﬂﬁmb
E-MEZEREMNERFLE KUK E
BIEBERR A EAHE

FEBESRANEARRE
7202263 H31H

Weighted
average Repayable on Total
effective  demand or 1to  More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  within 1 year 5 years S5years  cash flows amount
MEFY  ARERS AHRRE
ERA®E -FhEE -FZIF BAIF REAR REE
% HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
A7 TEr FErx A7
Trade payables B EMNFE 1,517,781 158,778 - 1,676,559 1,676,559
Other payables and accruals Hth AR R B B 670,775 - - 670,775 670,775
Due to other partners of joint EREEEBEMBHL
operations - interest-free FE-28 17,7115 - - 17,7115 117,715
Due to a fellow subsidiary of R —FagEHat
other partner of a joint operation B Z AZKBARZ
- interest free FE-28 25 - - 25 25
Due to associates ENBENR A 44,594 - - 44,594 44,594
Due to non-controlling equity JET B A A M FEIERR
holders of subsidaries BERBAZTE 9,610 - - 9,610 9,610
Bank borrowings - variable rates  SR{TEZ %8 1.80 2,331,764 802,177 30,352 3,164,293 3,093,328
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.72 28215 23122 - 51,337 49,120
Financial quarantee contracts HBERAH 692,911 - - 692,911 -
5413390 984,077 30352 6421819 5,661,726

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. EEMEREBFERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRR (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) REBESRFNSEARK (&)
At 31 March 2021 7202163H31H

Weighted
average  Repayable on Total
effective demand or 110 More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  within 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

mEry  BREXE AHRRE
ERMZE  —%REE -FEnf¥ BENF RERS R
% HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TEL TET AT TET TET

Trade payables BHEMNR 1,450,199 54913 - 1,505,112 1,505,112
Other payables and accruals B A fE( 0B R B 508 719,993 = = 719,993 719,993
Due to other partners of joint ~ ERF A& EHEM B2

operations - interest-free TE-B8 90,843 = = 90,343 90,843
Due to associates ERBEARZHE 28,688 - - 28,688 28,688
Due to non-controlling equity ~ FEFH A B A AIAY IR

holders of subsidiaries RiEsEALTE 16,302 - - 16,302 16,302
Bank borrowings - variable  SR/TEF—F 8

rates 1.86 3,272,923 21914 30,072 3,324,909 3,215,098
Lease liabilities HERE 357 32,201 26,079 - 58,280 55,805
Financial quarantee contracts ~ EAFSERAH 1,045,605 = = 1,045,605 =

6,656,754 102,906 30,072 6,789,732 5,631,841

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are FRFAMBERENZEERRS
the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under HFRERREZEAFERER K
the arrangements for the full guaranteed amounts if those amounts SERBLHAIEEREEERESE
are claimed by the counterparties to the guarantees. Based on EBEEZEaSHE - BERBRETHRZ
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers FEH AEERE TAAARER
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under XN EMRIE AT REGEE
the arrangements. However, this estimate is subject to change EZXSEFRBEEREBERZ 208
depending on the probability of the counterparties claiming under 1 T 2R ED - i B A AT A M R BE XX
the guarantees which are a function of the likelihood that the SHFMBOER VR FIED
financial receivables held by the counterparties which are guaranteed RIEEEE 2GR

suffer credit losses.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the
above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2022, the aggregate carrying
amount of the bank borrowings classified as repayable on demand
was HK$778,988,000 (2021: HK$3,172,700,000). At 31 March
2021, the Group did not comply with certain financial covenants of
bank loans with an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,620 million.
Consent waivers of non-compliance with financial covenants have
been received by the Group subsequent to the reporting period, as
further detailed in note 34(c) to the financial statements.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, management reviews the
expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank borrowings. The
maturity profile of the Group’s bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the scheduled repayment dates and the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

BEEREERERBER

(

25

REESRMRZ)
MiEBREBEREREXZRITERR
LB BRI A [BRESRK—
FREE]FBMAR - 1K202243A31
B 2HEAREXEREZRITERZ
4 BR T 18 A778,988,00058 7T (2021
£ :3,172,700,0007% 7T ) ° 18202143
A31B - AEEBEXREETASRESL
2,620,000,000 7T 2 RITE KM E T
R N EHRE ~EEDEE
REBTHBHRY 2RAEHRE (W
EIRF M FE34(0) s — 2P 5Fal) »

REBRDESRR BEEERTA
SEZBTERZERREREER -
RBERAR REHEERXRAHMRE
HWARBBRNFR NEBEMAEREL
EE R RITERZ WAL T -

At 31 March 2022 #2022%3431H
Bank borrowings with a repayment MERREKERENZ
on demand clause RITER 775,940 3,934 5,492 785,366 778,988
At 31 March 2021 12021434318
Bank borrowings with a repayment WEREREKERE L
on demand clause BITER 1,167,733 2,091,559 5,929 3,265,221 3,172,700

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

FRFAITTESRABIHNET
A28 SREFBHNRZEHER
BEMREEBANETEHAEER
B EHIERT ©

MBS ERBIERAR AR 20217226 3K
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 9. B EEEEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements,
if at any time, repurchase of the Company’s shares will lead to an
enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Group, the Directors will authorise such transactions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debts
less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity attributable
to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods are as follows:

i

i

(A5

BEXREE
AEBEAEEMNEZRRRRER
EEFBLETHBBRNEAL X
NERFEEBLREERARTEEBN

ok
ge /J °

AEERBEERSENECRIEEE
ENRRIEEEEEEAREREN
AR N TFREMZBHEITH
R o R 220224 K 2021463 A31H
HFE ERAEEAEZ BRIBTFH
TR E -

BEMRKE SR HR R E
BRARBRODBRALEEFRE
EFER/AEREN EXEEHER
AR5 -

AEEERERAABLRERELS
BARRELXNABEHERIRE KIRTT
RABERARNRRIBIREGELES -
RBERAREABBELTNT

Bank borrowings RITIEK 3,093,328 3,215,098
Lease liabilities HEaE 49,120 55,805
Total debts BB 3,142,448 3,270,903
Less: Total cash and bank balances B IRE RIRTTE R EER (1,456,066) (1,570,876)
Net debts [EEEE= 1,686,382 1,700,027
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 7N/ &10% 52 J& {5 #E 25 2,377,463 2,288,006
Gearing ratio BEAXRBEEE 71% 74%
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March

2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEAFER

Amain Engineering Development
Limited
ARMIRERARLAH

Bloom Team Building Construction
Company Limited
EARETIRBERAA

Champion Surveying & Engineering
Co., Limited
BB IRBRAR

Chun Wo Building Construction
Limited
ERMEEGR AR

Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited

RHNRETRBRAA

Place of

incorporation/
registration and

business

gL/
SR &R

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong

BA

Hong Kong

BA

Hong Kong

BE

Issued share capital/
registered capital

BRTRA EREX

HK$100 ordinary shares
10078 7T & @A

HK$2 ordinary shares
2ETERK

HK$2 ordinary shares
2B T ERERK

HK$600,000,000
ordinary shares
600,000,00078 7T & B %

HK$291,000,000
ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000

non-voting

deferred shares
291,000,000/ 7T & @R
9,000,000 7T
ERZEETRG

50. EEM B AR

RATFEME R TIFH2022563H31H
MFFBT

Percentage of

equity attributable
to the Company

FAREERER DL

2022
%

70

100

100

100

100

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%

2021
%

70

100

100

100

100

Principal activities

FEXH

Construction

B

Construction

e

Surveying and engineering
works

REREETR

Construction

B

Construction

BE
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 50. T EME A RFE 2

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued share capital/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
EmEL
WEARBH afREERE SRORE/GEMEER  AAREGRERIL TEXH
2022 2021
% %
Chun Wo E & M Engineering Hong Kong HK$90,000,000 100 100 Electrical and mechanical
Limited ordinary shares contract works
ERNRETRERAF B 90,000,0007% 7T & @M% KEANTRE
Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100 Construction
Engineering Company Limited ordinary shares
EMREEHTRERAA G 100,000,0007% 7T & ik e
Chun Wo Engineering (Macau) Macau MOP1,000,000 capital 100 100 Construction
Company Limited
BRI CRM)BRAF R 1,000,000RF1 7T & A& e
Chun Wo Foundations Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100 Construction
ordinary shares
EAEETRERAR B 100,000,000 7T & 8 A% B
Chun Wo Foundations (Macau) Macau MOP100,000 capital 100 100 Construction
Engineering Limited
R ORF) TRERAR  RFA 100,0002FF 7L & A e
Chun Wo Group Finance (HK) Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financing
Limited services
0 1RTEBR AR E R
Chun Wo Tunnel Management Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 96 93 Tunnel management
Limited services
BHBEEERBRAR BE ErERk BEERRG
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 50. T EME A RFE 2

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued share capital/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
B3
WELAERE afREERE SROREGEMEER  AAREGRERINL TEXH
2022 2021
% %
City Professional Management Hong Kong HK$8,230,000 96 93 Property management
Limited ordinary shares services
HHEXRERBRAF BE 8,230,000 BT &Rk NEERRG
City Security Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 96 93 Security guard services
ordinary shares
B EEERAT &t 1,000,000 BT & &K ERR
Full Fame Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Property development
EEREREAR A B ETEBK MEER
Honest Kind Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financing
services
RAFRRA Bk ETERK AR E R
Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories  Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary shares 100 100 Production and sale of PET
Limited radiopharmaceuticals
BB 10078 0% @K HERHEEEFHREN
FEEEY)
Mattex Asia Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$30,000,001 95 100 Construction material
ordinary shares management and
procurement
MREMEREBERAA &R 30,000,001 T & @K EMEERRE
Smartwill Asia Limited Hong Kong/the UAE HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Property development
BETNERAR B/ ELERk MEER
Vasteam Construction Limited Hong Kong HK$180,000,000 100 100 Civil engineering
ordinary shares construction work
services
EEEEARAR BE 180,000,000/ 70 & A% TARBRETRZEIRY

TNE A ERERARAT 2021/22%F®% 291
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of

incorporation/

registration and Issued share capital/
Name of subsidiary business registered capital

EMAL
WEAREHR aMkERLE SRTREERES

50. T EME QARFE 2

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company Principal activities

FARAEEREES L FREHR

Wing Cheong Electrical Engineering Hong Kong HK$20,000,000
& Contracting Company Limited ordinary shares
XEBERIRBRAA NG 20,000,0007 7T Z B A%
Shijiazhuang Junling PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000
(notes (i) and (i) China registered capital
AR (O (i) R i) HE/HERN 150,000,000/ 7C
AMER
Notes:

(i) Al the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

(ii) These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established under PRC
law.

(iii) In prior year, this entity is classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31 March 2021 and classified as investment in an associate in current year, as
further detailed in notes 31(a) and 43(a) to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2022 2021
% %
100 100 Electrical and mechanical
contract works
BESHTE
49 100 Property development
MERRE
lif=

(@) LRFTE = 2B QR R AR B R
B

(i)  ZEMBRRERREPEAEKLZ I
BBAEDS-

(i)  ME—FE ZEBN2021F3A31BHES
BAREHEZ MEERETNAFE
WO BAR—MBERBARE E—FHF
BRI B IR FE31(a) 243(a) ©

ERIBESRREIBFELAFER
BMAGAREBEEFERELEZR
RAMBEAT -EER BT H A
BRAZHBESRBANRITR
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

51. TESERBFHE

OPERATIONS

Particulars of the Company’s principal joint operations as at 31 March

2022 are as follows:

Name of joint operation

REXKELE

Form of business Place of registration/
operation

i R

structure

RERBRA

VIBRO - TYSAN - CHUN WO JV Unincorporated Hong Kong
FERFEA BB
ATAL- CW - MH JV Unincorporated Hong Kong
REE— - R FEREEA B
DCK IV Unincorporated Hong Kong
FRFEA BB
CW-KLIV Unincorporated Hong Kong

A — B2

Notes:

FRREA B

The Group's attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than 50% in these
body unincorporates. However, under the joint venture agreements, the joint
operators have contractually agreed on the sharing of control over the relevant
activities of these body unincorporates, and hence all these body unincorporates
are jointly controlled by the Group and the other joint operators. Furthermore,
the relevant joint venture agreements specify that the Group and the other
parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to the
liabilities relating to the joint arrangements in accordance with the attributable
interest of the Group as disclosed above and the interest attributable to the
other joint operators respectively, and therefore these body unincorporates are
classified as joint operations.

All principal joint operations engaged in construction works are contracted to
carry out infrastructure and public facilities related works in Hong Kong. These
joint operations are strategic to the Group’s principal activities in construction
works.

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results of the year or
constitute a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other joint operations would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

AEEFEAREEFN2022F3A31H
BT

Percentage of attributable

interest of the Group

Principal activities

FREEGEZAIE EEXRH

2022 2021
% %
(note (a)) (note (a)) (note (b))
(K@)  (HEe) (FEe)
19 - Construction
e
48 48 Construction
BE
52 52 Construction
B
82 - Construction
et
B e -
(@) AEBREEEZAZR SRUERZKSE
ERTFEABEMS0% < AT BRIEA Y
i AETRNMEERZAZSE
ARNENE AR EB ARSI Bt
REFRAFEABBREHYAAERARE
fhE B ARG o BREE &
A AREERASTHEMTOS G
o SRR B AN S B il 2 4k R HoAth
BRAEEZEN ZHEAETHMER
BE RABETHEME Bt 25
AAAERBE S BEAAEER-
(b) FIBURERETRMNTIBLELERHDLT

B UARBBETERRDARREHEBT
BZEREEBHARENEZETREN
TERHEHREE-

ERINBESRRIBEFELAFESR
BMAGARBEEFERELEZR
SEAEEXB -EERRIHEMA
BEB HFBESREBR LK.

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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52. PARTICULARS OF A JOINT VENTURE 52. —E&¥ R AEFIE
Particulars of the Group's joint venture, which is indirectly held by the M202263A318 KREBE 2 &% A7
Company, as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (BARRRIMEERE) CERFBERT

Place of Percentage

Name of Particulars of registration Ownership of voting Profit Principal

joint venture issued shares held and business interest power sharing activities

EEAREH FRERTREZFE R EELY MEEEE REEASL A TEEHK

% % %

Novabala JV Corp. 2,000 common shares of Philippines 20 20 20 Design and
PHP100 each and 9,000 construction
redeemable preferred
shares of PHP200 each

20008 REBEI0FEE FEE Rt kg
R H0E B 29,0008
SREBE00FRELR
) AT R B (8 S Bk
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53. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March 2022
are as follows:

53. X EME N FFE

M2022F3A31H AEE T T ERHE
RNEZFHBIT

Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000
ordinary shares

RERAEE 25,000,0003% 7T & K

TSCWPD Cayman Islands US$10 ordinary shares
REENDRER Re#s 10X EBR
CPDL Hong Kong HK$12,000
ordinary shares

BIFIE R ) 12,0008 7T & ik
CPL BVI US$100 ordinary shares
EERUHEE 100% T & B

RIL BVI US$10 ordinary shares
YA EERUHE 10X EBR
Shijiazhuang JunJing PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000
China registered Capital

RAREES B/ E A 150,000,000/ 7
AMER

SDL* BVI US$10 ordinary shares
EERAHES 10X EBR

CWBS BVI US$10 ordinary shares
EAETR% EERAHE 10X EBR
Kwan Lee Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$91,057,000
ordinary shares

BNEEBRAR BE 91,057,000/ 7T & BK

Acquired during the year

In prior year, this entity is classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31 March 2021 and classified as investment in an associate in current year, as
further detailed in notes 31(a) and 43(a) to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group passed the control to minority

shareholders.

20 20 Investment holding
REER

40 40 Property development
NEER

20 20 Property development
NEER

40 40 Property development
NEER

40 40 Property development
NEER

49 100# Property development
NEER

40 - Property development
NEER

60" 60" Non-franchised bus services
FELETRE

40 40 Provision of consultancy

and structural
engineering services

TRt R AR TR R
RS

RBEFE  ZEEBR2021F3A31BHE S
BARBEHEZ HEEEETRAFE
DEAN—HEBMAQRRE #E—FHE
BRI IS IRE M TE31(a) 243(@a) ©

R20224F R20214F3A318  REB 5%
HlEEET OHRR -

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

LRINBEERRIBEFEAFER
BABUAEBEEFERELEZ
AEBBMERR BRI B EM
BERRZFBEESTRIBBR LK

SNBSS E B AR AT 2021/22F
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Notes to Financial Statements

M ERRMIEE

31 March 2022

202243 H31H

54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 54. REHREE
Subsequent to the reporting period and up to the date of these RBERBRRBEEZSVBHRE 2B
financial statements, 798,000 ordinary shares in total were B AN A DA 4B X (B462,84008 TT RN
repurchased by the Company on the Stock Exchange for an P EE A A $£798,0000% @AY - B AT
aggregate consideration of HK$462,840 and all these shares were BZERMDEAEEN-
cancelled accordingly.
Save as disclosed above and in note 31(b) to the financial statements, B E XX R B R R M FE31(0) FTIR R &
there are no other significant events occurred subsequent to the SV RBEREMEREEMEKRSE
reporting period. I8 °

55. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 55. kR B F
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to ETHREFEETHE UFER
the current year's presentation and disclosures. FEZE2MNAAREE-

56. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 56. Z< 1 7] 2 B AR R
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RIBEER - EEARR 2 HBARNR
Company as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RZERIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS *RBEE
Property, plant and equipment IER T BT 463 544
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 10,871 11,294
Investments in subsidiaries (note 50) RKTE AR 218 E (Hi5E50) 1,770,553 2,048,528
Total non-current assets FERBEELTH 1,781,887 2,060,366
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BNRIEA  Re REMERGIR 681 664
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss R FEFABZ ZBARE 2,191 1,848
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHER 7177 14,804
Total current assets TBEEQSE 10,049 17,316
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Other payables and accruals HoAh 8 A R IE K% JE A 9,912 2,283
Total current liabilities REABERE 9,912 2,283
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 137 15,033
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABRRBAR 1,782,024 2,075,399
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *RBEE
Due to subsidiaries FEI PR B A R IE 702,334 964,280
Total non-current liabilities FRBAEEH 702,334 964,280
Net assets BEFE 1,079,690 1,111,119
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEEITRAR 180,268 182,013
Reserves (note) 8 (PsE) 899,422 929,106
TOTAL EQUITY ESEE 1,079,690 1,111,119

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22




Notes to Financial Statements

PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

56. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes

Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves during the year are as follows:

Share
premium
account

B aEE
HK$ 000

-
FBTL

56. R F) Z BT #EARR T (2)

M AEERAARRZHEBESHNT

Shares held

under the
Share-based
compensation
reserve

share award
Contributed Retained

surplus

scheme
account
RERGRD
SERET
BENRS
HK$ 000
FAET

profits

HABE
HK$ 000
FAT

R #g
HKS000  HK$'000
AT TET

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 2020438318 2020E4 818 760,071 (10,643) 52,552 11,2482 153,327 966,549
Loss for the year and total AEEERRAEE2ABRAE

comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (6,106) (6,106)
Cancellation of repurchased shares FHEE BRI (9,171) = = = = (9,171)
Equity-settled share option expense NRALEE 2 BRERS 39) = = = 1,048 = 1,048
Transfer of share-based compensation RRRERESER RO BHEE

reserve upon the forfeiture of

share options - - - (1,094) 1,094 -
Final 2020 dividend declared EER020FEAHRS = = = = (7,334) (7.334)
Interim 2021 dividend declared BEERIFETHRE 13 - = = = (15,880) (15,880)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 2021434318 R2021F4A1R 750,900 (10,643) 52,552 11,196 125,101 929,106
Loss for the year and total TEEFERAFERARRLE

comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (5,244) (5,244)
Cancellation of repurchased shares AHEEERG (8,526) - - - - (8,526)
Equity-settled share option expense IRAEE 2 BIRER X 39) - - - 7 - 7
Transfer of share-based compensation RERRE B ERR D R GEE

reserve upon the expiry of share options - - - (11,19) 11,196 -
Interim 2022 dividend declared BERNFETERE 3 - - - - (15,921) (15,921)
At 31 March 2022 12022437318 742,374 (10,643) 52,552 7 115,132 899,422

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board on 27 June 2022.

57. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 57. #t /BBt H K

SRR N202266 A27E EEERH
HEfE Ko 524 2% o

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
I FMBBRE

Year ended 31 March

BZE3AZMBLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FETT FET FE T FETT
RESULTS ES
Revenue - 8,231,055 8,076,048 8,000,800 7,534,258 7,722,064
Profit/(loss) before tax BREADER, (EE) 230,200 165,161 113,940  (186,711) 136,964
Income tax Fris i (66,523)  (24,066)  (13,267) (2,374)  (29,028)
Profit/(loss) for the year RERZHF, (FHE) 163,677 141,095 100,673  (189,085) 107,936
Attributable to: FEAh
Shareholders of the Company AR AR 150,176 136,648 101,432  (184,506) 121,999
Non-controlling interests JEERR S 13,501 4,447 (759) (4,579)  (14,063)
163,677 141,095 100,673 (189,085 107,936

As at 31 March
M3A31H

2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

2022
HK$'000
TET

Total assets BELR 8,628,952 8,225,514 8,154,258 8,574,536 8,464,080
Total liabilities B 5B (6,104,870) (5,751,364) (5,655,516) (6,229,251) (6,050,383)

2,524,082 2,474,150 2,498,742 2,345,285 2,413,697

Equity attributable to: FE(LRERS
Shareholders of the Company N2 R]BE R 2,505,803 2,441,602 2,462,238 2,288,006 2,377,463
Non-controlling interests FEERR A 18,279 32,548 36,504 57,279 36,234

2,524,082 2,474,150 2,498,742 2,345,285 2,413,697
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Y E L3S

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

Location

A parcel of land located
between northern side of

He Ping Road and

southern side of

Guang Hua Road,
Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province,
The People’s Republic of China
FEARKERMBEwW

AIEE AR

T B AL A B ZE R A
pdiabiik

Plot No. S5-C35 at
Shams Abu Dhabi,
Al Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates
] B 26 ] 77 +L b

Al Reem Island
Shams Abu Dhabi

0 458 4 5% S5-C35

Lots 1766 R.P, 1768 R.P,
1770 R.P, 1771 R.P,

1771 S.B.,1774 R.P, 1774 S.A.
in Demarcation District

No. 3 Tung Chung, Lantau Island,

New Territories, Hong Kong
BEERARNEILRBLE
B FE34K

B2 281766 R.P.~ 1768 R.P.»

1770R.P~1771 RP.~ 1771 S.B.»

1774 RP.~ 1774 SA 5

Stage of
completion

TIRE

Phase 1:
Phase 2:
Phase 3:

R R

Planning

A&

Planning

A&

Completed
Completed
T1&T2
construction
in progress

BRI
BRI
S5 K25

BRET
TR

Expected date
of completion

REER A

2023

2023

Total estimated

site area

(square metres)

EHE

it 82 AR

(FFHK)

Residential, 111,554

commercial and

carpark

TE BER 111,554
(e

Residential 2,425

FE 2,425

Residential 3,075

FE 3,075

DB S ERIERAR AR 2021224 %%

Total estimated
gross floor area
(square metres)
fhEt 2R
BEEE
(SF7K)

219,990
(Phase 3)

219,990
(F=H#)

22,715

22,715

6,150

6,150

RERR SHEME

Group's interest

AR ES

49%

49%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Particulars of Properties

MEF+1E

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

(continued)

Location

Nos. 35 and 37 Cameron Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

NERDE
+ 5 mE35M375%

Residential Accommodation,
No. 128 Waterloo Road,
Kowloon

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 1900
FLEE A3 ER 55190057
NEEBITZB1285%
FEFH

Nos. 61-67 Soy Street,
Mong Kok, Kowloon
NEEA
BmAT61-675%

Nos. 437-441
Castle Peak Road,
Cheng Sha Wan,

Kowloon
NERDE
51L38437-4415;

Stage of
completion

TIRE

Superstructure work
in progress

LETRRETH

Completed

Foundation work
in progress

WETRRETH

Demolition works
in progress

HEN T2

Expected date
of completion

TR B

2023

2023

2021

2021

2023

2023

2024

2024

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

Total estimated

site area
Usage (square metres)
fh5t48
i BT R
Jikes (F5K)
Commercial 542
[ZES 542
Residential 1,692
=2 1,692
Residential and 336
commercial
FEREE 336
Residential and 341
commercial
FEREE 341

Total estimated
gross floor area
(square metres)
fhEtEEE
BEEER
(SFFHK)

6,502

6,502

7,966

7,966

3,020

3,020

2,881

2,881

FIERR SHEWE w

Group's interest

AR ER

20%

20%

40%

40%

40%

40%

40%

40%



MAJOR MEMBERS OF

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP

DNBEEERZEEEENE

CONSTRUCTION
e
m  Chun Wo Constructlon Holdings Company Limited
Vf‘éﬂ@?&hﬂxﬁﬁﬁé
Chun Wo Buﬂdlng Constructlon Limited
EANREFR AR
= Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited
BFREETRERAR
= Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited
EMEETRERAA]
= Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Engineering Company Limited
NSRRI TIRERAR]
= Chun Wo Foundations Limited
EMETRERAA
= Kwan Lee Holding Limited
HHNSEEBERAR
= Amain Engineering Development Limited
ERMIRERARAA
m  RJ. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd.
BIRER AR A A

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND ASSETS LEASING
MEHRREENRR

m  Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited
ENYRERTERBER AR
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
BEXRB
m  City Services Group Limited
RSB EEAR LA
m  City Professional Management Limited
W EEERERAA
= City Security Company Limited
T ER AR AR
= Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited
BB ETEGRAA
NON-FRANCHISED BUS SERVICES
FELEELIRKE
= Chun Wo Bus Services Limited

BEMELREERAA]

MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY AND HEALTHCARE
BREMNREER
m  AAIl Medical Technology Limited
NS R BB AR AR
= Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited
OTHER BUSINESS
HAth %

= AAI Overseas Holdings Limited
TNEES EREIMERBR A F]

1% %o
Cuaun Wo

C§&

Wi Mk B R E

Ciry Services Group

IS BINEEBRFR2S

KWAN LEE HOLDING LIMITED

X ceresmamnss
Fa

AMAIN ENGINEERING DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

.. R.J. CROCKER Consultants Pte Ltd
SEL A% L) AT PR )

g/ Hong Kon CYCLOTRON LABORATORIES LTD.



oA AR R AR A A

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(852) 3798 5711
(852) 3798 5700
www.asiaalliedgroup.com

C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

ERANERDVEXREAEG01Z 6035
EBOMIERE—H51CH

©° Uiy

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources
FSC

wwiscog  FSC™ C120915




	COVER
	INSIDE FRONT COVER
	CONTENTS
	DEFINITIONS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
	CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
	INSIDE BACK COVER
	BACK COVER



